Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Debby Basu

Date

Characterization of HIV-1 Superinfection in Cohabiting Heterosexual African Couples

By

Debby Basu Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Science Immunology and Molecular Pathogenesis

> Eric Hunter, Ph.D. Advisor

Susan Allen, M.D. M.PH. Committee Member Cynthia Derdeyn, Ph.D. Committee Member

Max Cooper, M.D. Committee Member Arash Grakoui, Ph.D. Committee Member

Guido Silvestri, M.D. Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

Characterization of HIV-1 Superinfection in Cohabiting Heterosexual African Couples

By

Debby Basu M.S., Purdue University, 2008 B.S., Indiana University, 2007

Advisor: Eric Hunter, Ph.D.

An abstract of A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Science Immunology and Molecular Pathogenesis 2013

Abstract

Characterization of HIV-1 Superinfection in Cohabiting Heterosexual African Couples By Debby Basu

Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1), responsible for the AIDS pandemic, accounts for a profound global health burden, the heaviest of which is on Sub-Saharan Africa, in which most infections are genotypically identified as Subtype C. Despite major successes in public health interventions and anti-retroviral treatment, HIV-1 continues to accrue new infections worldwide, imploring an effective and cross-protective HIV-1 vaccine. To determine potential immunologic correlates of a protective HIV-1 vaccine, we investigated situations of natural re-infection, or superinfection, by HIV-1. Identifying factors affecting susceptibility to superinfection may elucidate protective factors that will be necessary to elicit in an HIV-1 vaccine.

Here we identified three cases of intrasubtype C superinfection in a cohort of twenty-two epidemiologically unlinked Zambian couples. We found that, despite longitudinal viral sequencing and phylogenetic analysis, all three cases of superinfection occurred from non-spousal partners within the first year of infection. This suggested that both sexual risk behavior and early immune responses might play a potential role in superinfection. Full-length envelope (*env*) sequencing data also surprisingly suggested very limited diversification of the *env* gene prior to superinfection, again supporting the hypothesis of limited neutralizing antibody (Nab) pressure on the virus to adapt, and a potential defect in the humoral response prior to superinfection.

We compared neutralizing and binding antibody responses within the first year of infection in the three superinfected individuals against 10 matched non-superinfected controls. Here we show that the superinfected group exhibited statistically significantly lower levels of autologous neutralizing antibodies to their founder/early viruses prior to superinfection as compared to Nab responses from non-superinfected controls at similar time points. Binding IgG antibodies to Subtype C gp120 and V1V2 proteins also trended towards being lower prior to superinfection. Together, this suggested that risk of superinfection might be highest during early infection, but that strong IgG antibodies (both neutralizing and potentially non-neutralizing) could play a role in protection from superinfection against intrasubtype superinfection and lend hope towards the feasibility of a regionally-based HIV-1 vaccine in areas where a single subtype predominates.

Characterization of HIV-1 Superinfection in Cohabiting Heterosexual African Couples

By

Debby Basu M.S., Purdue University, 2008 B.S., Indiana University, 2007

Advisor: Eric Hunter, Ph.D.

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Science Immunology and Molecular Pathogenesis 2013

Dedication

In memory of my grandfather, Nani Gopal Bakshi, who believed in me so much that he started calling me Dr. Debby Basu during my first year of graduate school.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank:

- My parents, Minakshi and Dipan Basu, for their unlimited love and support
- My brother, Joey, for always believing in me and making me laugh
- Eric for being the most generous, inspiring, encouraging and coolest mentor
- Dave for reminding me daily what the big picture is
- My BFFs (SJ, VS, SW, CB, MD, JP) for always keeping me happy and grounded
- Jessica and Dan for being my "wolf pack" from our first day in the lab
- Cindy and Megan for being my antibody response coaches
- Colleen, Naina and Hope for being my superinfection support system
- The entire Hunter lab and personnel for making lab my home
- Effie, for every single appointment on Eric's calendar and all the secret chocolate
- Finky, Alfred and Shayla for reminding me regularly why we are doing this
- My entire thesis committee for their invaluable source of guidance
- Drs. William Kilembe, Etienne Karita, Jean Bizimana and their lab staffs at Projet San Francisco and the Zambia-Emory HIV Research Project for reminding me how much I really love what I do and inspiring me to want to do it better
- Dr. Susan Allen and the entire RZHRG staff for their tireless work toward establishing and maintaining the RZHRG cohorts
- All of the human volunteers for their truly invaluable contribution to this body of work and the progress made in this field

Table of Contents

Abstract

Dedication

Acknowledgements

Chapt	er 1: Introduction	1
	Global Burden of HIV/AIDS	1
	Origin and Classification of HIV-1	2
	Viral Diversification	4
	HIV-1 Pathogenesis and Immunopathology	5
	Heterosexual Transmission of HIV-1	7
	Humoral Responses to HIV-1 Infection	9
	Identification of HIV-1 Superinfection	12
	Immune Responses in HIV-1 Superinfected Individuals	15
	Clinical Implications of HIV-1 Superinfection	20
	Summary	21
Chapt the ne	er 2: Timing and source of subtype-C HIV-1 superinfection in ewly infected partner of Zambian couples with disparate viruses	23
	Table 1. Reported sexual activity of newly infected partner in12 months post-primary infection	49
	Figure 1. Sequence and Highlighter Analysis of Longitudinal Samples Provides Evidence for Superinfection	50
	Figure 2. Neighbor-joining tree of full-length SGA <i>env</i> sequences for ZM282M	51
	Figure 3. Neighbor-joining tree representing full-length SGA <i>env</i> sequences for ZM247F	53
	Figure 4. Neighbor-joining tree of full-length SGA <i>env</i> sequences for ZM211M and ZM211F	55

Figure 6. Highlighter recombination plots of full-length <i>env</i> for each individual who was superinfected	57
Table S1. Demographic, clinical and behavioral data on 22 Zambian unlinked transmission pairs	59
Chapter 3: HIV-1 subtype C superinfected individuals mount low autologous neutralizing antibody response prior to intrasubtype superinfection	70
Figure 1. Homogeneity of early/founder <i>env</i> sequences prior to superinfection in three intrasubtype C superinfected individuals	98
Table 1. Seroconverters from ZEHRP cohort evaluated forlongitudinal autologous neutralization of initial variants	100
Figure 2. Autologous neutralizing antibody responses to early/founder Env in superinfected individuals during early infection	101
Figure 3. Development of autologous neutralizing antibodies to early/founder virus Env is slow or absent prior to superinfection	103
Figure 4. Summary of neutralization titers to initial and superinfecting variants	104
Figure 5. Cross-neutralizing Breadth and Potency against HIV-1 Subtype C Env Reference Panel	105
Figure 6. Plasma IgG binding antibody levels to purified subtype C gp120 protein is also reduced in superinfected individuals	106
Figure 7. Plasma IgA levels to purified subtype C gp120 protein are highest in two of the three superinfected individuals	108
Figure 8. Plasma binding antibodies to both clade B and C gp120 V1V2-loop proteins are absent in superinfected individuals prior to superinfection	110
Figure S1. Radial neighbor-joining phylogenetic tree of full-length <i>env</i> amplicon sequences	112
Figure S2. Preferential neutralization of superinfecting virus Env is observed in one case of early intrasubtype C superinfection	113
Figure S3. Superinfecting viruses are sensitive to neutralization by pooled subtype C plasma	115
Figure S4. Limited heterologous neutralizing antibody breadth in superinfected individuals prior to superinfection	116

Chapter 4: Discussion	
Hope for an HIV-1 Vaccine	125
Extracting Vaccinology Lessons from HIV-1 Superinfection Studies	131
Summary	138
Literature Cited of Introduction and Discussion	140

Chapter 1: Introduction

Global Burden of HIV/AIDS

A two-page report from the CDC in 1981 described the first clinical cases of Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome (AIDS) symptoms in 5 men who have sex with men (MSM) in the United States [1]. Sadly, the number of individuals infected by the etiologic agent of AIDS, Human Immunodeficiency Virus type 1 (HIV-1), identified in 1983 [2, 3], has increased exponentially since this time and has resulted in a huge global burden of health. UNAIDS predicts that over 34 million individuals were living with HIV, and 1.7 million people died from AIDS-related causes in 2011 [4]. Therefore, the need for an effective prophylactic HIV-1 vaccine continues to be critically important to address this profound global heath crisis. The primary modes of HIV-1 transmission are through unprotected sexual contact, percutaneous exposure and perinatal transmission [5]. Target risk groups include MSM, heterosexual couples [6], injection drug users, commercial sex workers and children born from HIV+ mothers [4].

Despite a promising decline in the incidence of new infections in the last decade in Sub-Saharan Africa, this region still accounted for approximately 1.8 million new infections in adults and children as of 2012 and has suffered the heaviest health burden from HIV/AIDS, with approximately 70% of global HIV infections occurring in this region [4]. Tackling the AIDS pandemic has been complicated by a multitude of factors, including both biological ones, such as the virus's unprecedented sequence diversity, its capacity to deplete critical immune cells and its ability to escape immune pressure, and social ones, including socioeconomic status, stigma associated with the disease and access to antiretroviral treatment in vulnerable populations.

Origin and Classification of HIV-1

Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), from the *Lentivirus* genus and *Retroviridae* family, is an approximately 9kb single-stranded, positive-sense enveloped RNA virus that encodes 9 genes (gag, pol, env, vpu, tat, rev, nef, vif, vpr). These genes are reverse transcribed by an error-prone, but multi-functional viral enzyme called reverse transcriptase (RT) that is present in the virion along with two copies of the viral genome (pseudodiploid). RT has four catalytic activities including being a DNA and RNA-dependent DNA polymerase, helicase and RNase H (endo and exonuclease functions), all of which are critical for reverse transcription of the viral RNA genome into a double-stranded proviral DNA that can be integrated, through the action of the virus's integrase enzyme, into the host chromosome for subsequent virus production.

Recombination between the co-packaged genomic templates has been shown to occur during reverse transcription [7, 8]. This can also occur between genomic RNA templates of different proviruses present in a multiply-infected cell [7], however the probability of forming the genomic RNA heterodimer required for recombination may be lower if sequences are too divergent [8]. The predominant "copy choice" model of recombination occurs during the conversion of positive sense genomic RNA template into the antisense template by RT, and occurs when the RT enzyme switches between RNA templates and copies parts of both templates as it moves to the 5' end of the positive sense template [8, 9]. Another model of recombination occurring through strand displacement during the subsequent step of reverse transcription called second strand (or + strand) synthesis can also occur; however, it is considered to contribute less to generation of recombinants [8]. The HIV viral genome is considered pseudodiploid because even though there may be two distinct genomes co-packaged into a single virion, only one intact copy (potentially a recombinant species) will be produced and integrated as proviral DNA, and upon subsequent genomic RNA synthesis, two copies of this viral genome will be packaged into virions [9].

Gag, pol and *env* genes are responsible for major viral functions including *gag*'s critical role in defining viral structure and *pol*'s enzymatic activity (including integrase, protease and reverse transcriptase). The 2.5-3kb *env* gene encodes a 160kDa polyprotein gp160, three of which assemble into a trimeric structure in the endoplasmic reticulum. Each gp160 is subsequently cleaved, in the Golgi complex, into two glycoproteins, gp120 and gp41. These non-covalently associated heterodimers thus form the trimeric spikes embedded into the viral envelope on the surface of virions that facilitate viral entry and fusion with target cells. The other six genes are considered accessory genes, but play important roles enhancing viral infectivity, evading host immune recognition, modulating viral genome transcription and replication, and facilitating virion budding and release at the plasma membrane.

HIV is subdivided into HIV-1 and HIV-2 variants, each of which was distinctly transmitted through cross-species transmission events from non-human primates infected with simian immunodeficiency viruses (SIV) [10-13]. HIV-1 has 4 distinct groups ("Main" or M, N, O, P) that have been categorized phylogenetically by viral sequencing. Similarly, each of these groups was transmitted to humans by an independent cross-species transmission event from non-human primates. HIV-1 Group M was transmitted by SIV_{cpz}-infected *Pan troglodytes troglodytes* chimpanzees in West Central Africa [10, 12, 14] likely during the early 1900s [15, 16], further diversified in this region [14, 16, 17] and is responsible for the AIDS pandemic which emerged in the early 1980s. HIV-2, which has been subcategorized phylogenetically into 8 groups A-H, and HIV-1 groups N-P have had a relatively limited global burden with a narrow geographic scope, mainly affecting individuals in West Africa (HIV-2 group A and B) [18, 19] and Cameroon (HIV-1 groups O and P)[20-24]. HIV-1 Group M is subcategorized into 9

phylogenetically distinct "pure" subtypes (A-D, F-H, J-K), which have variable phylogeographic distribution worldwide, although about half of all global HIV-1 infections are subtype C [25].

Viral Diversification

Due to the virus's error-prone reverse transcriptase enzyme (contributing to a complex intrahost quasispecies) [26], rapid rate of viral replication [27, 28] and recombination [8, 9, 25, 29-31], sequence diversity of HIV-1 across global primary HIV-1 isolates is extraordinary, with intrasubtype and intersubtype sequence variation being around 8-17% and 17-35%, respectively [30, 32, 33]. Host factors such as the natural error rate of the host RNA polymerase enzyme and cytodine deamination in the negative strand of the viral genome caused by the host viral restriction factor Apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing enzyme, catalytic polypeptide-like (APOBEC3) can also contribute towards accumulation of sequence diversity [34]. Through mathematical modeling of sequence evolution [35] as well as molecular characterization of single viral genomes through single genome amplification (SGA) and 454 deep sequencing [36, 37], it has been shown that even within a single host, viral sequence diversification occurs early post-infection in accord with establishment of viral set point [38]. This diversification reflects the temporal accumulation of synonymous and non-synonymous mutations, often associated with waves of escape from both neutralizing antibody (Nab) and CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) pressure [36-46].

Because retroviruses encapsidate two copies of genomic RNA, if a cell is infected with two genetically distinct variants, the virus can package an RNA representing each. Following subsequent infection, and during reverse transcription, therefore, a recombinant DNA provirus can be produced that represents a mixture of both parents. Recombination can potentially result in acquisition of immune escape or drug resistance mutations conferred by a parental viral strain, as well as dramatic genetic diversity of the viral quasispecies in individuals infected with more than one HIV-1 variant by way of dual HIV-1 infection [47-52]. Depending on whether two parental HIV-1 viruses of the same or different subtypes recombine, the resulting virus can be an intrasubtype or intersubtype recombinant species, respectively. Furthermore, if an intersubtype recombinant virus is productively packaged into virions and transmitted to a new host, this could lead to the transmission of a circulating recombinant form (CRF).

Both CRFs, which represent intersubtype recombinants found in at least three epidemiologically unlinked individuals [53], and unique recombinant forms (URFs), representing recombinants with fewer identified isolates, are widely distributed globally [30, 31, 54]. CRFs have been recognized to account for approximately 10% of all HIV-1 infections worldwide [55]. Therefore recombination between two distinct HIV-1 variants in an infected individual can be attributed as one of the major factors contributing to overall global diversity of HIV-1 variants. Interestingly, Kinshasa in the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC), which has been considered an epicenter of early HIV-1 diversification and spread, has intra-country HIV-1 sequence diversity comparable to that of the world [54], in which all pure subtypes, many CRFs, URFs and rare, unclassified variants are represented [14].

HIV-1 Pathogenesis and Immunopathology

Using the dynamic viral Env glycoprotein gp120, HIV-1 preferentially binds to and infects target cells expressing the CD4 receptor and CCR5 or CXCR4 co-receptor, which are primarily CD4+ T lymphocytes and macrophages [56-62]. The ability of the virus to integrate into the host cellular genome, via the integrase enzyme, is an important mechanism by which the virus is able to usurp cellular machinery for transcribing its genome and potentially remain undetected in a transcriptionally silent cellular reservoir [63]. The virus establishes chronic disease in hosts through depletion of mucosal CD4+ cells [64-69], hyperimmune activation via microbial translocation [64, 65, 70-72] and multiple complex methods of escape from both cellular and humoral arms of the immune system [38]. Though the hallmark clinical endpoint of AIDS disease is CD4+ T cell loss, the B cell compartment (responsible for the establishment of antibody-mediated immunity) has also been shown to exhibit substantial abnormalities as an effect of chronic immune activation and persistent HIV-1 infection. Some of these effects include polyclonal activation and hypergammaglobulinemia [73], alterations and dysfunction in specific B cell compartments [74-76]. In addition, germinal centers, the sites in secondary lymphoid organs in which B cells mature and high affinity antibodies are generated and refined, are also severely depleted during early HIV-1 infection [77].

CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) have been associated with reduction in set point viral load in the newly-infected host and viral control in HIV-infected individuals [38, 78-80]. Therefore, viral escape mutations from CTL recognition commonly appear in the viral population after the initial immune response [38, 81]. Although cellular responses are critical for control of viremia, passive antibody studies in animal models, in addition to recent immunological correlates analyses from the RV144 vaccine efficacy trial, have suggested that the humoral (antibody) arm of the immune system could contribute towards protection from primary infection via an HIV-1 vaccine [82-96].

Realistically, it appears evident that a successfully protective and sustained HIVvaccine mediated immune response must engage both strong protective antibody and Tcell mediated immune responses. However, correlates of immune protection based on evidence from human studies have historically been a challenge to identify. Evidence of HIV re-infection or superinfection is commonly seen, indicating that the primary immune response elicited in these cases were insufficient at protecting against secondary HIV-1 infection [55]. In addition, it must be recognized that under normal circumstances and even with anti-retroviral treatment (ART), there is no record of an HIV+ individual successfully and completely clearing the virus. Finally, to date, only one human vaccine efficacy trial (RV144) has yielded any evidence of HIV-1 vaccine-mediated immune protection via antibody-based protection [87, 92, 93, 97]; however, this study importantly does give some proof-of-concept that a prophylactic HIV-1 vaccine may be possible.

Heterosexual Transmission of HIV-1

Despite the fact that transmission risk is lowest in heterosexual exposure to HIV-1 amongst all other major transmission routes (e.g. MSM, mother-to-child, percutaneous inoculation, etc.), heterosexual transmission of virus through the genital mucosal barrier still accounts for the majority of HIV-1 infections worldwide [5, 98]. Conservative estimates suggest that the probability of a transmission per exposure event at the female genital tract is between 1/200 - 1/2000 and approximately 1/700- 1/3000 at the male genital tract [5, 98]. However, a number of factors can affect the probability of heterosexual transmission. Presence of genital ulcers and inflammation in either partner [99, 100], high viral load and early-stage disease in the transmitting partner [101-103], sexual risk behavior of one's sexual network [104] and lower socioeconomic status [99, 104] have all been associated with higher risk of transmission. By contrast, couples voluntary counseling and testing (CVCT) in serodiscordant couples [6], early antiretroviral treatment of HIV+ partners in serodiscordant couples [105] and male circumcision [5, 103, 106-110] have been shown to reduce risk of heterosexual HIV-1 transmission. Serodiscordant couples represent those in which one partner is HIVpositive and the other is HIV-negative. Study of these discordant couples has been invaluable in better understanding HIV-1 transmission, evolution, pathogenesis and effective public health interventions.

It is now widely recognized that though chronically infected individuals exhibit a diverse HIV-1 viral quasispecies, the majority of heterosexual transmission events in newly-infected hosts are established by single transmitted/founder (T/F) variants [37, 111]. This finding has prompted investigation and characterization of certain viral characteristics of these T/F viruses that may facilitate their transmission and could potentially be targeted to prevent effective transmission [34, 112-114]. Further analyses of transmitted and non-transmitted viruses in the blood and genital compartments in epidemiologically linked transmission pairs have shown that the T/F virus often is represented as a minor variant in the donor, which again suggests that single-variant transmission involves selection and is not simply stochastic [115]. The severe genetic bottleneck may also be mitigated by factors that affect heterosexual transmission probability overall, including genital ulcers and inflammation, hormonal contraceptives, and presence of other sexually transmitted diseases, leading to a higher probability of multiple variant transmission events (co-infections) [5, 40].

Transmission via percutaneous inoculation (most often associated with injection drug use), MSM and mother-to-child transmission (MTCT), all three of which exhibit higher HIV-1 transmission probability per exposure rates than heterosexual transmission [5, 98], exhibit variable levels of this single-variant transmission bottleneck. While MTCT studies support a strong genetic bottleneck in the context of perinatal transmission of HIV-1 [116, 117], MSM and percutaneous inoculation (via injection drug use) show higher rates of multiple-variant transmission [5, 118].

Historically, genetic and phenotypic properties of these transmitted/founder (T/F) viruses have included the following, though few have been consistently represented across all studies and subtypes: preferential CD4/CCR5-coreceptor tropism [37, 45, 59], shorter variable loops of the Envelope glycoprotein (Env) than donor/chronic variants [40, 111, 119, 120], fewer N-linked glycosylation sites in Env [111,

119, 121], Env sensitivity to transmitting partner's antibodies [111], tier 2 or 3 neutralization sensitivity (meaning that the Envelopes were not particularly easy to neutralize in general) [122] and greater replication efficiency in CD4+ T cells than macrophages in Subtypes A-C viruses [45, 123].

A recent study using Subtype B and C T/F infectious molecular clones (IMC), also suggested higher infectivity, greater incorporation of Env protein, more efficient interaction with dendritic cells and an ability to replicate in CD4+ target cells (even in the presence of Interferon-alpha, which could act early during infection to stimulate an anti-viral innate immune response) [114]. This study compared 27 Subtype B and C T/F IMCs against 12 chronic control IMCs, which were chosen through a phylogenetic clustering strategy, rather than comparing T/F viruses against a matched chronic partner's virus, which is feasible in discordant couple studies alone.

Humoral Responses to HIV-1 Infection

Specificity of anti-HIV-1 antibodies develops over the course of infection and is directly in response to the continually evolving nature of the virus. These antibodies most commonly target the exposed surface of the virion, the Env glycoproteins gp120 and gp41, which mediate viral entry (gp120) and target cell fusion (gp41). Other than antigen-antibody immune complex formation predicted to occur approximately 8 days after detection of viremia [124], non-neutralizing antibodies are generally recognized as the first major anti-Env antibodies to develop post-transmission [38, 87].

Autologous neutralizing antibodies then follow, typically arising within 2-3 months after transmission [38, 46, 125-128] but as early as two weeks post-seroconversion [41]; these effectors have been shown by many groups across multiple HIV-1 subtypes to initially have very narrow neutralization capacities against strain-specific epitopes on autologous transmitted viruses [38, 46, 125-131]. This wave of

monotypic neutralization of the founder virus is frequently followed by viral escape, and this cycle of neutralization and escape occurs repeatedly throughout the time course of infection [125, 126]. Gradually, over the course of 2.5-4+ years post-infection, in about 20% of chronically infected individuals, plasma antibodies capable of neutralizing heterologous HIV-1 viruses develop; this is called heterologous breadth [132-136]. And in a very rare 2-4% of infected individuals, called "elite neutralizers," antibodies capable of potent cross-clade neutralization have been isolated and characterized [137].

HIV-specific neutralizing antibodies (Nabs) bind to cell-free virus via their two antigen-binding fragments, called F(ab), and prevent viral entry into susceptible target cells. Specific regions of the Env trimer commonly elicit early neutralizing antibodies, in a strain-specific manner, including gp41 as well as the variable (V1-V5) and third constant (C3) regions of gp120 [129]. Because of their outward exposure and frequent targeting, the V1-V5 loops have evolved to tolerate substantial sequence variability (via reverse transcriptase-induced mutations) in their escape from antibody pressure [126]. The variable 1 and 2 loop (V1V2) region, although it has been shown to play a role in obscuring or shielding Nab Env epitopes [129, 138, 139], has also been recognized to be a frequent target of autologous neutralizing antibodies itself and subsequent escape from Nabs [42, 128-130, 140, 141]. Changes in V4 and V5 loops have also been observed to mediate effective temporary neutralization escape, suggesting they are also potential targets of autologous Nabs [42, 129, 142, 143]. Antibodies to the V3 loop, a region which participates in determination of CCR5/CXCR4 co-receptor utilization and binding [144, 145], are also commonly seen to be some of the earliest anti-Env antibodies generated, however they are not thought to have a major role in autologous neutralization of primary isolates [129].

Glycosylation of Env trimers (through host glycosylation machinery) is another immune evasion mechanism of HIV-1 that obscures the otherwise exposed outer domain Nab targets of native Env through steric hindrance of bulky carbohydrates; this simultaneously creates an immunologically silent face on the trimer because of the hostderived, non-immunogenic nature of the sugars [146, 147]. Changes in these carbohydrate moieties through addition, deletion, and shifting of potential N-linked glycosylation sites constitute effective mechanisms of neutralization escape that do not disturb functional regions of gp120 such as the receptor binding site [125].

Vaccinologists have historically striven for neutralizing antibody elicitation because all successful FDA-approved vaccines to date have conferred protection at some capacity through neutralizing antibody responses [87, 148]. Specific to efforts against HIV-1, evidence exists that Nabs, polyclonal HIV immunoglobulin and broadly crossreactive monoclonal antibodies administered via passive immunization in non-human primate and mouse models provide protection against viral challenge [82-91, 94-96].

Non-neutralizing antibodies, also bind viral antigen yet, by contrast, cannot prevent viral entry. These binding antibodies exert anti-viral activity by increasing mucosal barrier protection, sequestering virus at the genital tract and epithelium, and facilitating effector activity through the binding interaction of their crystallizable fragment (called F(c)) with innate immune cells expressing Fc-receptors (e.g. natural killer cells, monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells, neutrophils, etc.) [87, 149-151]. Specifically, virus-specific antibody molecules that simultaneously bind both viral antigen on the outside of infected cells (via F(ab)) and Fc-receptors on immune cells (via F(c)) can participate in a process called antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC), in which these recruited innate effector cells initiate a degranulation cascade which results in virally-infected target cell death via apoptosis [150].

Certain studies have suggested that non-neutralizing antibodies target Env residues that are exposed during gp120 shedding, non-native or non-functional Env structures, or viral debris from infected cells and could detrimentally divert attention away from more effective neutralizing targets [146, 147, 152, 153]. Recent immunological correlates analyses from the RV144 vaccine efficacy trial [92], however, have attributed the moderate protection seen in uninfected vaccinees to the presence of specific binding (but non-neutralizing) antibody responses to Env [93]. These somewhat surprising immunological correlates of risk and protection have been the source of extensive follow-up investigations [93, 154, 155]. Higher levels of binding antibodies to V1V2 were associated with protection in vaccinees that remained uninfected, while high gp120 constant region 1 (C1)-specific plasma IgA was associated with risk of infection and potential mitigation of IgG-mediated antiviral activity via ADCC [93, 154, 155]. Therefore, the active role of non-neutralizing responses in protection of HIV-1 infection has recently merited more thorough investigation.

Identification of HIV-1 Superinfection

HIV superinfection has been defined as a re-infection with a heterologous HIV-1 variant after an HIV-infected individual has already had an opportunity to mount an immune response to the primary infection [156]. Preliminary evidence for HIV superinfection was found in the mid-1980s, initially through observations of HIV-1/HIV-2 dual infections [157, 158] and also in experimentally-induced HIV superinfection in chimpanzees [159]. Further evidence of HIV-1/HIV-2 superinfection [160] and intergroup HIV-1 Group M and O superinfections [161] were also later described, though these cases appear to be rare and more anecdotal, and the focus of this section will be on identification of HIV-1 (intragroup M) superinfections.

Despite suggestive evidence of the potential for superinfection, it was not until 2002 that 4 documented clinical cases of HIV-1 superinfection in high-risk individuals surfaced nearly simultaneously [162-164]. Ramos et al. described two injection drug users from Thailand who showed evidence of primary infection by either a CRF01_AE recombinant with subsequent superinfection by Subtype B variant, or vice versa. Jost et al. and Altfeld et al. subsequently published on single MSM cases that acquired intersubtype [163] or intrasubtype [162] superinfection during treatment interruption, concomitant with viral load spikes at the time of superinfection. In these cases, confirmatory restriction-fragment length polymorphism (RFLP), sequence- or subtypespecific polymerase chain reaction (PCR) methods were used to confirm the presence of distinct viral populations before and after the putative superinfection [162-164]. Unfortunately, this gave the first indication that primary immune responses, in these HIV+ individuals, were insufficient at protecting against HIV-1 reinfection; a lesson of great importance when considering cross-protective vaccine feasibility [55, 156].

Superinfection detection methods evolved over the course of the next 10 years, relying more heavily on viral sequence-based approaches, including viral population (or bulk) sequencing, single-genome amplification of individual viral variants and clonal sequencing, rather than previous techniques with relatively limited detection capacities (including heteroduplex mobility assays, multiregion hybridization assays and RFLP analysis) [55, 156]. Recently, high throughput 454 deep sequencing of viral regions has also further advanced the limit of detection for identifying superinfections and is especially useful in detecting minor superinfecting variants [55, 165-167].

Major remaining limitations in the identification and interpretation of superinfection cases are the limited numbers of enrolled patients in these studies and availability to only cross-sectionally collected samples (rather than longitudinal samples), which does not allow for successful interpretation of timing of the secondary infection and ability to distinguish between co-infection and superinfection [168]. However, with the increased sensitivity of sequence-based approaches, and a growing interest in population-based studies looking at incidence of superinfection, superinfection cases have since been widely recognized to occur across the world and at variable frequencies and rates, sometimes as high as primary infection in certain cohorts [55]. Many studies identified superinfections occurring in high-risk cohorts such as commercial sex workers (CSW) or female bar workers [169-173], injection drug users [48, 164] or MSM [162, 163, 174-177], likely owing to the fact that the probability of HIV-1 transmission is higher in these groups as compared to heterosexual exposure [5]. However, more recently, superinfections have also been shown to occur in heterosexually infected seroconverters from seroconcordant couple cohorts [50, 55, 166, 167].

Risk factors of superinfection have not clearly been defined, as large-scale population studies of substantial enough numbers of superinfections and matched controls have not yet been coalesced. However, common risk factors associated with primary HIV-1 transmission are thought to also affect risk of superinfection including potential exposure to virus through unprotected sexual activity, more sexual partners, non-spousal partnerships, genital infections and inflammation, shared needle use, as well as regional HIV prevalence [55, 168]. Encouragingly, though, behavioral studies have shown that if HIV+ individuals are counseled about the risk of superinfection and the implications it could have on their own health, they were more likely to report safer sexual practices, which supports the idea that awareness of superinfection can affect sexual risk behavior [178].

Although a few groups have observed no evidence of superinfection in population studies of treated individuals and high-risk MSM individuals [179, 180], rates of superinfection in most population-based studies appear to generally parallel trends of primary transmission, but again can be affected by a multitude of logistical, sociodemographic, behavioral and clinical factors (including antiretroviral drug use, longitudinal follow-up length, screening methods, etc.) [55, 168]. In a recent study of heterosexual seroconverters in rural Uganda, incidence of superinfection was compared to rate of primary infection in 20,200 initially uninfected individuals in the area after controlling for risk factors affecting either group; here, the rates of superinfection and primary infection were similar (1.4 per 100 person years vs. 3.28 per 100 person years) [167].

Immune Responses in HIV-1 Superinfected Individuals

The majority of reported superinfection cases, with longitudinal follow-up from close to the time of primary infection, have observed superinfections occurring during early infection and within or around the first year of infection [50, 164, 169, 177, 181, 182]. Mathematical modeling in a subtype B study has also showed a dramatic 21-fold reduction in risk of superinfection after the first year of infection [183]. Similarly, a study of 31 Subtype C female sex workers identified 6 women to be dually-infected within 3 months of infection, however what type of dual infection this was (co-infection vs. superinfection within 3-months of primary infection) could not be determined; therefore, these individuals were simply recognized to have high risk of dual infection during early infection [184]. Interestingly, in the remaining women recognized to initially have a single homogeneous viral population at time of enrollment in this study, there was no further evidence of superinfection during 24 months of follow-up [184]. These studies in combination suggested the hypothesis that superinfection (or dual infection) risk may be greatest during this window due to the lack of a developed and potentially cross-protective immune response during early infection and that risk of superinfection may wane over time [55].

This hypothesis has been supported by immunological studies showing weak autologous neutralizing antibodies [162, 177, 185], heterologous or cross-protective antibodies to lab-adapted strains [177] prior to superinfection or potentially lower crossreactive CTL responses in superinfected individuals [186]. However, identifying immune correlates of risk of superinfection has been difficult and somewhat controversial due to the small numbers of identified superinfection cases, inherent differences in study participants (including subtype of viruses infected, behavioral characteristics, transmission risk and likely exposure to virus, etc.), availability of samples to answer immunological questions, lack of early post-transmission samples and subsequent longitudinal follow-up and basic differences in how studies were executed [55]. Therefore, only the main studies suggesting or refuting immunological deficits in superinfected individuals will be addressed here.

Smith et al. published a study of 3 MSM intrasubtype B superinfected individuals superinfected during the first year of infection and compared autologous and heterologous neutralization in these individuals against 11 non-superinfected controls from the same cohort. In this study, immune responses in only two time points were evaluated, called baseline (at the first sample date, and prior to superinfection) and a 6month time point (representing post-superinfection). Timing of superinfection was not narrowly defined within this time frame, and the authors did not clearly state how autologous virus from baseline and superinfecting virus from 6-month visits were isolated. The authors acknowledge that the first sample dates in the superinfected group tended to be later than controls, raising concerns of whether the autologous virus is representative of an early transmitted-founder-like population or a subsequent early escape variant.

Using plasma from baseline, these authors showed that superinfected individuals exhibited low autologous neutralizing titers to contemporaneous baseline virus, and lower heterologous neutralization of two lab-adapted HIV-1 strains (JR-CSF and NL4-3) compared to the controls. Measuring heterologous neutralization to lab-adapted strains is not the same as measuring breadth to a panel of Envs derived from primary isolates and lacks clinical relevance. Importantly, though heterologous neutralization of labadapted strains prior to superinfection was evaluated, cross-neutralization of the superinfecting variant prior to superinfection was not. Still, this study gave the first evidence that there may be a humoral antibody deficit in superinfected individuals that could contribute towards predisposition to superinfection [177].

In a follow-up study of the two initially characterized intersubtype superinfected cases (Ramos et al.), the authors also investigated CTL responses in singly-infected injection drug users in the same cohort (infected with either Subtype B or CRF01-AE variants) and retrospectively compared these responses to those in the two superinfected cases [164, 186]. The authors found there to be higher levels of cross-reactive CTLs to peptides of the superinfecting subtype in the newly evaluated singly-infected controls, however direct comparisons of cross-protective CTL responses between the superinfected and singly-infected groups in the same study were not performed, and therefore this difference may be somewhat speculative [186].

Despite studies linking superinfection with early immunological deficits and a propensity towards early superinfections based on case reports and population studies, researchers have also found evidence of superinfections during chronic infection, anywhere from 2 to 12 years post-infection [48, 162, 163, 170, 171, 187]. This indicates that superinfections may not exclusively occur during this early window post-infection when anti-HIV immune responses may be underdeveloped. In fact, superinfection events after the establishment of broad CTL responses and neutralizing antibodies have also been observed and suggest that in these settings [162, 171], the elicited immune responses were not protective.

Altfeld et al. reported that in one chronically-infected Subtype B MSM individual, who was superinfected during treatment interruption, broad CTL responses capable of targeting multiple epitopes in the primary infecting virus were unable to provide functional protection against intrasubtype superinfection [162]. Similarly, Blish et al. showed in a case-controlled study evaluating the magnitude and polyfunctionality of CD4+ and CD8+ T lymphocytes (following stimulation with global HIV-1 peptide pools) prior to superinfection in 10 inter and intrasubtype superinfected Kenyan CSW and at similar time points after primary infection in 28 non-superinfected matched controls, that there was no association between cellular immune responses and the odds of superinfection [188]. Because of the viral dynamics following superinfection, which can often lead to complete replacement of the primary infecting virus by the superinfecting virus, even broad CTL targeting to multiple epitopes in the primary infecting virus may not confer cross-protective viral control of a superinfecting variant due to viral sequence variation which may confer CTL escape. In such cases, viral escape through superinfection and potential subsequent recombination may result in loss of immune control [52, 162, 189].

In contrast to the work by Smith et al., showing low neutralizing antibodies to both autologous and heterologous viruses prior to superinfection, research from a wellcharacterized cohort of Kenyan CSW (Blish et al.) has shown that there did not appear to be a difference in cross-protective neutralizing antibodies prior to superinfection between 6 superinfected and 18 case-matched non-superinfected controls [171]. It is important to note a few important differences in this study. In this mixed clade cohort (viruses of Subtype A, C, D and various recombinants are common), half of the identified superinfections were intrasubtype A and the other were mixed intersubtype superinfections. Also, superinfections were observed over a wider time scale, 2/6 occurring within the first year and 4/6 occurring after 2 years post-infection.

The authors were primarily interested in looking at differences in crossprotective or heterologous neutralizing antibody breadth to a much larger and clinically relevant panel of pseudoviruses representing transmitted Envs from across multiple subtypes, rather than autologous neutralization of early variants. However, in 3/6 superinfected cases, autologous neutralization of "initial" variants were tested longitudinally, starting from the time point directly prior to superinfection. These "initial" variants were isolated and cloned from the time point after superinfection, and as some of these superinfections occurred during chronic infection, these variants cannot reasonably be called "initial" variants when cloned from such chronic time points, as they likely have evolved significantly over 2+ years of infection. Therefore it is hard to reconcile and directly compare the two studies and their findings. However, this study was the first to suggest that, in this cohort, there were no significant cross-protective neutralizing antibody deficits prior to superinfection [171]. It is of interest to note that while there were no differences in heterologous breadth prior to superinfection, the authors did observe lower neutralization breadth and potency at one year post-infection in superinfected individuals compared to their case-matched controls. This could suggest that while there may have been a difference in the humoral response during early infection, other factors may have affected susceptibility to superinfection in these individuals.

These conflicting studies, which could potentially be very important in guiding our understanding of why natural infection fails to prevent re-infection in these individuals, are underpowered by the number of superinfection cases, and researchers have recently addressed this problem by suggesting collaboration in order to strengthen the power of these immunological studies into discernable meta-data analysis [55]. Despite conflicts about immune responses prior to superinfection, studies of postsuperinfection immune responses seem to generally report a boosting of neutralizing antibody titers after superinfection [185, 190, 191], which may also be of importance in the context of vaccination regimens.

Clinical Implications of HIV-1 Superinfection

Similar to the issues of characterizing immune responses to superinfection, understanding clinical implications and outcomes of superinfection has been difficult due to availability of samples to evaluate these clinical outcomes, longitudinal follow-up and numbers of superinfections characterized. Therefore, although several case reports have evaluated various aspects of clinical progression after dual infection, including increasing viral load set-point [184], accelerating disease progression towards clinical AIDS end points [174, 176, 181] and loss of immune control [52, 162], most of these studies must be considered anecdotal due to the fact that they report, in most cases, single superinfected patients. Superinfection has also rarely been reported to occur in either elite viral controllers or long-term non-progressive patients with no immediate clinical manifestations [192, 193].

A few studies have consistently observed similar clinical trends, including: increased viral load spike at the time of superinfection [162, 163, 176, 181, 194], frequent and rapid viral recombination post-superinfection [47, 49, 50, 52, 195] and transmission or masking of drug-resistant HIV-1 strains [48, 175, 194, 196, 197]. All of these factors can have potentially adverse effects on clinical disease progression and efficacy of treatment regimens, therefore understanding on a larger-scale which effects are real and which are more anecdotal is important for treatment of superinfected patients, especially as the increasing presence of recombinant viruses and population studies suggest that superinfection occurs fairly frequently worldwide.

Summary

Understanding if and why, on an immunological basis, some individuals become HIV-1 superinfected while others, who may be similarly exposed to exogenous HIV-1 virus, remain only singly infected is critical to supplementing our understanding of what vaccine-mediated immune responses could confer protection from primary HIV-1 infection. Thus, this body of work first focuses on identification and characterization of superinfected individuals within the clinically relevant context of low-risk Subtype Cinfected heterosexual couples, of which most new primary infection events occur [6].

In chapter two of this manuscript, we describe the combination of detection methods used to screen twenty-two epidemiologically unlinked transmission pairs in a Zambian cohort of heterosexual couples, in which both partners were longitudinally followed by viral sequencing and phylogenetic analysis, for evidence of superinfection. Here too, as in previous studies of high-risk individuals [133, 164, 170, 171, 176, 177, 182], superinfection was found to occur with high frequency, as intrasubtype C superinfection (from outside partnerships) was detected in 3/22 acute partners. Rapid viral recombination was also observed post-superinfection, consistent with other studies [47, 49, 50, 52, 195], though the functional implications of these recombination events were not evaluated.

In chapter three, we delve deeper into the primary immune responses in the three identified intrasubtype C superinfected individuals. The fact that superinfections were found to occur within the first year, consistent with cases from other studies [50, 164, 169, 177, 181-183], suggested that poor early immune responses may predispose individuals towards superinfection [177]. We systematically tested for humoral antibody deficits prior to superinfection by comparing multiple facets of the anti-HIV antibody response in superinfected individuals against those of 10 non-superinfected matched controls from the same study.

Specifically, we examined autologous neutralizing antibodies to the founder virus over the first year of infection, Env-specific binding antibodies and the potential for heterologous neutralizing antibody breadth to both superinfecting variants as well as an established subtype C panel of pseudoviruses [198, 199]. Data from this body of work suggests that poor early immune responses (as reflected by autologous neutralizing antibodies to founder virus and Env-specific binding antibodies) may predispose individuals towards superinfection; and, if confirmed on a much larger scale, these results could support the feasibility of intrasubtype protection from primary HIV-1 infection via an HIV-1 vaccine.

Chapter 2

Timing and source of subtype-C HIV-1 superinfection in the newly infected partner of Zambian couples with disparate viruses

Published in *Retrovirology*, 2012, 9:22.

Colleen S. Kraft and Paulina A. Hawkins performed the *env* single genome amplification of superinfected individuals (Figures 2-4, 5A), while Debby Basu performed the screen of the 22 transmission pairs for superinfection via gp41 population sequencing and degenerate base counting (Figure 1, 5B). Colleen Kraft and Debby Basu performed the recombination analysis (Figure 6).

Colleen S. Kraft, Debby Basu and Eric Hunter wrote the manuscript.

Abstract

Background

HIV-1 superinfection occurs at varying frequencies in different at risk populations. Though seroincidence is decreased, in the negative partner of HIV-discordant couples after joint testing and counseling in the Zambia Emory HIV Research Project (ZEHRP) cohort, the annual infection rate remains relatively high at 7-8%. Based on sequencing within the gp41 region of each partner's virus, 24% of new infections between 2004 and 2008 were the result of transmission from a non-spousal partner. Since these seroconvertors and their spouses have disparate epidemiologically-unlinked viruses, there is a risk of superinfection within the marriage. We have, therefore, investigated the incidence and viral origin of superinfection in these couples.

Results

Superinfection was detected by heteroduplex mobility assay (HMA), degenerate base counting of the gp41 sequence, or by phylogenetic analysis of the longitudinal sequences. It was confirmed by full-length *env* single genome amplification and phylogenetic analysis. In 22 couples (44 individuals), followed for up to five years, three of the newly infected (initially HIV uninfected) partners became superinfected. In each case superinfection occurred during the first 12 months following initial infection of the negative partner, and in each case the superinfecting virus was derived from a nonspousal partner. In addition, one probable case of intra-couple HIV-1 superinfection was observed in a chronically infected partner at the time of his seroconverting spouse's initial viremia. Extensive recombination within the *env* gene was observed following superinfection. In this subtype-C discordant couple cohort, superinfection, during the first year after HIV-1 infection of the previously negative partner, occurred at a rate similar to primary infection (13.6% [95% CI 5.2–34.8] vs 7.8% [7.1–8.6]). While limited intra-couple superinfection may in part reflect continued condom usage within couples, this and our lack of detecting newly superinfected individuals after one year of primary infection raise the possibility that immunological resistance to intra-subtype superinfection may develop over time in subtype C infected individuals.

Background

HIV-1 superinfection presents an additional concern to the already challenging problem of HIV-1 vaccine design in the face of the virus's rapid evolution [1]. Superinfection is defined as a reinfection by a heterologous HIV-1 strain after a primary immune response has already been mounted [2]. Superinfection and coinfection (primary infection with two genetically distinct viruses) differ based on whether the second infection is contracted prior to or after the host immune response has been mounted [3]. The first documented case of superinfection was identified in a high-risk MSM individual, initially infected with a CRF01_AE subtype followed by a subtype B superinfection after two years [4]. Several other cases have been reported, demonstrating a spectrum of intersubtype [5-12], intergroup [13] and intrasubtype [14-17] superinfections.

Many studies have raised questions about the frequency of superinfection and were unable to identify HIV-1 superinfection in the populations under investigation [18-21]. Despite these doubts, HIV-1 superinfection has now been seen to occur at frequencies comparable to primary infection in certain cohorts [5,17]. The behavioral aspects of these cohorts impact transmission [22] and the interplay between the risk for re-exposure [23], as well as the regional HIV-1 prevalence have been thought to influence the likelihood of HIV-1 superinfection in a given population [3].

It is known that HIV-1 superinfection occurs despite broad CD8+ T-cell [14] and cross-reacting neutralizing antibody responses [24], although it appears that there is less likelihood for HIV-1 superinfection later in the course of HIV infection [17,25,26]. Studies have evaluated the neutralizing antibody population around the time of
superinfection and demonstrated both lack of neutralizing antibody [27] as well as robust neutralizing responses [24].

HIV-1 superinfection has clinical ramifications. Transmission of drug resistant variants through superinfection has been well described [16,17,28-30] and there has been evidence of increased viral load set-points in individuals who are dually infected [31,32] or superinfected [14,16]. The numerous circulating recombinant forms of HIV-1 demonstrate that dual infection of individuals [9,33,34] and the resulting superinfection can contribute to the overall diversity of a virus population. Modeling has shown that intrasubtype superinfection may be as high as 15% in some populations based on evidence of recombination [35], and superinfection followed by recombination may contribute to immune escape within an individual [36].

Since 1994, the Zambia Emory HIV Research Project has followed a cohort of HIV-1 discordant couples, where one partner is HIV-infected and the other is HIVuninfected. Joint counseling and condom provision in such couples can reduce transmission significantly [37-40]. When HIV-1 infections occur, approximately one in eight are acquired from non-spousal partners, leading to a couple infected with genetically distinct viruses [41]. We have followed 22 of these epidemiologically unlinked couples longitudinally for at least 1 year and up to 5 years, to determine the frequency and nature of superinfection in this cohabiting heterosexual population. We observed superinfection in four out of 44 individuals, but only one of these involved transmission of virus from non-spousal partners within one year following a primary HIV-1 infection acquired in an extra-marital relationship. Thus, superinfection from non-spousal partners occurs more commonly than between spousal partners in this cohort, although evidence for continued condom use between spousal partners could limit the incidence of intra-couple HIV-1 superinfection.

Materials and Methods

Zambian cohort

The Zambia Emory HIV Research Project (ZEHRP), a Rwanda Zambia HIV Research Group (RZHRG) site in Lusaka, Zambia, was established in order to study heterosexual cohabiting HIV-1 discordant couples, and provides voluntary testing and counseling as well as long-term monitoring and health care to participating couples [54,55]. HIV discordant couple is defined in this cohort as a couple that upon screening and enrollment has one HIV-infected partner (seropositive index partner) and one HIVuninfected partner [56]. This screening is based on rapid HIV-1 antibody test positivity [54,57]. Both partners are followed quarterly with repeat counseling and documentation of reported sexual exposures within and outside the marriage, and assessment of biological markers of unprotected sex [37]. Plasma from the seronegative partner is tested at every visit for HIV-1 antibodies with rapid tests, and for the presence of p24 antigen using the Vironostika® HIV-1 p24 antigen ELISA [54,57]. Despite counseling and provision of condoms, and a two-thirds reduction in transmission [58], approximately 7%-8% per year of the initially seronegative partners are infected by HIV-1. Once a transmission event had been established, the newly infected partner was followed quarterly, and the chronically infected partner at least annually. Blood products (PBMC and plasma) were collected at each visit under protocols approved by the University of Zambia Research Ethics Committee and the Emory Institutional Review Board. Plasma was obtained by centrifugation of whole blood, and stored in aliquots at -80°C until use. Viral RNA was extracted from these samples using the QIAamp® Viral RNA Mini kit (Qiagen Inc., Valencia, CA). Individuals who meet criteria for antiretroviral therapy are referred elsewhere and drop out of the cohort studies.

Viral gp41 sequences from newly infected, previously seronegative, individuals and their chronically infected partners were used to define epidemiologic linkage of the transmission as described by Trask et al., 2001 [41]. During the period 01/01/2002 to 06/01/2007, a total of 202 seroconversions were identified, of which 49 (24%) were classified as unlinked. A total of 22 couples were selected for further study based on the criteria: 1. Samples corresponding to at least one year of follow-up were available at Emory University, and 2. The seropositive index partner had a viral load greater than 1000, because we were interested in determining the frequency of superinfection within the couple and primary transmission from such individuals is rare. A table detailing the available demographic, clinical and behavioral characteristics of these individuals is provided in Additional file 1: Table S1. Although the exact time of transmission is not available, for each newly infected partner, samples were collected within a median of 91 days (range 10–181 days) of the last seronegative visit. For this study, we have defined two different types of dual infection: co-infection is defined as the detection of two genetically distinct viruses at the time of seroconversion in the previously HIV-1 negative partner; superinfection is defined as the detection of more than one genetically distinct virus at least 3 months after primary infection seroconversion in the seronegative partner. For the seropositive index partner, superinfection was defined as the detection of a novel genetically distinct variant at or after the time of infection of their seronegative partner.

HIV-1 gp41 and gag nested PCR

Viral RNA was reverse-transcribed using SuperScript[®] III One-Step RT-PCR System with Platinum[®] Taq High Fidelity as per manufacturer's guidelines (Invitrogen Co., Carlsbad, CA). Nested PCR amplifications using Expand High Fidelity polymerase (Roche Applied Science, Indianapolis, IN) were performed for gp41 as previously described and in Additional file 2: Methods [41]. Purified positive amplicons were sent out for direct sequencing to MWG Sequencing (Huntsville, AL). Nested PCR for gag was accomplished using the following primers: Outer: 5' - TTC TAC GGA GAC TCC ATG ACCC - 3', 5' - ATT TGA CTA GCG GAG GCT AGA A - 3', Inner: 5' - ATT GCT TCA GCC AAAACT CTT GC - 3', 5' - CGA CCA AAA TTA CCC TAT AGT GCA G - 3', and sequencingprimers: 5' - GGG ACA TCA AGC AGC CAT- 3', 5' - GCC AAA GAG TGA TTT GAG GG -3'.

Sequence analysis and highlighter analysis

Sequences were analyzed from amplicons in Sequencher 4.8 (Gene Codes Corporation, Ann Arbor, MI). Geneious Pro (Biomatters Ltd, Auckland, New Zealand) software was used to align sequences, and neighbor-joining trees were generated using the Tamura-Nei genetic distance model with the bootstrap resampling method. Additionally, the Highlighter tool from Los Alamos National Laboratory HIV Sequence Database (http://www.hiv.lanl.gov/content/hiv-db/HIGH-LIGHT/highlighter.html) was used to map mutations deviating from the earliest sample. APOBEC G to A mutations (open diamonds) and degenerate bases (Dark Blue) were quantified in a longitudinal fashion within the acute transmission partner's virus with respect to the viral sequence from the time of seroconversion. Recombination analysis was performed using the Highlighter tool for analysis of the presumed parent and daughter sequences.

Env single genome analysis (SGA)

Single genome PCR amplification was performed of the entire *env* gene [42,43]. Single genome analysis was conducted on couples who were determined to have dual infection by the screening methods of degenerate base counting, HMA or phylogenetic analysis of

sequences encoding gp41. Full-length *env* gene sequences were analyzed for superinfection cases (ZM211M, ZM211F, ZM282M, ZM247F).

Degenerate base counting

After obtaining the sequences from gp41 PCR amplicons, degenerate or ambiguous codes were manually counted using the International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry (IUPAC) designations. Only nucleotide positions where the secondary (and occasionally tertiary) peak was at least 30% as high as the primary peak was counted as a mixed peak, and these had to be present in both forward and reverse primer sequences. Degenerate codes were then assigned to the mixed nucleotide accordingly.

Heteroduplex mobility assay

Second round gp41 PCR products amplified from plasma were used directly in the heteroduplex assay as described elsewhere [8,59].

HIV-1 quantitative viral loads

HIV-1 viral load determination was performed on plasma using the Amplicor HIV-1 Monitor Test, v 1.5 (Roche Diagnostics, Indianapolis IN).

Statistical analysis of behavioral data

A univariate analysis to compare the superinfected and non-superinfected groups was performed using the Wilcoxon rank sum test, or Fisher's exact test as appropriate, for continuous variables. Categorical variables were compared using the chi-square statistic. All analyses were performed using SAS® version 9.2 (Cary, NC), and *p*-values <0.05 were considered to be statistically significant. The 95% confidence interval for incidence of infection was calculated based on the method by Clopper and Pearson [60].

Results

Selection of the study couples

Two hundred and two HIV-1 discordant couples who seroconverted to concordant infected status (both partners HIV-infected) from 2002-2008 in the ZEHRP cohort were screened for epidemiologic linkage as described previously [41]. In this subset of 202 couples, 49 (24%) were found to have partners with genetically distinct viruses (epidemiologically unlinked transmissions), and 22, selected as described in Methods, were screened for HIV-1 superinfection. Three approaches were employed (see Methods): 1) quantitation of degenerate bases in viral population sequences of the genomic regions encoding the ectodomain of gp41 and gag, 2) phylogenetic tree and Highlighter tool analyses of these sequences, and 3) heteroduplex mobility assay (HMA) of gp41 amplicons. If any of these methods suggested dual infection (either superinfection or co-infection - see Methods), longitudinal single genome amplification (SGA) of the full-length env gene was performed in order to further confirm and characterize the dual infection. Of the 22 acutely infected individuals, there were 9 women and 13 men; none of the participants reported undergoing antiretroviral therapy or engaging in risk behaviors other than heterosexual sex. The ZEHRP cohort is primarily (96.9%) subtype C [41,42], and as expected, all 44 of the individuals had primary infection with subtype C HIV-1. The length of screening for individuals ranged from 12–66 months, with at least 3 time points analyzed during the length of the screening for the acute partner.

Identification of dual infections using PCR amplified gp41 sequences and highlighter tool analysis

For each individual, a 399 bp fragment within the gp41 ectodomain region of the *env* gene was PCR amplified from each longitudinal sample time point as described in Methods. Degenerate bases (DB) were scored when a secondary peak exceeded 30% of the major peak height in the sequence traces. A comparison of the maximum number of degenerate bases at any time point (as a percentage of the 399-bp gp41 ectodomain sequenced) and the maximum pairwise distance (PD) between the month o virus sequence and that of the most divergent viral sequence was performed (Figure 1A, B). For the acutely infected individuals this analysis revealed two distinct groups of individuals (Figure 1A). A majority of the individuals clustered in the low percentages (<4% maximum PD, <3% maximum DB), while four exhibited high percentages of both parameters (>7% maximum PD, >6% maximum DB). One of these (ZM215F; arrowhead) had been shown previously to be a case of co-infection with two genetically distinct variants from a single donor differing by a PD of more than 9% [42,43], while additional phylogenetic analyses (described below) identified the remaining three individuals (black arrows) as cases of superinfection (ZM282M, ZM211F, and ZM247F).

A representative Highlighter plot (www.hiv.lanl.gov) was compiled for each individual's population sequences and provided a visual representation of homogeneity or heterogeneity of the viral population at each time point relative to the virus population at the time of the acutely infected partner's seroconversion (month o) (Figure 1C-F). Nucleotide changes from the month o sequence are demonstrated with tick marks that bear colors unique to each nucleotide (A = green, T = red, G = orange, C = light blue, Degenerate/ambiguous = dark blue).

This analysis showed that for a majority of the acutely infected individuals (18/22), the gp41 sequence remained relatively homogeneous with no evidence of dual infection. An example of this is shown in Figure 1C for subject ZM289M, who exhibits only minimal changes (1 base change at 3 months, 12 months, 24 months, and then 2 changes at 30 months) in the gp41 sequence of the infecting HIV-1 strain over 30 months. However, in the three individuals identified above evidence of superinfection was obtained (Figure 1D-F). In addition, for one individual, ZM215F, evidence for co-infection by distinct variants from a single donor was observed, confirming a previous study [43].

ZM282M (Figure 1D) has few base changes until 10 months, at which point there are 49 degenerate base changes observed, consistent with a mixture of genetically distinct viruses at this time-point. Interestingly, the Highlighter plot shows that the superinfecting virus present at 10 months persists until 36 months when there was evidence for emergence of a dominant recombinant virus (see below). This superinfecting virus predominance is evident from the resolution of mixed bases (blue ticks, representing mixed bases) to simple mismatched bases that are derived from the superinfecting strain compared to the month o viral sequence.

Individual ZM247F (Figure 1E) was previously reported to be co-infected by closely related variants (PD 2.7%, corresponding to 11 nucleotide differences in gp41) from the same individual at the time of acute infection [43]. At month 3 post-infection there is evidence of superinfection by a genetically distinct virus (PD ~12%) that at this time point becomes the predominant strain, then at 18 months and 21 months, a significant number of degenerate bases are observed (40 and 36, respectively) consistent with a re-emergence of the initial virus strain that results in a mixture of it and the

superinfecting virus in the plasma. At 24 months, a recombinant of the superinfecting strain again starts to dominate.

ZM211F (Figure 1F) resembles ZM282M in that the virus sequence is homogeneous until month 9 where there is clear evidence for superinfection, with a mixture in the viral population as seen by degenerate bases. By month 18, the superinfecting virus sequence has become dominant and remains the predominant strain until at least 33 months.

Thus through a combination of degenerate base and phylogenetic analyses on longitudinal sequenced samples, we identified three cases of superinfection in this cohort. In order to rule out the possibility that we might have missed cases of superinfection because of rapid recombination between the superinfecting virus and the initial infecting variant [44], we performed the same analysis on a 400 bp segment of the *gag* gene encoding a region of p24. The results of this analysis (data not shown) did not reveal any additional cases of superinfection.

Clinical characteristics of superinfected individuals

Table 1 shows the sexual behavior data collected from self-reported questionnaires for the 22 acutely infected individuals abstracted from 2002–2010. The three acutely infected individuals that were superinfected (ZM282M, ZM247F, ZM211F) are compared against the 19 acutely infected individuals that were not superinfected. The comparison between groups was limited to the first 12 months of primary infection during which initial superinfection was observed. The ages were similar between the two groups. Genital infections or ulcers were reported or visualized in all three participants in the superinfected group, and in 36% of the not superinfected group, which was statistically significant (p = 0.01). Two individuals in each group had a positive RPR titer in the first year of their HIV-1 infection (p = 0.02), and there was no difference between *Trichomonas* infection within the couple between the groups (p = 0.31). All individuals in the superinfected group had sexual intercourse with at least one partner between each visit (total of 12 visits over 1 year for 3 individuals). The superinfected group reported 201 episodes of sexual intercourse with condoms and 29 (12.6% of total) episodes of sexual intercourse with condoms and 29 (12.6% of total) episodes of sexual intercourse with condoms (mean values are shown in Table 1). Sex with a non-spousal partner (11 episodes) was reported by one individual, ZM282M, while both superinfected women denied extra-marital contact. The non-superinfected group reported 2042 episodes of sexual intercourse with condoms, and 104 episodes (4.8%) without condoms. Three individuals in the not superinfected group reported having extra-marital partners (ZM249M, ZM250M, ZM184F). Only 1 of the newly infected women became pregnant, although 4 of the cohabiting female partners of the 13 acutely infected men became pregnant. All men in this study were uncircumcised.

Analysis of incidence

The incidence of superinfection was determined over 12 month periods after seroconversion, and this was compared against the calculated incidence of primary transmission within the larger cohort of enrolled sero-discordant couples. The first 12 months showed 22 couples with an incidence of superinfection of 13.6 (5.2–34.8, 95% CL) per 100 person years (py). During months 12–24 and 24–36, there were no further cases of superinfection in the remaining 19 patients. All person-years of observation in the prospective study were used to calculate overall HIV-1 incidence rates in the broader cohort. Seroconversion and transmission rates were calculated including all seroconversions. Exact distribution methods were used to calculate 95% confidence intervals. In the first 3 months, the rate was 13.1 (10.6–16.1, 95% CL), from 3–12 months after enrollment, the rate was 7.9 (6.5–9.4, 95% CL), and the rate between 12–24 and 24–36 months was 7.4 (5.9–9.0, 95% CL) and 7.2 (5.4–9.3, 95% CL), respectively. The higher incidence of infection observed during the first 3 months following enrollment likely reflects infections acquired immediately prior to couples counseling and condom provision and that were still in the antibody negative phase at the time of enrollment.

A comparison of incidence of superinfection in the recent seroconvertors during the first year (13.6/100py) to the incidence of primary infection (per 100 person years) in the broader discordant couple cohort during either the 0–3 month (13.1) or 3–12 month (7.9) periods using the t-test assuming equal variance yielded no statistically significant differences.

Characterization of superinfection by single genome amplification

In order to better understand the dynamics of superinfection in the three individuals identified, single genome amplification (SGA) of full-length *env* gene was performed. The neighbor-joining (N-J) phylogenetic tree of the sequences obtained for the male and female in couple ZM282 is shown in Figure 2. Sequences from the chronically infected partner, subject ZM282F (black), cluster distinctly from the male's sequences (blue), confirming that these individuals are an unlinked transmission pair, and her sequences exhibit up to 3.5% diversity (pairwise distance) consistent with that of a chronically infected individual. For the male, the nearly identical sequences from the earliest time point (M_0) branch together, consistent with a genetic bottleneck in which a single genetic variant was transmitted [42,45,46]. Limited genetic heterogeneity was observed over the next 8 months with the *env* sequences differing by only 1.1% over this time. By contrast, at the M_10 time point, two distinct virus populations were detected, with approximately 1/3 of the sequences forming a distinct, genetically distant branch that is approximately 12.5% divergent from the initial infecting virus (red). This is consistent with the time of superinfection observed from population sequence analysis of the gp41 encoding region (Figure 1D). At subsequent times (12 and 18 month) there are sequences present that cluster with the superinfecting virus and others that form another distinct branch that represent recombinants (see below). Only a minority of the sequences from the later time points cluster with the initial infecting virus population, as was also observed in gp41 Highlighter plot for this individual (Figure 1D).

Another example of almost complete dominance by the superinfecting virus is seen with ZM247F. This individual was initially infected by two variants that differ by 2.7% from the same donor, evidenced by two distinct branches of almost identical sequences [43] (Figure 3). Consistent with the Highlighter analysis (Figure 1E), all of the sequences amplified from the three-month time point cluster independently from the initial infecting viruses (red). These later sequences diverge over time and include recombinants with the initial infecting virus (see below), confirming the co-existence and genetic interaction of both the initial and superinfecting virus strains.

Figure 4 illustrates an example of what appears to be superinfection of the chronically infected male partner by his acutely infected spouse (ZM211M, Figure 4A), and superinfection of the newly infected female partner nine months later from an

outside source (ZM211F, Figure 4B). In this case the chronically infected partner, ZM211M (Figure 4A), has evidence of a distinct, diverse, cluster of *env* variants, at the time of his partner's seroconversion that represents the chronic viral population (blue). However, in contrast to the chronically infected partner in the other 2 cohabiting couples (ZM282 and ZM247), there is evidence for superinfection in the male at the time of his partner's seroconversion, with a subset of sequences that cluster closely with the woman's acute sequences (purple). Three months later, there is evidence of recombinant variants developing that contain a greater fraction of the man's sequence (see below). We interpret these findings to indicate that during acute infection, the woman partner transmitted her genetically distinct virus to her spouse, who died 6 months later. However, because plasma samples were not available prior to the woman's seroconversion time-point, it is possible that the male was infected by two phylogenetically distinct viruses and that one of these is the source of his spouse's (ZM211F) primary infection. Recombination analyses described below are most consistent, however, with superinfection of the male by his acutely infected partner.

ZM211F, the acutely infected partner, has a homogenous viral population at her earliest time point, which developed very limited diversity over the first 6 months (Figures 1F, and 4B). At the 9-month time point, ZM211F exhibits clear evidence of superinfection by a virus (red) that is genetically distinct from her partner's (black).

In order to rule out evidence that superinfections might have originated from contaminating sequences within the cohort, we analyzed the *env* SGA sequences from the three superinfection pairs in the context of contemporaneous sequences from the cohort (Figure 5A). In each case a distinct superinfecting genetic variant could be identified which segregated independently on the phylogenetic tree. The extra-cohort origin of these superinfecting strains was further supported by a phylogenetic analysis of gp41 population sequences for the viruses from all 22 couples (Figure 5B).

Recombination analysis using Highlighter tool

One consequence of superinfection can be the generation of novel unique recombinant viruses, and evidence for HIV-1 superinfection can be further supported in the 3 couples analyzed here by evaluation of the sequences for recombination. For each superinfected individual, parental viruses were selected by generating a consensus of full-length *env* SGA sequences from the time of seroconversion and choosing a full-length *env* SGA amplicon sequence that matched the consensus sequence (filled blue circle). Similarly, parental superinfecting viruses were selected by comparing the chosen viral *env* sequence against all *env* sequences at the time of superinfection and selecting the superinfecting *env* sequence with the greatest pairwise distance from the seroconversion virus (filled red circle).

Figure 6A clearly shows that for each of the selected ZM282M sequences recombinant variants have been generated (purple stars, Figure 2). In the ZM282M_10 recombinant sequence for example, the C-terminal region of gp120 and N-terminus of gp41 of the initially infecting virus (blue) have been replaced by the superinfecting virus sequences (red). By contrast, as might be predicted from its position on the N-J tree, ZM282M_12 consists almost entirely of superinfecting virus sequences, with only small regions of gp120 and the C-terminus of gp41 originating in the initial acutely infecting virus.

In the case of ZM247F (Figure 6B), however, despite very distinct recombination patterns across the *env* gene in the three cases chosen, a recombination break point within the C-terminal domain of gp41 (residue 2200), first observed at 12 months (F_{12}), was conserved in the 15 and 21 month sequences even though these variants were located in distinct clusters on the N-J tree. This suggests that this recombination event may have conferred a specific fitness advantage.

In couple ZM211, we compared presumed recombinant viruses in the chronically infected partner ZM211M with virus sequences from both the ZM211M quasi-species (blue circle, Figure 4A) and the ZM211F initially infecting viruses (red circle, Figure 4A). In the latter case (Figure 6C) the recombinant viruses clustering closely to the newly infecting ZM211F founder sequence (purple stars, Figure 4A) exhibited discrete recombination events, but also showed evidence of conserved recombinant regions derived from ZM211M at the very N-terminus of gp120.

Finally, a comparison of three putative recombinants in the superinfecting population of ZM211F (purple stars in Figure 4B) to the initial virus and the superinfecting strain at 9 months (ZM211F_9) revealed clear evidence of recombination in the superinfecting strain with acquisition of *env* sequences from the initially infecting virus at the N-terminus of gp120 and the C-terminal domain of gp41 being evident at 12 and 21 months. Thus in each of the four superinfected individuals, we observed extensive recombination with evidence for co-existence of diverse recombinants at time points subsequent to superinfection.

Discussion

Understanding the mechanism for HIV-1 superinfection is crucial to the development of an HIV vaccine in order to prevent HIV-1 acquisition in a naïve host, since HIV-1 superinfection calls into question the idea that a robust primary immune response to HIV-1 infection provides some immunological protection from re-infection with a heterologous HIV-1. Superinfections occurring in heterosexual cohabiting pairs have not been studied in detail or longitudinally, despite the fact that most primary infections occur in HIV-1 discordant couples [40,41]. Though discordant couples are considered 'high risk,' they are not typically thought to be exposed to as many different viruses as sex workers or intravenous drug users [31,47]. For this reason, it might be predicted that superinfection would be observed at lower frequency and would occur predominantly between individuals within a couple; however, this was not the case. In the 22 newly infected partners, who had acquired HIV outside the marriage, we observed a frequency of superinfection in these individuals in the first year of follow up that was similar to that of primary infection (13.6% vs. 7.8%, p > 0.05). Even though we excluded couples in which the chronically infected partners had viral loads lower than 1000 from this study, all of the superinfections in the seroconverting partner originated from a nonspousal partner. Thus, it is clear that these couples are a higher risk subset of the cohort with exposure to HIV-1 infection outside the main partnership. The very limited frequency of intra-couple superinfection (1/4) studied here in part reflects continued safe sexual practices within the couple, since greater than 95% of reported sexual activity was with a condom. Nevertheless, significant numbers of non-condom exposures did occur (104/2146) in 19 of the 22 newly infected partners who did not become superinfected. Although self-report of external sexual activity is clearly underreported [37], it seems unlikely that for each of the three superinfected individuals, the number of unprotected extra-marital exposures would exceed the number within the marriage. Moreover, with an adult seroprevalence rate of ~20% in Zambia, extramarital exposures should in a majority of instances be with seronegative individuals and therefore present less of a risk of potential superinfection than with the known seropositive partner. Interestingly, a similar lack of intra-couple superinfection has been observed in a recent study of 11 seroconcordant couples infected with disparate viruses in Uganda [48].

One factor that could influence susceptibility to superinfection is the presence of sexually transmitted diseases. Since genital infections and ulcers break down mucosal barriers and contribute to increased risk for primary HIV infection [42,49,50]. In the analysis of behavioral characteristics and clinical signs, the factors that trended toward significance were the presence of GUD on physical exam and RPR positivity in the superinfected group as compared to the non-superinfected group, although 7/19 non-superinfected individuals did have GUD. Previous studies in this Zambian cohort have shown a 2–3 fold increase in risk of HIV-1 infection in uninfected partners with GUD, after correction for viral load in their chronically infected partner [51-53]. In contrast to this higher-risk group, longitudinal *gag*, *pol*, and *nef* gene sequence data from 80 epidemiologically linked transmission pairs in the cohort (where transmission was from the cohabiting spousal partner) in the first two years of follow-up have not demonstrated any evidence of superinfection from non-spousal partners (data not shown), consistent with a lower frequency of extra-marital sexual activity in this cohort subset.

Despite the fact that a majority of the acutely infected individuals in this study of ZEHRP transmission pairs have >2 years of follow-up, HIV-1 superinfection was observed within the first year of follow-up in each of the 3 acutely superinfected individuals. This is consistent with recent studies of intra-subtype superinfection in subtype B infected individuals, where in one case mathematical modeling indicated a 21fold reduction of superinfection after 1 year of infection [25], and in a second case, a retrospective analysis of individuals in the San Diego and Los Angeles Acute HIV Infection and Early Disease Research Programs demonstrated 3 cases of superinfection within 13 months of seroconversion [17]. In contrast, the timing of superinfection in a subtype A commercial sex worker cohort appears less constrained, with superinfection detected as late as 5 years after primary infection [26].

The analysis of longitudinal env sequences, amplified by the SGA approach, for each of the individuals identified through degenerate base analysis allowed the definitive resolution of both the timing and nature of superinfection. In each of the three recent seroconversion cases a distinct superinfecting genetic variant could be identified which segregated independently on the phylogenetic tree (Figure 5A). Recombination between the primary infection variant and the superinfecting variant was observed in each case; and at some time points, consistent with the Highlighter analyses of population sequences, these recombinants became the dominant variant in the circulating virus population. Interestingly, we observed the conservation of recombination break-points within different variants in an individual over several months, suggesting that recombinant viruses with these particular sequence mixes possess fitness benefits over either the initial or the superinfecting strain. This is consistent with the observation of Streeck et al., [36], who showed that recombination between initial and superinfecting viruses could accelerate immunological escape from cellular immune responses. In a more global sense, the selection of mixed genotypes with enhanced population fitness is evidenced by the numerous circulating recombinant forms of HIV-1 resulting from dual infection of individuals [9,33,34], which clearly contribute to the overall diversity of a virus population. Additional studies will be required to fully characterize the basis of recombinant virus selection in the subtype C infected individuals under study here.

The SGA analysis of viral sequences bolstered our interpretation that ZM211M was superinfected from his spousal partner, ZM211F, during her acute seroconversion. At the time of her seroconversion, ZM211M has two dominant and distinct quasispecies with limited evidence for recombination between them. In contrast at month 3, a distinct population of recombinant viruses arises. This is consistent with superinfection of ZM211M during his spouse's acute viremia (viral load greater than 750,000), followed by the emergence of recombinants. Moreover, shortly after the probable superinfection, the viral load of ZM211M increased 10-fold and he is deceased within 6 months.

Determining why HIV-1 does or does not superinfect an exposed individual will be crucial to understanding the nature of an immune response that is capable of preventing *de novo* infection. Given the considerable antigenic dissimilarities between subtypes, we might not expect that initial infection by one subtype of HIV-1 would provide significant immune protection against other subtypes; on the other hand we might expect there to be some protection from reinfection of infected patients by more closely related HIV-1 strains of the same subtype. This does not appear to be the case during the first year of infection in the subtype C infected individuals studied here, where rates of intra-subtype superinfection in the first year of study were similar to those of primary infection [39]. However, it is of interest that in the three individuals that are superinfected, little variation in *env* sequences is observed in the period prior to the superinfection event, suggesting that there may be limited neutralizing antibody pressure on the founder virus. Indeed, preliminary studies indicate the absence of potent neutralizing antibody responses to the founder virus at the visit prior to superinfection (D. Basu et al., unpublished). It will be of interest to determine whether there is a more potent neutralizing antibody response in the non-superinfected individuals who also report extra-marital contact. Moreover, given that in this study each partner in the

couple is infected with a different strain of subtype C HIV-1, it is possible that repeated exposure to a partner's HIV-1 strain could stimulate the development of HIV-1 specific immune responses and that this might have provided protection against intra-couple superinfection. This type of immune stimulation with boosting of the cellular immune response has been reported to occur in subtype B infected men who have sex with men [23].

The existence of HIV-1 superinfection presents an obstacle to develop a vaccine to prevent primary infection with HIV-1. With technologies such as next-generation sequencing being employed to detect HIV-1 superinfection [48], the detection of very small viral sub-populations at a given time point will increase resolution. There are behavioral and clinical aspects (e.g. circumcision, genital ulcers) that influence this phenomenon but there are likely immunologic correlates that render some individuals more susceptible to superinfection. Continued study of HIV-1 superinfection within cohabiting heterosexual couples can provide insights into such correlates in the context of a potentially highly susceptible and relatively low-risk cohort type.

Acknowledgements

We would like to acknowledge the staff and volunteers of the Zambia Emory HIV Research Project. We would like to thank Dr. Jesse T. Jacob, Amanda Tichacek, and Naw Htee Khu for assistance with the behavioral statistics.

Financial support: The work was supported by grants from the National Institutes of Health (AI-51231; MH-66767; HD-40951) and the International AIDS Vaccine Initiative. The Virology Core of the Emory Center for AIDS Research (P30 AI050409) provided support for viral load testing. NIH AI-0678501 supported PTH. An NRSA Institutional Postdoctoral Training Grant T32 AI-007470 through the Emory Microbiology and Molecular Genetics Program and National Institutes of Health/National Center for Research Resources KL2 RR-025009 supported CSK. The Fogarty AITRP grant (D43 TW001042) sponsored WK. Funding institutions played no role in the conduct of these studies or in the preparation, review or approval of the manuscript.

Nucleotide sequences: GenBank SGA accession numbers for ZM247: EU166779-EU166856

GenBank population sequencing for gp41: GU827726-GU827976

Variable	Not Superinfected	Superinfected	p-value
	(n=19)	(n=3)	
Age	28	26	0.41
Female gender	47%	66%	0.43
Reported genital	-/10		0.01
ulcer/infection	7/19	3/3	0.01
Sex with partner/no condom,		$0 \pi (0, 0.4)$	0.57
mean (range) [#]	5.5 (0-20)	9./ (2-24)	0.5/
Sex with partner/with	107 4 (10, 000)	67(11, 110)	0.51
condom, mean (range)#	10/.4 (10-322)	0/(11-112)	0.51
Sex/non-spousal partner			
(contacts; fraction reporting	5; (3/19)	11; (1/3)*	0.27
exposure)			
RPR positivity	2/19	2/3	0.02
Trichomonas (in female	4/10	1/0	0.01
partner)	4/19	1/3	0.31
Pregnancy	1/9	0/2	0.70

Table 1. Reported sexual activity of newly infected partner in 12 months post-primary infection

* self report – rare for women * mean value/yr in first year



Figure 1. Sequence and Highlighter Analysis of Longitudinal Samples Provides Evidence for Superinfection. Comparison of maximum sequence divergence in gp41 versus the maximum number of degenerate bases at any time point within acutely infected individuals (**A**) and chronically infected individuals (**B**). The maximum percentage of degenerate bases is plotted on the y-axis; the maximum percentage of genetic distance is plotted along the x-axis. Black arrows indicate superinfected subjects; arrowhead indicates a subject co-infected with two variants from a single donor. Highlighter plots for gp41 sequences of ZM289M (**C**), ZM282M (**D**), ZM247F (**E**), and ZM211F (**F**) sampled at 0 to 36 months post-seroconversion (shown on right of plot). The sequence at each time point is compared to the initial infecting HIV-1 gp41 sequence. Tick marks denote nucleotide changes from the seroconversion sequence (T = red, A = green, C = blue, G = yellow), with dark blue indicating degenerate bases (See Methods).



Figure 2. Neighbor-joining tree of full-length SGA env sequences for ZM282M. Blue and red sequences represent the initial infection and superinfection sequences, respectively, from the acutely infected subject ZM282M; black sequences are derived from the epidemiologically unlinked cohabiting partner ZM282F, who is chronically infected. The

time points are indicated along with M or F for each sequence (i.e. M8 is the acutely infected Z282M at 8 months post seroconversion). The ZM282F "o" time point corresponds to seroconversion of ZM282M. The duration of infection for ZM282F is not known. Bootstrap values >80 are considered statistically significant. Sequences denoted by circles indicate the parental sequences (blue, red circle) and those denoted by stars identify potential recombinant daughter sequences that were used for recombination analyses (below).



Figure 3. Neighbor-joining tree representing full-length SGA env sequences for ZM247F. Blue and red sequences represent the env SGA sequences from acutely infected ZM247F (blue) and superinfected (red) viral sequences. Black sequences are derived from ZM247M, the epidemiologically unlinked chronically infected partner. Bootstrap

values >80 are considered statistically significant. Sequences denoted by circles indicate the parental sequences (blue, red circle), and stars denote potential recombinant daughter sequences (purple stars) that were used for recombination analyses (below).



Figure 4. Neighbor-joining tree of full-length SGA env sequences for ZM211M and ZM211F. (A) The chronically infected ZM211M sequences are depicted in blue, and the superinfecting ZM211F sequences are depicted in red, while those in purple represent potential recombinant sequences between the blue and red sequences. (B) An expanded phylogenetic tree showing time points 0–36 months for the acutely infected ZM211F initial infecting virus (blue) is distinct from ZM211M (black). ZM211F was superinfected twice: first at 9 months (red), and then again at 30 months (green), both by non-spousal transmissions with two different individuals. Sequences denoted by circles indicate the parental sequences (blue, red circle) and stars denote potential recombinant daughter sequences (purple stars) that were used for recombination analyses described below.



Figure 5. Neighbor-joining trees of SGA env and population gp41 sequences for the cohort. (A) Neighbor-joining phylogenetic tree of single genome amplified env gene sequences from each superinfected individual in the context of Zambian sub-type C env sequences. The Zambian subtype C sequences include twelve of the non-superinfected, newly infected individuals from this study. Superinfected individuals are assigned discrete colors and the superinfecting quasispecies is denoted by SI. (B) Neighbor-joining tree of gp41 sequences for all 22 couples. Superinfected individuals are assigned discrete colors.



Figure 6. Highlighter recombination plots of full-length env for each individual who was superinfected. Highlighter recombination analysis of sequences from ZM282M (A), ZM247F (B), and ZM211M (C) and ZM211F (D). The parental virus sequence from the acutely infected or a representative parental sequence from the chronically infected partner (ZM211M) are shown in blue in the first bar of each panel. The superinfecting

14 F 30 71/200 147/230 C Ves Ves No No No 39 9 Ves 211 F 30 2,640 96,680 C No No No No 322 5 No No 212 F 24 24,103 77,252 C No No No 132 5 No No 221 F 22 624,103 17,252 C Yes No No No 143 4 No No 143 4 No	uple	èx Ag	e_1	Acute VL ²	Index VL	Sub- type	GUD ³	STI ³	Trich	RPR	Circum- cision	Preg	Sex with condom ⁴	Sex w/o condom ⁴	Other partner ⁵
11 F 30 2,640 96,889 C No No No 11 3 11 F 37 10,548 750,000 C No No No No 322 5 No 11 F 23 70,070 C No No No 322 5 No No 37 H 23 750,000 C Yes No	84 F		30	71,290	147,239	c	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	39	9	Yes
12 F 37 10,548 750,000 C No No No 322 5 No 15 F 24 241,190 ND C No No No 155 26 No 24 F 22 624,803 17,252 C Yes No No No 24 0 No No No 155 26 No No 37 F 23 750,000 S1,23 C Yes No No No No 141 2 66 No 49 M 23 750,000 S10,16 C No	11 F		30	2,640	96,689	ပ	No	Yes	No	No	No	No	11	3	No
(5) (1) (2) (2) (1) <td>12 F</td> <td></td> <td>37</td> <td>10,548</td> <td>750,000</td> <td>с</td> <td>No</td> <td>No</td> <td>No</td> <td>No</td> <td>No</td> <td>No</td> <td>322</td> <td>5</td> <td>No</td>	12 F		37	10,548	750,000	с	No	No	No	No	No	No	322	5	No
24 F 22 624,803 17,252 C Yes No No No 24 17 1 1 1 2 624,803 17,252 C Yes No No No No 24 1 23 74,870 1,323 C Yes No No No No No 14 1 24 No 1 24 75,000 53,854 C Yes No No </td <td>15 F</td> <td></td> <td>24</td> <td>241,190</td> <td>DN</td> <td>C</td> <td>No</td> <td>No</td> <td>No</td> <td>No</td> <td>No</td> <td>No</td> <td>155</td> <td>26</td> <td>No</td>	15 F		24	241,190	DN	C	No	No	No	No	No	No	155	26	No
37 M 43 44,870 1.323 C Yes Yes No No A1	24 F		22	624,803	17,252	c	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	No	24	0	No
47 F 23 750,000 53,854 C No Yes No No 112 26 No No 49 M 30 750,000 ND C Yes No Yes Yes Yes Yes 57 F 35 750,000 180,355 C No No No No No No Yes Ye	37 N	, v	43	44,870	1,323	c	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	NA	41	4	No
40 M 30 750,000 MD C Ves No No No 145 25 Yes 50 M 22 65,260 46,215 C No No Yes No Yes Yes <t< td=""><td>47 F</td><td></td><td>23</td><td>750,000</td><td>53,854</td><td>с</td><td>No</td><td>Yes</td><td>Yes</td><td>Yes</td><td>No</td><td>No</td><td>112</td><td>26</td><td>No</td></t<>	47 F		23	750,000	53,854	с	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	112	26	No
60 M 22 65,260 46,215 C No No Yes No 82 M 25 750,00 180,355 C No Yes No Yes 183 8 No 84 M 35 750,00 91,583 C No No No Yes No Yes No Yes No Yes No Yes Yes No Yes	49 N	V	30	750,000	QN	c	Yes	No	No	No	No	NA	145	25	Yes
57 F 35 750,000 180,355 C No Yes No Yes 188 8 No 82 M 25 750,000 56,700 66,700 C Yes No Yes No Yes Yes No 84 M 36 750,000 91,583 C No	50 N	V	22	65,260	46,215	с U	No	No	No	Yes	No	NA	133	0	Yes
32 1 25 750,00 56,700 76 765 76 765 76 765	37 F		35	750,000	180,355	c	No	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	188	8	No
34 M 36 750,000 91,583 C No No No No 97 1 No	32 N	V	25	750,000	56,700	ပ	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No	AN	78	2	Yes
90 M 27 399,737 6,692 C No <	34 N	V	36	750,000	91,583	с	No	No	No	No	No	NA	97	1	No
7 M 50 8,687 ND C No No No No 108 3 No 45 M 32 11,660 22,710 C No No <t< td=""><td>39 N</td><td>V</td><td>27</td><td>399,737</td><td>6,692</td><td>с С</td><td>No</td><td>No</td><td>Yes</td><td>No</td><td>No</td><td>NA</td><td>75</td><td>8</td><td>No</td></t<>	39 N	V	27	399,737	6,692	с С	No	No	Yes	No	No	NA	75	8	No
(5) (M) 32 11,660 22,710 (N) No No No No No No No No No S2 11,660 22,710 (N) No No No No No No S2 No No No No S2 No No<	97 N	V	50	8,687	QN	c	No	No	No	No	No	NA	108	3	No
8 F 41 14,220 ND C No Yes Yes No No 52 0 No No 33 F 22 25,800 ND C No No No No No 65 0 No 772 M 28 36,200 400 C No No <t< td=""><td>15 N</td><td>V</td><td>32</td><td>11,660</td><td>22,710</td><td>с С</td><td>No</td><td>No</td><td>No</td><td>No</td><td>No</td><td>NA</td><td>69</td><td>4</td><td>No</td></t<>	15 N	V	32	11,660	22,710	с С	No	No	No	No	No	NA	69	4	No
33 F 22 25,800 ND C No No No No 65 0 No No 772 M 28 36,200 400 C No No No NO NA 144 0 No No 25 M 31 2,006 2,280 C No No No NA 144 0 No 59 M 31 2,006 2,280 C No No No NA 153 10 No 50 M 29 110,220 493 C No No No NA 90 1 No 13 M 30 76,286 68,535 C Yes No No NA 74 5 No 144 M 29 44,500 34,100 No No No No No 74 5 No <td< td=""><td>38 F</td><td></td><td>41</td><td>14,220</td><td>QN</td><td>c</td><td>No</td><td>Yes</td><td>Yes</td><td>No</td><td>No</td><td>No</td><td>52</td><td>0</td><td>No</td></td<>	38 F		41	14,220	QN	c	No	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	52	0	No
NT M 28 36,200 400 C No No No No NA 144 0 No No 125 M 31 2,006 2,280 C No	33 F		22	25,800	ΠN	с	No	No	No	No	No	No	65	0	No
I25 M 31 2,006 2,280 C No No No No No I53 I0 No No I53 I0 No No I0 No I0 No I0 No I0 No I0 No No No No No I0 No No No I0 No I0 No No No No No No No No No I0 No	072 N	V	28	36,200	400	C	No	No	No	No	No	NA	144	0	No
I59 M 29 110,220 493 C No Yes No No No No If No No If No <	125 N	V	31	2,006	2,280	c	No	No	No	No	No	NA	153	10	No
213 M 30 76,286 68,535 C Yes No No Yes No NA 74 5 No No 164 M 29 44,500 34,100 C No	159 N	V	29	110,220	493	ပ	No	No	Yes	No	No	NA	90	1	No
164 M 29 44,500 34,100 C No No No No No No NA 68 0 No	213 N	V	30	76,286	68,535	с	Yes	No	No	Yes	No	NA	74	5	No
	164 N	V	29	44,500	34,100	c	No	No	No	No	No	NA	68	0	No

¹Age at enrollment ²Viral Loads were collected for first antibody positive dates ³Genital ulcer disease or STI in 12 months ⁵Other partner in the last 12 months ND=not done, NA - Not applicable

transmission pairs

References

- Chohan BH, Piantadosi A, Overbaugh J: HIV-1 Superinfection and its Implications for Vaccine Design. *Curr HIV Res* 2010, 8:596-601
- Allen TM, Altfeld M: HIV-1 superinfection. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2003, 112:829–835.
- van der Kuyl AC, Cornelissen M: Identifying HIV-1 dual infections. *Retrovirology* 2007, 4:67.
- 4. Jost S, Bernard MC, Kaiser L, Yerly S, Hirschel B, Samri A, Autran B, Goh LE, Perrin L: A patient with HIV-1 superinfection. *N Engl J Med* 2002, 347:731–736.
- Chohan B, Lavreys L, Rainwater SM, Overbaugh J: Evidence for frequent reinfection with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 of a different subtype. J Virol 2005, 79:10701–10708.
- Gottlieb GS, Nickle DC, Jensen MA, Wong KG, Kaslow RA, Shepherd JC, Margolick JB, Mullins JI: HIV type 1 superinfection with a dual-tropic virus and rapid progression to AIDS: a case report. *Clin Infect Dis* 2007, 45:501–509.
- 7. Hu DJ, Subbarao S, Vanichseni S, Mock PA, Ramos A, Nguyen L, Chaowanachan T, Griensven F, Choopanya K, Mastro TD, Tappero JW: Frequency of HIV-1 dual subtype infections, including intersubtype superinfections, among injection drug users in Bangkok, Thailand. *AIDS* 2005, 19:303–308.
- Manigart O, Courgnaud V, Sanou O, Valea D, Nagot N, Meda N, Delaporte E, Peeters
 M, Van de Perre P: HIV-1 superinfections in a cohort of commercial sex

workers in Burkina Faso as assessed by an autologous heteroduplex mobility procedure. *AIDS* 2004, **18:**1645–1651.

- 9. McCutchan FE, Hoelscher M, Tovanabutra S, Piyasirisilp S, Sanders-Buell E, Ramos G, Jagodzinski L, Polonis V, Maboko L, Mmbando D, et al.: In-depth analysis of a heterosexually acquired human immunodeficiency virus type 1 superinfection: evolution, temporal fluctuation, and intercompartment dynamics from the seronegative window period through 30 months postinfection. *J Virol* 2005, 79:11693–11704.
- 10. Ramos A, Hu DJ, Nguyen L, Phan KO, Vanichseni S, Promadej N, Choopanya K, Callahan M, Young NL, McNicholl J, et al.: Intersubtype human immunodeficiency virus type 1 superinfection following seroconversion to primary infection in two injection drug users. J Virol 2002, 76:7444–7452.
- van der Kuyl AC, Kozaczynska K, van den Burg R, Zorgdrager F, Back N, Jurriaans S, Berkhout B, Reiss P, Cornelissen M: Triple HIV-1 infection. N Engl J Med 2005, 352:2557–2559.
- Yerly S, Jost S, Monnat M, Telenti A, Cavassini M, Chave JP, Kaiser L, Burgisser P, Perrin L: HIV-1 co/super-infection in intravenous drug users. *AIDS* 2004, 18:1413–1421.
- Plantier JC, Lemee V, Dorval I, Gueudin M, Braun J, Hutin P, Ruffault A, Simon F: HIV-1 group M superinfection in an HIV-1 group O-infected patient. *AIDS* 2004, 18:2444–2446.

- 14. Altfeld M, Allen TM, Yu XG, Johnston MN, Agrawal D, Korber BT, Montefiori DC, O'Connor DH, Davis BT, Lee PK, et al.: HIV-1 superinfection despite broad CD8+ T-cell responses containing replication of the primary virus. *Nature* 2002, 420:434–439.
- Gottlieb GS, Nickle DC, Jensen MA, Wong KG, Grobler J, Li F, Liu SL, Rademeyer C, Learn GH, Karim SS, et al.: Dual HIV-1 infection associated with rapid disease progression. *Lancet* 2004, 363:619–622.
- 16. Koelsch KK, Smith DM, Little SJ, Ignacio CC, Macaranas TR, Brown AJ, Petropoulos CJ, Richman DD, Wong JK: Clade B HIV-1 superinfection with wild-type virus after primary infection with drug-resistant clade B virus. *AIDS* 2003, 17:F11–F16.
- Smith DM, Wong JK, Hightower GK, Ignacio CC, Koelsch KK, Daar ES, Richman DD, Little SJ: Incidence of HIV superinfection following primary infection. Jama 2004, 292:1177–1178.
- 18. Chakraborty B, Valer L, De Mendoza C, Soriano V, Quinones-Mateu ME: Failure to detect human immunodeficiency virus type 1 superinfection in 28 HIVseroconcordant individuals with high risk of reexposure to the virus. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 2004, 20:1026–1031.
- Gonzales MJ, Delwart E, Rhee SY, Tsui R, Zolopa AR, Taylor J, Shafer RW: Lack of detectable human immunodeficiency virus type 1 superinfection during 1072 person-years of observation. J Infect Dis 2003, 188:397–405.
- 20. Tsui R, Herring BL, Barbour JD, Grant RM, Bacchetti P, Kral A, Edlin BR, Delwart EL: Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 superinfection was not
detected following 215 years of injection drug user exposure. *J Virol* 2004, **78:**94–103.

- 21. Rachinger A, Manyenga P, Burger JA, de Ven TLPDV, Stolte IG, Prins M, van't Wout AB, Schuitemaker H: Low incidence of HIV-1 superinfection even after episodes of unsafe sexual behavior of homosexual Men in the Amsterdam cohort studies on HIV infection and AIDS. J Infect Dis 2011, 203:1621–1628.
- 22. Rachinger A, van de Ven TD, Burger JA, Schuitemaker H, Schuitemaker H, van't Wout AB: Evaluation of pre-screening methods for the identification of HIV-1 superinfection. *J Virol Methods* 2010, 165:311–317.
- 23. Willberg CB, McConnell JJ, Eriksson EM, Bragg LA, York VA, Liegler TJ, Hecht FM, Grant RM, Nixon DF: Immunity to HIV-1 is influenced by continued natural exposure to exogenous virus. *PLoS Pathog* 2008, **4**:e1000185.
- 24. Blish CA, Dogan OC, Derby NR, Nguyen MA, Chohan B, Richardson BA, Overbaugh J: Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 superinfection occurs despite relatively robust neutralizing antibody responses. J Virol 2008, 82:12094– 12103.
- 25. Bragg L, McConnell J, Liegler T, Bacchetti P, Spotts G, Hecht F, Grant R: HIV-1 superinfection surveillence in an acute infection cohort using pol sequences from resistance genotyping: 1996–2009. California: In Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections; San Francisco; 2010.

- 26. Piantadosi A, Chohan B, Chohan V, McClelland RS, Overbaugh J: Chronic HIV-1 infection frequently fails to protect against superinfection. PLoS Pathog 2007, 3:e177.
- 27. Smith DM, Strain MC, Frost SD, Pillai SK, Wong JK, Wrin T, Liu Y, Petropolous CJ, Daar ES, Little SJ, Richman DD: Lack of neutralizing antibody response to HIV-1 predisposes to superinfection. *Virology* 2006, 355:1–5.
- 28. Blick G, Kagan RM, Coakley E, Petropoulos C, Maroldo L, Greiger-Zanlungo P, Gretz S, Garton T: The probable source of both the primary multidrug-resistant (MDR) HIV-1 strain found in a patient with rapid progression to AIDS and a second recombinant MDR strain found in a chronically HIV-1-infected patient. J Infect Dis 2007, 195:1250–1259.
- 29. Chakraborty B, Kiser P, Rangel HR, Weber J, Mirza M, Marotta ML, Asaad R, Rodriguez B, Valdez H, Lederman MM, Quinones-Mateu ME: Can HIV-1 superinfection compromise antiretroviral therapy? *AIDS* 2004, 18:132– 134.
- 30. Smith DM, Wong JK, Hightower GK, Ignacio CC, Koelsch KK, Petropoulos CJ, Richman DD, Little SJ: HIV drug resistance acquired through superinfection. AIDS 2005, 19:1251–1256.
- 31. Grobler J, Gray CM, Rademeyer C, Seoighe C, Ramjee G, Karim SA, Morris L, Williamson C: Incidence of HIV-1 dual infection and its association with increased viral load set point in a cohort of HIV-1 subtype C-infected female sex workers. J Infect Dis 2004, 190:1355–1359.

- 32. Sagar M, Lavreys L, Baeten JM, Richardson BA, Mandaliya K, Chohan BH, Kreiss JK, Overbaugh J: Infection with multiple human immunodeficiency virus type 1 variants is associated with faster disease progression. J Virol 2003, 77:12921–12926.
- 33. Taylor BS, Sobieszczyk ME, McCutchan FE, Hammer SM: The challenge of HIV-1 subtype diversity. N Engl J Med 2008, 358:1590–1602.
- 34. Gross KL, Porco TC, Grant RM: HIV-1 superinfection and viral diversity. AIDS 2004, 18:1513–1520.
- 35. Taylor JE, Korber BT: HIV-1 intra-subtype superinfection rates: estimates using a structured coalescent with recombination. Infect Genet Evol 2005, 5:85–95.
- 36. Streeck H, Li B, Poon AFY, Schneidewind A, Gladden AD, Power KA, Daskalakis D, Bazner S, Zuniga R, Brander C, et al.: Immune-driven recombination and loss of control after HIV superinfection. J Exp Med 2008, 205:1789–1796.
- 37. Allen S, Meinzen-Derr J, Kautzman M, Zulu I, Trask S, Fideli U, Musonda R, Kasolo F, Gao F, Haworth A: Sexual behavior of HIV discordant couples after HIV counseling and testing. *AIDS* 2003, 17:733–740.
- 38. Allen S, Serufilira A, Bogaerts J, Van de Perre P, Nsengumuremyi F, Lindan C, Carael M, Wolf W, Coates T, Hulley S: Confidential HIV testing and condom promotion in Africa. Impact on HIV and gonorrhea rates. JAMA 1992, 268:3338–3343.

- 39. Fideli US, Allen SA, Musonda R, Trask S, Hahn BH, Weiss H, Mulenga J, Kasolo F, Vermund SH, Aldrovandi GM: Virologic and immunologic determinants of heterosexual transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in Africa. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 2001, 17:901–910.
- 40. Dunkle KL, Stephenson R, Karita E, Chomba E, Kayitenkore K, Vwalika C, Greenberg L, Allen S: New heterosexually transmitted HIV infections in married or cohabiting couples in urban Zambia and Rwanda: an analysis of survey and clinical data. *Lancet* 2008, 371:2183–2191.
- 41. Trask SA, Derdeyn CA, Fideli U, Chen Y, Meleth S, Kasolo F, Musonda R, Hunter E, Gao F, Allen S, Hahn BH: Molecular epidemiology of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 transmission in a heterosexual cohort of discordant couples in Zambia. *J Virol* 2002, 76:397–405.
- 42. Haaland RE, Hawkins PA, Salazar-Gonzalez J, Johnson A, Tichacek A, Karita E, Manigart O, Mulenga J, Keele BF, Shaw GM, et al.: Inflammatory genital infections mitigate a severe genetic bottleneck in heterosexual transmission of subtype A and C HIV-1. *PLoS Pathog* 2009, **5:**e1000274.
- 43. Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Bailes E, Pham KT, Salazar MG, Guffey MB, Keele BF, Derdeyn CA, Farmer P, Hunter E, Allen S, et al.: Deciphering human immunodeficiency virus type 1 transmission and early envelope diversification by single-genome amplification and sequencing. J Virol 2008, 82:3952–3970.
- 44. Piantadosi A, Ngayo MO, Chohan B, Overbaugh J: Examination of a second region of the HIV type 1 genome reveals additional cases of superinfection. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 2008, 24:1221.

- 45. Derdeyn CA, Decker JM, Bibollet-Ruche F, Mokili JL, Muldoon M, Denham SA, Heil ML, Kasolo F, Musonda R, Hahn BH, et al.: Envelope-constrained neutralization-sensitive HIV-1 after heterosexual transmission. Science 2004, 303:2019–2022.
- 46. Keele BF, Giorgi EE, Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Decker JM, Pham KT, Salazar MG, Sun C, Grayson T, Wang S, Li H, et al.: Identification and characterization of transmitted and early founder virus envelopes in primary HIV-1 infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2008, 105:7552–7557.
- 47. Blish CA, Blay WM, Haigwood NL, Overbaugh J: **Transmission of HIV-1 in the face of neutralizing antibodies**. *Curr HIV Res* 2007, **5**:578–587.
- 48. Redd AD, Collinson-Streng A, Martens C, Ricklefs S, Mullis CE, Manucci J, Tobian AAR, Selig EJ, Laeyendecker O, Sewankambo N, et al.: Identification of HIV superinfection in seroconcordant couples in Rakai, Uganda, by Use of next-generation deep sequencing. *J Clin Microbiol* 2011, 49:2859–2867.
- 49. Roest RW, Maertzdorf J, Kant M, van der Meijden WI, Osterhaus ADME, Verjans GMGM: High incidence of genotypic variance between sequential herpes simplex virus type 2 isolates from HIV-1-seropositive patients with recurrent genital herpes. J Infect Dis 2006, 194:1115–1118.
- 50. Wawer MJ, Gray RH, Sewankambo NK, Serwadda D, Li X, Laeyendecker O, Kiwanuka N, Kigozi G, Kiddugavu M, Lutalo T, et al.: Rates of HIV-1 transmission per coital act, by stage of HIV-1 infection, in Rakai, Uganda. *J Infect Dis* 2005, 191:1403–1409.

- 51. Merino A, Malhotra R, Morton M, Mulenga J, Allen S, Hunter E, Tang J, Kaslow RA: Impact of a functional KIR2DS4 allele on heterosexual HIV-1 transmission among discordant Zambian couples. In J Infect Dis 2011, 203:487–495.
- 52. Song W, He D, Brill I, Malhotra R, Mulenga J, Allen S, Hunter E, Tang J, Kaslow RA:
 Disparate associations of HLA class I markers with HIV-1 acquisition and control of viremia in an African population. In PLoS One 2011, 6:e23469.
- 53. Tang J, Shao W, Yoo YJ, Brill I, Mulenga J, Allen S, Hunter E, Kaslow RA: Human leukocyte antigen class I genotypes in relation to heterosexual HIV type 1 transmission within discordant couples. In J Immunol 2008, 181:2626–2635.
- 54. McKenna SL, Muyinda GK, Roth D, Mwali M, Ng'andu N, Myrick A, Luo C, Priddy FH, Hall VM, von Lieven AA, et al.: Rapid HIV testing and counseling for voluntary testing centers in Africa. AIDS 1997, 11(Suppl 1):S103–S110.
- 55. Allen S, Karita E, Chomba E, Roth DL, Telfair J, Zulu I, Clark L, Kancheya N, Conkling M, Stephenson R, et al.: **Promotion of couples' voluntary counselling and testing for HIV through influential networks in two African capital cities**. *BMC Publ Health* 2007, **7:**349.
- 56. Kempf MC, Allen S, Zulu I, Kancheya N, Stephenson R, Brill I, Tichacek A, Haworth A, Chomba E: Enrollment and retention of HIV discordant couples in Lusaka, Zambia. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2008, 47:116–125.
- 57. Boeras DI, Luisi N, Karita E, McKinney S, Sharkey T, Keeling M, Chomba E, Kraft C, Wall K, Bizimana J, et al.: Indeterminate and discrepant rapid HIV test

results in couples' HIV testing and counselling centres in Africa. J Int AIDS Soc 2011, 14:18.

- 58. Allen SA, Chomba E, Karita E, Kilembe W, Inambao M, Streeb G: The contribution of HIV-discordant relationships to new HIV infections: a rebuttal. AIDS 2011, 25:1341–1343.
- 59. Delwart EL, Sheppard HW, Walker BD, Goudsmit J, Mullins JI: Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 evolution in vivo tracked by DNA heteroduplex mobility assays. J Virol 1994, 68:6672–6683.
- 60. Clopper C, Pearson ES: **The use of confidence or fiducial limits illustrated in the case of the binomial**. *Biometrika* 1943, **26:**403–413.

HIV-1 subtype C superinfected individuals mount low autologous neutralizing antibody responses prior to intrasubtype superinfection

Published in *Retrovirology*, 2012, 9:76.

Debby Basu performed all of the experiments in this manuscript (Figures 2-8, Supplementary Figures 1-4), except as follows:

Colleen S. Kraft generated the *env* single genome amplicons from superinfected individuals (Figure 1)

Peter T. Hraber performed the analysis of *env* diversification (Figure 1)

Debby Basu and Eric Hunter wrote the manuscript.

Abstract

Background

The potential role of antibodies in protection against intra-subtype HIV-1 superinfection remains to be understood. We compared the early neutralizing antibody (NAb) responses in three individuals, who were superinfected within one year of primary infection, to ten matched non-superinfected controls from a Zambian cohort of subtype C transmission cases. Sequence analysis of single genome amplified full-length *envs* from a previous study showed limited diversification in the individuals who became superinfected with the same HIV-1 subtype within year one post-seroconversion. We hypothesized that this reflected a blunted NAb response, which may have made these individuals more susceptible to superinfection.

Results

Neutralization assays showed that autologous plasma NAb responses to the earliest, and in some cases transmitted/founder, virus were delayed and had low to undetectable titers in all three superinfected individuals prior to superinfection. In contrast, NAb with a median IC50 titer of 1896 were detected as early as three months post-seroconversion in non-superinfected controls. Early plasma NAbs in all subjects showed limited but variable levels of heterologous neutralization breadth. Superinfected individuals also exhibited a trend toward lower levels of gp120- and V1V2-specific IgG binding antibodies but higher gp120-specific plasma IgA binding antibodies.

Conclusions

These data suggest that the lack of development of IgG antibodies, as reflected in autologous NAbs as well as gp120 and V1V2 binding antibodies to the primary infection

virus, combined with potentially competing, non-protective IgA antibodies, may increase susceptibility to superinfection in the context of settings where a single HIV-1 subtype predominates.

Keywords: HIV-1 superinfection, subtype C, neutralizing antibodies, HIV-1 transmission, HIV-1 dual infection

Background

To develop a cross-protective HIV-1 vaccine that provides immunological breadth against multiple strains, a comprehensive understanding of the immunologic and virologic interactions that occur during HIV-1 superinfection in clinically relevant populations is critical. HIV-1 superinfection refers to re-infection with a heterologous HIV-1 variant in an HIV-infected individual, who has had the opportunity to mount an immune response to the primary infection [1]. Elucidating immunological factors that may prevent superinfection (despite exposure to virus) will inform our understanding of possible correlates of protection from *de novo* infection, as well as what factors may contribute towards a successful vaccine-induced immune response.

Non-human primate studies have shown that neutralizing antibodies (NAbs) and passive transfer of broadly cross-reactive monoclonal antibodies can confer protection against simian-human immunodeficiency virus (SHIV) infection [2-7]. Results of the RV144 vaccine trial have also supported that specific humoral responses, including higher levels of V1V2-binding IgG antibodies, may have contributed to protection from primary HIV-1 infection in uninfected vaccinees, and that higher anti-Env plasma IgA levels may have contributed towards risk of primary HIV-1 infection in vaccinees [8,9]. Another approach to address the potential contribution of antibodies to protection from primary HIV-1 infection is to evaluate whether they decrease susceptibility to superinfection. Specifically, antibody responses in individuals who become superinfected versus those who are similarly exposed to exogenous virus but remain singly-infected can be evaluated for differences that may confer protection. NAb responses in the context of superinfection have been studied in subtype A [10,11] and B [12,13] HIV-1 infection, in addition to settings where multiple clades and recombinant species are common [10,14]. However, to date, there is no clear resolution of whether NAbs could play a role in modulating susceptibility to superinfection or whether trends observed in such studies were context-dependent.

Studies of a commercial sex worker (CSW) cohort in Mombasa, Kenya have shown HIV-1 intra- and inter-clade superinfections to occur during both early and chronic infection [10,11,15], with no significant difference in heterologous neutralization breadth or potency against a wide panel of cross-clade pseudoviruses in superinfected individuals versus non-superinfected matched controls prior to superinfection [10]. In contrast, intrasubtype B superinfections in an MSM cohort in San Diego have been shown to occur primarily during the first year of infection, with lower baseline NAb breadth to two lab-adapted strains and autologous viruses isolated from presuperinfection plasma [13]. Other subtype B studies have also shown, through mathematical modeling, a 21-fold reduction in the rate of superinfection after the first year of infection [16], consistent with some change in susceptibility. However, despite the fact that most new seroconversions in adults occur in heterosexual discordant couples [17] in subtype C endemic areas, the dynamics of early humoral responses in the context of superinfection in this cohort type have not been thoroughly examined.

We previously reported, from an HIV-1 discordant couple cohort in Lusaka, Zambia [17,18], a longitudinal study of 22 newly infected individuals, where three superinfection cases were identified (13.6%). HIV-1 superinfection was initially identified using a combination of screening methods with final confirmation by sequencing of single-genome amplified *env* genes [19]. In each case, superinfection was by a virus from a non-spousal partner during the first year of infection. In all cases, the superinfecting variant predominated and extensive recombination between superinfecting and initial variants occurred after the superinfection event. The finding that superinfections were commonly seen during early infection from outside partners implicated potential roles for sexual risk behavior [19] and early immune responses in modulating superinfection outcomes in this cohort. We have therefore investigated early antibody responses in these three intrasubtype C superinfected individuals and 10 of the 19 non-superinfected individuals from the same Zambian cohort of heterosexual couples.

These studies show that autologous plasma NAb titers to the early/founder viruses were low to undetectable in all three superinfected individuals prior to superinfection, whereas the majority of non-superinfected controls mounted early and strong autologous responses to the early/founder Env as early as three months post-seroconversion. Similarly, gp120 and V1V2-specific IgG antibody titers were higher in matched controls while gp120-specific plasma IgA titers were higher in two of three superinfected individuals, suggesting that reduced IgG and increased IgA humoral immune responses may influence the risk of superinfection in this subtype C cohort.

Materials and Methods

Study subjects

Heterosexual cohabiting couples in serodiscordant relationships were followed by the Zambia-Emory HIV Research Project (ZEHRP) in Lusaka, Zambia. ZEHRP provides couples' voluntary counseling and testing as well as condom provision, general health care, and family planning counseling to participating couples [18,39]. These strategies have been shown to effectively reduce transmission rates between partners in participating countries [17]. Couples are tested for HIV-positivity, as previously published [18,39-41]. Seroconversion of the initially uninfected partner occurs approximately 7-8% per year, and the new seroconverter is subsequently followed quarterly, with annual follow-up for the chronic partner. Plasma is collected at each visit from study participants, with informed consent and under human subject protocols approved by both the University of Zambia Research Ethics Committee and the Emory University Institutional Review Board.

Epidemiological linkage was determined as previously published; unlinked transmission pairs, in which the negative partner in the serodiscordant couple became infected from an individual outside of the partnership, were identified [42]. Twenty-two unlinked couples were chosen and screened for superinfection for up to 5.5 years of follow-up [19]. Viral RNA was extracted from plasma samples at the time of seroconversion and longitudinally thereafter using the QiaAMP Viral Mini Extraction kit for phylogenetic evaluation of viral sequences. Identified superinfected individuals were matched to 10 selected non-superinfected controls from the study [19] based on 1) time from the last seronegative to the first antigen or antibody positive sample, 2) seroconversion viral load, 3) subtype of infection and 4) occurrence of seroconversions within the same fiveyear interval. When possible, superinfected controls were matched to non-superinfected controls that had self-reported extra-marital (outside) partnerships (ZM249M, ZM184F). Underreporting of sexual exposures is common in this Zambian cohort [43], and in this study, all initial infections were identified as being epidemiologically unlinked, implicating risk for outside partnerships despite lack of self-reported cases.

Superinfection detection and characterization

Superinfections were identified by a combination of screening methods including phylogenetic analysis of gp41 and p24 gag population sequences, heteroduplex mobility assays using gp41 amplicons, and degenerate base counting of population sequences [19]. If individuals showed preliminary evidence of superinfection, longitudinal full-length *env* single genome amplification was performed using nested PCR [19,29,44,45] in order to confirm the presence of superinfection by phylogenetic analysis [19]. Sanger DNA sequencing was performed by the University of Alabama at Birmingham Center for AIDS Research (P30 A127767) DNA Sequencing Shared Facility using a 3730xl DNA Analyzer and BigDye Terminator v3.1 chemistry.

Phylogenetic analysis

Sequences were assembled and evaluated using Sequencher 4.10 (Gene Codes Corporation, Ann Arbor, MI) and Geneious Pro 5.4.6 (Biomatters Ltd, Auckland, New Zealand). Sequence alignments and neighbor-joining phylogenetic trees were generated using the Tamura-Nei genetic distance model with the bootstrap resampling method. Superinfecting variant gp41 sequences consistently had greater than 11% pairwise distance from the initial founder virus [19]. Single genome sequences of full-length *envs* were amplified from plasma samples from all superinfected individuals from the time of seroconversion and longitudinally for the first year. All *envs* were processed as described above for phylogenetic analysis. Highlighter plots (LANL HIV Sequence Database) were used to evaluate longitudinal evolution of full-length *env* sequences from the determined early/founder sequence (see below). These plots were generated using aligned nucleotide sequences of the initial infection sequences only; each colored hatch-mark represents a single nucleotide change from the early/founder *env* sequence (red = T, green = A, orange = G, light blue = C). For longitudinal pairwise distance analyses, we used codonaligned sequences to generate seroconversion consensus sequences, then computed raw pairwise distances to this consensus for each sequence sampled using R (version 2.15.0) with the package 'ape' (version 3.0-3) [46,47].

Amplification and cloning of full-length env genes

Phusion HotStart II Hi-Fidelity DNA polymerase (Finnzymes, Thermo Scientific) was used to amplify an average of 10 single genome full-length *env* amplicons per subject from plasma by nested PCR, as described elsewhere [45]. These amplicons were obtained from the time of seroconversion (Table 1, Additional file 1: Figure S1), and a sequence alignment was generated to establish the consensus from this time point. The amplicons whose sequences matched this consensus were typically representative of the founder virus envelope glycoproteins (Table 1, Additional file 1: Figure S1). Superinfecting virus amplicons were selected by comparing the chosen early/founder virus sequence against all *env* sequences at the time of superinfection detection and selecting the superinfecting *env* variant with the greatest pairwise distance from the early/founder virus *env* sequence [19]. These *env* genes were then directionally cloned using the pcDNA 3.1 Directional TOPO/v-His expression plasmid (Invitrogen), as previously described [21,22,29]. All clones were tested for biological function, sequenced, and co-transfected with *env*-defective subtype B provirus SG3 Δ Env into 293 T cells using FuGENE HD (Roche) to generate envelope pseudoviruses carrying patient-derived *env* genes [21-24,29]. Envelope pseudoviruses were harvested 48-hours post-transfection. JC53BL-13 (TZM-bl) cells were infected at five-fold serial dilutions of virus for 48 hours for viral titering, and infectious units were determined through β -galactosidase staining and counting positive infected blue foci, as previously described [21-24,29].

Neutralization assays & calculation of IC50 titers

Neutralization assays using the indicator cell line JC53BL-13 (TZM-bl) were performed, as previously described [21-25,29]. Briefly, two thousand infectious units of envelope pseudoviruses in 3.5% FBS DMEM with 40 μ g/ml DEAE-Dextran were incubated with five-fold serial dilutions of heat-inactivated patient plasma. Normal human plasma (NHP) was used to maintain an overall 10% concentration of plasma [22,25,29]. The virus-plasma mixture was added to seeded JC53BL-13 cells (plated and cultured overnight at 37°C) and incubated at 37°C for 48 hours, as previously described [22-25,29]. Cells were then lysed and luciferase was read for each well; luminescence was recorded accounting for background. Percent viral infectivity and correlating neutralization IC50 values (representing plasma dilution resulting in 50% viral infectivity) were determined using a linear-regression-least squares fit method, as described elsewhere [21-24,29]. For example, if 50% viral infectivity was achieved with a 1:2000 plasma dilution, the reported IC50 would be 2000. Each plasma-Env combination was tested in duplicate in each experiment and IC50 values shown represent mean IC50 values from at least two independent experiments. For studies of autologous plasma neutralization, plasma dilutions started at 1:100, while for heterologous breadth studies, we started at a 1:20 plasma dilution in order to increase sensitivity for low titers of cross-reactive neutralizing antibodies. For the autologous neutralization studies, we tested the first post-seroconversion plasma and all subsequent plasma samples available within approximately the first year of infection. Seroconversion plasma was not tested for neutralization, and was assumed to be at our limit of detection for these studies at an IC50 of 100.

Heterologous neutralizing breadth and potency scores

The Subtype C HIV-1 Reference Panel of Env Clones [27,28] was obtained from NIH AIDS Reference and Reagent Program, and pre-superinfection plasma in superinfected individuals (and contemporaneous samples from non-superinfected controls) was evaluated for heterologous breadth to the 12-pseudovirus panel. After generating viral infectivity curves, neutralization IC50 values were calculated for each plasma-virus combination. Each combination was tested in duplicate, and IC50 values were averaged between the wells. Any IC50 values that were not reached at the lowest plasma dilution tested (1:20) were assigned an IC50 value of 10. Neutralization breadth scores were determined by adding the number of pseudoviruses in the panel neutralized at an IC50 greater than 20, while potency scores were determined by dividing the plasma-virus IC50 by the median IC50 per virus (against all plasma samples) and adding the scores for each plasma sample [10,48]. All potency score values were rounded to the nearest integer. In one case (ZM249M), because plasma was tested against an autologous envelope clone in the panel, IC50 values from this plasma-Env combination were discarded from the calculations for breadth and potency scores.

gp120 binding ELISA

gp120 binding ELISAs were performed in triplicate as previously described [49]. Briefly, 96-well ELISA plates were coated overnight with 100 μ l (2 μ g/ml) purified gp120 protein (GeneART) from the Zambian subtype C seroconverter ZM205F [23,29] at 4°C. Plates were then washed six times with PBS-T (PBS containing 0.1% Tween-20) and blocked with 200 µl B3T (150 mM NaCl, 50 mM Tris-HCl, 1 mM EDTA, 3.3% FBS, 2% BSA, 0.07% Tween-20 in 500 ml ddH₂0) for 1 hour at 37°C in a CO₂-free incubator. Plates were washed again, and 100 μ /well of five-fold serially diluted heat-inactivated plasma was incubated for 1 hour at 37°C. After washing six times with PBS-T, 100 µl of diluted secondary antibody (HRP goat anti-human IgG) was added to each well for 1 hour at 37° C. After a final wash six times with PBS-T, 100 μ l of SureBlue TMB substrate solution (equilibrated to room temperature) was added to each well. Plates were incubated for 10 minutes at room temperature. In order to stop the reaction, 100 μ l of 1 N H₂SO₄ was added/well, and plates were read at 450 nm absorbance with a Biotek Synergy plate reader and luminometer. Wells coated with gp120 protein alone were used as blank control wells and were subtracted from absorbance readings, as described below in the Statistical analysis methods section.

This protocol was also adapted to measure plasma IgA levels, with the following changes: Test plasma was depleted of IgG using the GE Healthcare Protein G HP/Ab Spin Trap and was subsequently serially diluted five-fold at a starting concentration of 1:25 in B₃T blocking buffer. Results shown at 1:125 plasma dilution are representative of the trends observed across the serial dilution. The secondary antibody was changed to an HRPconjugated goat anti-human IgA antibody (InvivoGen). This assay was performed in duplicate with normal human plasma (NHP), autologous (ZM205F) 31-month plasma and Subtype C pooled plasma controls. Wells coated with gp120 protein alone were similarly used as blank control wells and were subtracted from absorbance readings.

V1V2 binding ELISA

A standard ELISA protocol was used to evaluate the presence of V1V2-specific IgG binding antibodies in heat-inactivated patient plasma (diluted 1:500 in 2% BLOTTO). Plates were coated with MuLVgp70-caseA2clB V1V2 [30] or MuLVgp70-conC V1V2 (consensus clade C) scaffolded proteins with MuLVgp70 carrier alone as a control. Positive absorbance was defined as absorbance greater than five times that of the uninfected normal human plasma control.

Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses compared responses between superinfected and nonsuperinfected groups. We performed the Wilcoxon rank sum test using the autologous neutralizing antibody IC50 titers obtained in the 5–8 month post-seroconversion time frame, which reflects the neutralizing antibody titers before superinfection. As subject ZM247F was superinfected at this time, for this subject alone we used the values obtained at 3 months post-seroconversion (which were equal to those obtained from 9and 12-month plasma).

To evaluate differences in gp120-specific IgG binding antibody levels in presuperinfection plasma in superinfected individuals and similar time points for controls, we evaluated gp120 binding ELISA data performed in triplicate. For each ELISA trial, we first found the baseline binding to purified gp120 protein – the lowest absorption value from the blank control wells. After adjusting for this baseline value, the experimental values were plotted, and the curve interpolated to find the titration corresponding to 50% of the highest binding absorption value of the curve. After all binding50 values were determined, we log-transformed the values for further analysis. A linear mixed effects model was used to determine whether the binding50 values were associated with superinfection status. Log-transformed binding50 values were used as the response variable, and the superinfection status was used as a predictor with fixed effect. The individual effects were modeled as random effects. We also calculated mean binding50 values for each test plasma and compared medians between superinfected and non-superinfected groups, using a Mann–Whitney test run in GraphPad Prism 5.od. We similarly adjusted test plasma absorption values for background binding (as measured in the blank control wells) in the gp120-specific IgA ELISA, and compared median absorption values between groups amongst both trials using a Mann–Whitney test run in GraphPad Prism 5.od.

Results

Limited Envelope (Env) diversification in the initially infecting virus prior to superinfection

In a previous study of superinfection within a subset of 22 newly infected individuals from the Zambia-Emory HIV Research Project (ZEHRP) discordant couple cohort [19], we identified three individuals who were superinfected from non-spousal partners within the first year of infection (detected 3–10 months post-seroconversion) with subtype C superinfecting variants.

As part of the previous study, we performed single genome amplification and sequencing of the *env* gene of the initially infecting virus at time points prior to superinfection. A phylogenetic evaluation of these longitudinal full-length env sequences showed remarkable homogeneity prior to superinfection for the two individuals in which superinfection was detected 9 and 10 months after primary infection. An example of this phenomenon is diagrammed via Highlighter plot for ZM282M in Figure 1A where few mutations were fixed over the first 10 months of infection. This is particularly clear when the pairwise distance of each amplicon sequence from that of the initial consensus sequence is plotted over time (Figure 1B-D). We observed a mean pairwise distance of only 0.1% prior to superinfection in both ZM282M and ZM211F, and less than 0.3% mean pairwise distance among all initially infecting variants of the three superinfected cases with respect to each individual's initial consensus sequence. This limited diversity contrasts with previous reports of approximately 1%/year during early infection [20]. Thus, from these panels, it is evident when superinfection was detectable (x-axis asterisk, Figure 1B-D) and that there was limited *env* sequence evolution prior to this event.

Neutralization of early/founder viruses during early infection

To evaluate early NAb responses in the three superinfected individuals, we matched the superinfected individuals to 10 of the 19 newly-infected non-superinfected unlinked partners. Matching parameters included subtype of infection, viral load at time of seroconversion, estimated time to infection, sample dates available, seroconversion in the same 5-year time span, and when possible, individuals self-reporting outside partnerships were included (Table 1). To test the hypothesis that lower titers of autologous NAb to the initial infection (early/founder Env) exist in the superinfected individuals, we utilized single genome amplification to obtain an average of 10 env amplicons (range 8–12) per individual (Additional file 1: Figure S1). After cloning of amplicons representing the consensus early/founder sequence (Table 1), we generated pseudoviruses carrying these Env glycoproteins for the three superinfected and the 10 singly-infected individuals. Using the standard JC53BL-13 (TZM-bl) neutralization assay [21-25], we tested autologous neutralization of the early/founder Envs by longitudinal plasma samples from the first year of infection. Viral infectivity curves plotting autologous neutralization of these early/founder variants were generated for each plasma time-point for each individual. Examples of these for the superinfected individuals and one non-superinfected control are shown in Figure 2A-D. Using these curves, plasma neutralizing antibody IC50 titers, which represent the plasma dilutions at which 50% of viral infectivities is achieved, were determined [22] over the course of the first year of infection for superinfected (Figure 3, dashed lines) and non-superinfected (non-SI) matched controls (Figure 3, solid lines).

Intrasubtype C superinfected individuals showed delayed kinetics and low-titer autologous NAb responses to the early/founder Env prior to detection of superinfection as compared to a majority of the non-superinfected controls, which had a median IC50 of 1896 as early as three-months post-seroconversion (Figure 3). Neutralization IC50 titers in the superinfected group were significantly lower at the pre-superinfection window of 5–8 months post-seroconversion compared to non-superinfected controls (p = 0.039). Although variable, neutralization kinetics and potency in the controls are similar to what has previously been shown [22,26], and are, therefore, an appropriate representation of typical early neutralization trends of subtype C infected seroconverters. A summary table (Figure 4A) of these autologous NAb IC50 titers highlights the early and strong responses seen in most non-superinfected controls, and the slower, low responses in superinfected individuals prior to superinfection. Non-superinfected controls that self-reported outside partnerships are bolded (Table 1 and Figure 4A).

Interestingly, IC50 titers in ZM211F and ZM282M, in which superinfection was detected at 9 and 10-months post-seroconversion, were very low (150 and <100, respectively) until the time point at which superinfection was detected (dashed line, Figure 2; asterisk, Figure 3), suggesting that infection with a distinct secondary variant may have elicited an immunological boost. In ZM247F, in which we detected superinfection at 3-months and an early predominance of the superinfecting variant [19], we could not detect titers of neutralizing antibodies greater than 100 to a founder variant even at 12 months (Figure 3); it was not until 15-months post-seroconversion, when evidence for re-emergence of the founder virus was observed [19], that neutralizing antibodies to the founder became measurable (IC50 of 1092; Additional file 1: Figure S2A).

Cross-neutralization of superinfecting viruses during early infection

To investigate further possible reasons for susceptibility to superinfection, we determined whether pre-superinfection plasma was capable of cross-neutralizing pseudoviruses carrying Env glycoproteins isolated from the time at which superinfection was first detected. No evidence for cross-neutralization of the superinfecting variants by autologous pre-superinfection plasma existed for any of the three cases (Figure 4B). However, these superinfecting variants were neutralized by pooled subtype C plasma with IC50s of 210–572, suggesting they are not inherently neutralization resistant (Additional file 1: Figure S3).

In the case of early superinfection in ZM247F, although neutralization of the founder Env was not observed until after the first year of infection (Additional file 1: Figure S2A), we did observe preferential neutralization of the superinfecting variant with titers increasing from 6–12 months after superinfection was detected (Additional file 1: Figure S2B). This likely reflects the predominance of the superinfecting virus from 3–12 months post-seroconversion [19].

Heterologous neutralization breadth potential prior to superinfection

To evaluate whether superinfected individuals also lacked cross-neutralizing antibody breadth, we determined the ability of pre-superinfection plasma (as compared to contemporaneous plasma from controls) from early infection to neutralize a subtype C reference panel of 12 pseudoviruses. This panel included envelopes with tier 1 ("easiest" to neutralize) and tier 2 (more difficult to neutralize) sensitivities [27,28].

For these studies, the lowest plasma dilution was decreased to 1:20 to increase sensitivity of the assay. Pre-superinfection 6-month plasma from ZM211F was not able to neutralize to 50% any of the subtype C pseudoviruses tested (Additional file 1: Figure S4B, Figure 5). ZM247F 3-month plasma was capable of cross-neutralizing two pseudoviruses at very low IC50s (20 and 35) and ZM282M 8-month plasma crossneutralized seven pseudoviruses at IC50s greater than 20 but less than 100 (Additional file 1: Figure S4C and 4A, Figure 5). Non-superinfected controls showed similarly limited capacity for cross-neutralization (Figure 5). Interestingly, three non-superinfected controls (ZM284M, ZM503F, ZM1072M) that had the lowest autologous titers over the first year (Figure 4A), had some of the widest cross-neutralizing capabilities (Figure 5), indicating that heterologous breadth and autologous neutralization are not always correlated, consistent with previously published results from this cohort [22].

Analysis of gp120 and V1V2-loop binding antibody levels prior to superinfection

Recent analyses of the RV144 vaccine trial in Thailand have implicated nonneutralizing antibodies in protection from acquisition of HIV-1. We therefore measured levels of gp120-specific binding IgG antibodies in pre-superinfection plasma for superinfected individuals (Figure 6A; ZM282M: red, ZM211F: orange, ZM247F: green) and similar time points for non-superinfected controls (grey). Log₁₀ values for 50% of maximum gp120 binding in this assay were determined and compared between superinfected and non-superinfected groups using a mixed linear effects model. While the plasma from superinfected individuals trended to lower titers, this was not significant (p = 0.115). Median values for 50% gp120-binding between the groups was also compared by Mann–Whitney test and showed similar results (Figure 6B, p = 0.161).

We also evaluated differences in gp120-specific plasma IgA levels in presuperinfection plasma in superinfected individuals versus similar time points for matched controls, since high plasma IgA levels were correlated with risk of HIV-1 infection in the RV144 trial [8]. Strikingly, two of the three superinfected individuals had the highest levels of plasma IgA amongst all study participants (Figure 7). Only two of the ten non-superinfected controls elicited these gp120-specific plasma IgA responses during early infection. These two matched controls were also the only non-superinfected individuals that had self-reported outside partnerships (a risk indicator of sexual exposure). When we compared the median absorption values between groups based on sexual exposure (superinfected individuals and non-superinfected individuals with self-reported outside partnerships against the non-superinfected individuals without self-reported outside partnerships) using a Mann–Whitney test we found that there was a statistically significant difference in plasma IgA levels between the groups (p = 0.005).

IgG antibodies binding to the V1V2-loop of gp120, which were correlated with protection in the RV144 vaccine trial [8,9], were also quantitated using the same MuLV gp70-V1V2 construct used in that study [30] as shown in Figure 8A. Plasma reactivity to a MuLVgp70-consensus clade C V1V2 construct was also tested (Figure 8B). None of the superinfected individuals showed evidence of binding antibodies to either V1V2 construct prior to or at the time of superinfection. In contrast, three of the ten nonsuperinfected controls showed evidence of antibodies capable of binding both constructs within the first 6 months of infection, with seven of the ten non-superinfected plasma samples binding to at least one V1V2 protein.

Discussion

In this study, we have shown that three intrasubtype C superinfected individuals, in whom superinfection was detected within the first year of infection, have low to undetectable titers of autologous NAbs to their early/founder Env prior to superinfection and as late as 8-months post-seroconversion. This is in sharp contrast to ten matched non-superinfected controls similarly evaluated for neutralization of early/founder variants over the first year of infection, of which a majority mounted very potent neutralizing activities. This occurred as early as three-months post-seroconversion, when the median IC50 was 1896. Despite the small size of this study, the differences in autologous NAb titers were significantly different between the two groups (p = 0.039), and suggest that slower development of a humoral immune response increased susceptibility to intra-subtype superinfection in this cohort.

This result is consistent with a previous study of a subtype B MSM cohort, where low titers of autologous and heterologous NAbs were observed in the three superinfected individuals relative to matched non-superinfected controls [13]. However in this same study, autologous pre-superinfection Envs were tested for neutralization only crosssectionally against contemporaneous pre-superinfection and post-superinfection plasma, and heterologous breadth assays were performed against only two lab-adapted subtype B strains. Moreover, there was no evaluation of cross-neutralization of the superinfecting virus using plasma prior to superinfection [13]. Nevertheless, there is a common observation that superinfection occurred during the first year of infection, and was associated with low autologous neutralizing antibody responses [13]. These results are consistent with the hypothesis that higher susceptibility to superinfection during early infection may be, in part, due to diminished early humoral responses.

A different conclusion was reached from a study of superinfection in HIV-1

infected commercial sex workers in Mombasa, Kenya [10]. There it was shown that while NAb breadth and potency were lower in superinfected individuals than in matched controls after approximately one year of infection, no difference in these parameters occurred immediately prior to superinfection (between 0.72-5 years post-infection) [10]. In 4/6 cases identified in that study, superinfection occurred at or after two years of the initial infection, potentially allowing for development of stronger, yet still not protective, NAb responses [10]. Thus in this multiple HIV-1 subtype sex worker cohort, NAb did not appear to provide any protection from superinfection. While the authors did not investigate autologous NAb responses to transmitted/founder Env glycoproteins in the study, responses to initial variants cloned from the time of superinfection detection and early Envs from within the first year of infection were evaluated [10].

To evaluate cross-neutralization breadth prior to superinfection, we evaluated the potential of pre-superinfection plasma to neutralize not only superinfecting variants, isolated at the time superinfection was detected, but also a subtype C reference panel of pseudoviruses. We found that pre-superinfection plasma was unable to neutralize superinfecting variants and had limited ability to cross-neutralize a panel of variants prior to superinfection, with a range of 0–7 (of 12) variants neutralized at very low IC50s (20–70) amongst all three superinfected cases. Heterologous breadth in non-superinfected control plasma samples was similarly limited, though some individuals did have greater breadth but not potency. These data are consistent with previous studies, which showed that early autologous NAbs in subtype C infection are monotypic with limited cross-neutralization potential [22,23,26,31,32]. Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that significant cross-neutralizing antibody breadth is unlikely to occur prior to chronic infection [33,34].

Heterologous neutralizing antibody breadth did not necessarily correlate with

strength or effectiveness of autologous NAb responses. Although some nonsuperinfected individuals clearly mount strong autologous responses, they may exhibit limited neutralizing breadth by primarily targeting single or nonconserved epitopes [22,23,25,26,31,32,35,36]. In contrast, others with relatively low-titer autologous responses may in fact have wider breadth to multiple epitopes (or different epitopes), none of which confers a particularly effective neutralizing antibody response to the established infecting variant. Thus, this study suggests that, in the context of intrasubtype superinfections, either the ability to potently neutralize autologous virus or to target multiple epitopes could provide protection against superinfection. However, in the absence of both of these humoral responses, individuals may be predisposed towards superinfection.

Based on the data suggesting early deficits in NAb responses in superinfected individuals, but with little evidence for broadly neutralizing antibodies in the matched controls, we investigated whether levels of non-neutralizing antibodies also differed in the two groups prior to superinfection. We observed that superinfected individuals trended towards having lower levels of gp120-specific IgG antibodies prior to superinfection compared to controls, although this comparison did not achieve statistical significance (p = 0.115).

Similarly, we observed no reactivity to either consensus clade C or caseA2clB (clade B) V1V2-loop fusion proteins [8,30] in plasma from superinfected individuals prior to superinfection. By contrast in 3/10 non-superinfected matched controls, we observed reactivity to both proteins during the first 6 months, and in 6/10 controls reactivity was seen against the consensus C protein during the first year of infection. Higher levels of IgG V1V2-loop binding antibodies have been correlated with protection from primary HIV-1 infection in vaccinees that remained uninfected in the RV144 trial

[8,9], and the data presented here are consistent with the concept that these antibodies may contribute toward protection in individuals that remained only singly-infected.

In the RV144 trial, levels of IgA antibodies capable of binding to gp120 were directly correlated with the risk of infection [8,9]. It is of interest, therefore, that two of the three superinfected individuals showed the highest anti-gp120 plasma IgA levels amongst all study participants, while only two of the ten matched controls demonstrated positive IgA binding titers. One superinfected individual, ZM211F, showed no evidence of anti-gp120 IgA reactivity. However, this is consistent with the low overall HIV-1 specific humoral responses observed, including the lowest levels of V1V2-loop and gp120-specific IgG binding antibodies prior to superinfection. We have also found a statistically significant difference in anti-gp120 plasma IgA levels with respect to sexual exposure and potential HIV-1 acquisition risk, in that individuals either with superinfection (as a result of outside partnerships) or self-reported outside partnerships (in nonsuperinfected individuals) had significantly higher anti-gp120 plasma IgA responses (p = 0.005), as compared to non-superinfected controls without self-reported outside partnerships. This data corroborates those drawn from the RV144 trial that high plasma IgA levels may be a surrogate of HIV-1 exposure or a potential correlate of risk in the context of primary HIV-1 infection [8] and superinfection. We have yet to evaluate the mechanism by which these differences in plasma IgA levels may affect susceptibility to infection, however it has been suggested that high levels of IgA may interfere with other potentially protective antibody-mediated effector functions such as antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) [8]. Non-neutralizing IgG antibodies could play a major role in increased mucosal barrier protection, sequestering the virus at the epithelial surface and in female genital tract mucus and contributing to Fc receptor-mediated antiviral activity [6,37,38]. Thus a diminished non-neutralizing IgG antibody response,

compounded by potentially interfering IgA antibodies, could lead to reduced mucosal protection and higher susceptibility to superinfection. Future studies will elucidate whether non-neutralizing antibody-mediated antiviral activities contribute to protection from superinfection.

Conclusions

Our previous study demonstrated three intrasubtype C superinfections during the first year of infection, with no evidence of superinfection beyond year one in 19 individuals, despite longitudinal follow-up for more than three years [19]. This observation suggested that the risk of superinfection may be highest during the first year of infection, as has been predicted by mathematical modeling in a subtype B cohort [16]. Here we evaluated the potential of the humoral immune response in natural infection to protect against superinfection. Autologous NAb responses were markedly delayed and lower in magnitude in superinfected individuals prior to superinfection detection (p = 0.039). Because of the strain-specific nature of early autologous NAb, this difference in titers may be a surrogate marker for a potential immunological deficit in protective antibodies or another factor contributing to effective humoral responses. Nevertheless, if confirmed in a larger ongoing study, these data provide support for the feasibility of inducing a protective immune response via an HIV-1 vaccine, in regions where subtype diversity is limited. It will be critical to understand the nature of vaccine-induced humoral responses and to what degree these antibodies can protect from de novo infection.

Acknowledgements

We gratefully recognize all of the RZHRG (Rwanda Zambia HIV Research Group) and ZEHRP (Zambia-Emory HIV Research Project) staff and the participants who made this study possible. We would also like to acknowledge Dr. Jesus Salazar (University of Alabama Birmingham) for contributing the ZM247Fv1-fs env clone and Dr. Chavdar Krachmarov, Kathy Revesz and William J. Honnen (Public Health Research Institute at the University of Medicine and Dentistry of New Jersey) for P623 (MuLVgp70caseA2clB V1V2), P621 (MuLV gp70 carrier control) and P2442 (MuLVgp70-conC V1V2) proteins. We obtained the Subtype C HIV-1 Reference Panel of Env Clones (cat *#* 11326) through the AIDS Research and Reference Reagent Program, Division of AIDS, NIAID, NIH.

This research was supported by grants from the National Institutes of Health (R37 AI-51235 (EH); R01 AI-58706 (CAD); U01 AI-78410 (AP), R56 AI091514-01A1 (PTH)) and the International AIDS Vaccine Initiative (SA). A Fogarty AITRP grant FIC 2D43 TW001042 supported WK. The Virology Core at the Emory Center for AIDS Research supported viral load testing (P30 AI050409). CSK was supported by an NRSA Institutional Postdoctoral Training Grant (T32 AI-007470) and National Institutes of Health/National Center for Research Resources (KL2 RR-025009). This project was also funded in part by the National Center for Research Resources P51RR165 and is currently supported by the Office of Research Infrastructure Programs/OD P510D11132.

Nucleotide sequences: GenBank SGA accession numbers for ZM247F: EU166821.1, EU166792.1, EU166799.1, EU166800.1, EU166802.1, EU166816.1, EU166819.1. GenBank accession numbers for longitudinal SGA from superinfected individuals [19]: JX239263 -

JX239437. GenBank accession numbers for full-length founder/early *env* SGA in this study: JX213352 - JX213473.



Figure 1. Homogeneity of early/founder env sequences prior to superinfection in three intrasubtype C superinfected individuals. Single genome amplified full-length env sequences were evaluated through Highlighter plots for visualization of viral evolution of early/founder variants. Nucleotide changes from the early/founder consensus env sequence can be visualized by the colored hatch-marks (red=T, green=A, orange=G, light blue=C) as shown with ZM282M (A), in which superinfection was detected at 10 months post-seroconversion (superinfecting sequences not shown). The time point from which amplicons were isolated is shown as months after seroconversion (o-month). Raw pairwise distance from the early/founder consensus sequence to each longitudinal env amplicon sequence (vertical axis) was plotted for the three superinfected cases (B-D). Asterisks on the x-axis indicate time at which superinfection was detected and
superinfecting sequences are included, clustering at 9-15% pairwise distance from initial consensus **(B-D)**.

Initial Virus	Env ^h	Founder	Early	Founder	Founder	Early	Early	Founder	Founder	Founder	Early	Founder	Early	Early
Outside	Partner ^g	Yes	٥N	No	No	No	No	No	Yes	No	No	No	No	Yes
Sex without	Condom ^f	7	e	26	0	e	0	0	25	8	-	8	4	6
Sex with	Condom ^f	78	11	112	144	108	68	65	145	188	97	75	41	39
Viral load	at SI ^e	300,000	14,454	43,428	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Estimated	timing of SI ^d	10	ი	3	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Setpoint	Viral Load ^c	253,000	14, 454	67,472	15,400	45,500	15,600	17,100	82,233	50,061	354,880	4,512	59,250	72,718
	Viral load [®]	>750,000	2640	>750,000	36,200	8,687	44,500	25,800	>750,000	>750,000	>750,000	399,737	44,870	71,290
Estimated	infection ^a	43	60	26	45	49	46	50	29	29	22	41	46	45
	FIRST Sample Uate	3-Mar-05	5-Jul-02	1-Nov-03	16-Aug-06	9-Jun-05	10-Mar-07	9-Feb-07	12-Aug-03	29-Jun-04	9-Apr-05	19-May-05	29-Jul-03	10-Jul-03
Last	Seronegative Date	8-Dec-04	15-Mar-02	29-Jul-03	19-May-06	4-Mar-05	9-Dec-06	2-Nov-06	6-May-03	23-Mar-04	14-Jan-05	30-Apr-05	29-Apr-03	11-Apr-03
	Subtype	ပ	ပ	ပ	ပ	υ	υ	ပ	υ	ပ	ပ	υ	ပ	υ
Linkage		Unlinked	Unlinked	Unlinked	Unlinked	Unlinked	Unlinked	Unlinked	Unlinked	Unlinked	Unlinked	Unlinked	Unlinked	Unlinked
Subject ID		ZM282M	ZM211F	ZM247F	ZM1072M	ZM297M	ZM1464M	ZM503F	ZM249M	ZM267F	ZM284M	ZM289M	ZM237M	ZM184F

Table 1. Seroconverters from ZEHRP cohort evaluated for longitudinal autologous neutralization of initial variants

Bolded subjects: superinfected individuals with evidence of superinfection from outsider partnerships or non-superinfected controls who self-reported outside partnerships ^aDays from time of infection to first sample date was calculated, as follows: If only first Ab+ dates were available, time of infection was determined by the midpoint between last seronegative and first Ab+ date. If Ag+Ab- dates were available, time of infection was estimated by subtracting 22 days from Ag+Ab- dates. (Haaland 2009)

Viral load: RNA copies/ml in plasma at 7-12 months post-senconversion
 Viral load: RNA copies/ml in plasma at 7-12 months post-senconversion
 ^dMonths post-seroconversion in which superinfection was detected
 ^e Viral load: RNA copies/ml in plasma at time of superinfection detection
 ^e Viral load: RNA copies/ml in plasma at time of superinfection detection
 ^e Viral load: RNA copies/ml in plasma at time of superinfection detection
 ^e Viral load: RNA copies/ml in plasma at time of superinfection detection
 ^e Viral load: RNA copies/ml in plasma at time of superinfection
 ^e Viral load: RNA copies/ml in plasma at time of superinfection
 ^e Viral load: RNA copies/ml in plasma at time of superinfection
 ^f Denotes whether initial virus Env tested represents a transmitted/founder Env or an early founder-like Env isolated from first sample date Abbreviations: superinfection (SI), Envelope (Env), Not Applicable (N/A)

100



Figure 2. Autologous neutralizing antibody responses to early/founder Env in superinfected individuals during early infection. Early/founder viruses were tested for

neutralization by autologous plasma from the first year of infection in superinfected (A-C) and non-superinfected controls (representative control shown in panel D). Dashed lines correspond to plasma from the time point at which superinfection was detected. Percent viral infectivity is depicted on the vertical axis, and reciprocal plasma dilution is depicted along the horizontal axis, in logarithmic fashion. Each curve represents a single plasma-virus combination, performed in duplicate wells. Error bars represent standard error of the mean between two independent experiments.



Figure 3. Development of autologous neutralizing antibodies to early/founder virus Env is slow or absent prior to superinfection. Plasma neutralizing antibody IC50 titers (representing plasma dilution necessary to achieve 50% viral infectivity) to early/founder virus Env were determined over the course of the first year of infection for three superinfected (dashed lines) and ten non-superinfected matched controls (solid lines). Values represent mean IC50 values from two independent experiments. Asterisks mark time at which superinfection was detected in the superinfected cases.

<u>A.</u>				
Founder Env Pseudovirus	1st plasma time point	2nd plasma time point	3rd plasma time point	4th plasma time point
	1-4 month	5 - 8 month	9-10 month	11-15 month
ZM282M – SI	<100	<100	1120*	713
ZM211F – SI	<100	150	1683*	1950
ZM247F – SI	<100*		<100	<100
ZM1072M – Non-SI	<100	<100	178	266
ZM297M – Non-SI	2609	6413	6799	6329
ZM1464M – Non-SI	4464	10185	7133	
ZM503F – Non-SI	<100		1157	2011
ZM249M – Non-SI	268	6114		11037
ZM267F – Non-SI	1183	10286		17297
ZM284M – Non-SI	<100	299	690	976
ZM289M – Non-SI	5083	6540	17090	12045
ZM237M – Non-SI	3238	12490	20240	16034
ZM184F – Non-SI	3840			7404

Β. Superinfecting Env 2nd plasma 3rd plasma 4th plasma 1st plasma time point time point Pseudovirus time point time point 3 month 5 - 8 month 9-10 month 11-13 month ZM282M – SI <100 <100 <100 <100 ZM211F – SI <100 <100 <100 * <100 ZM247F – SI <100 * 1865 282 IC50 value key <100 100-1000 1001 -10,000 10,000+

Figure 4. Summary of neutralization titers to initial and superinfecting variants.

Plasma neutralizing antibody IC50 titers to the transmitted founder virus Env were determined over the course of the first year of infection for three superinfected (ZM282M, ZM211F and ZM247F, bolded) and ten non-superinfected (non-SI) case-matched controls (A). Non-superinfected controls that had self-reported outside partnerships are also bolded. Similarly, IC50s to superinfecting variants were determined over the course of the first year of infection for all three superinfected cases (B). Values represent mean IC50 values from two independent experiments. Asterisks mark time in which superinfection was detected in the superinfected cases.



Figure 5. Cross-neutralizing Breadth and Potency against HIV-1 Subtype C Env Reference Panel. Bolded individuals represent superinfected individuals with evidence of superinfection from outsider partnerships (ZM282M, ZM211F and ZM247F) or nonsuperinfected controls who self-reported outside partnerships. Pre-superinfection plasma for superinfected individuals or similar plasma time points for non-superinfected controls was tested against a panel of twelve Subtype C envelope pseudoviruses. This panel included Envs of both Tier 1b and Tier 2 sensitivities. Starting plasma dilution was reduced to 1:20 to increase assay sensitivity. Plasma-env combinations, which did not reach an IC50 value at the lowest dilution tested (1:20), were assigned a value of 10. Breadth score was calculated by adding the total number of envelopes neutralized at an IC50 greater than or equal to 20. Potency score was calculated by dividing individual plasma-env IC50 by median IC50 per envelope against all plasma and then adding the sum of these scores (rounded to the nearest integer) for each plasma. "Auto" indicates that a plasma sample was tested against an autologous envelope in the panel, IC50 values were not counted in breadth and potency scores.



Figure 6. Plasma IgG binding antibody levels to purified subtype C gp120 protein is also reduced in superinfected individuals. Purified gp120 protein from the Zambian subtype C seroconverter ZM205F [23, 44] was used with serial dilutions of plasma in a gp120 binding ELISA. Autologous plasma from ZM205F was used as a positive control for presence of gp120-specific binding antibodies (blue). Levels of gp120-specific IgG binding antibodies in plasma from time points prior to superinfection for superinfected

individuals (ZM282M: red, ZM211F: orange) and similar plasma time points for nonsuperinfected controls (grey) was measured as shown in panel **A**. For ZM247F, in which superinfection was detected at 3-months post-seroconversion, we tested this 3-month plasma (green). Values for 50% gp120 binding in this assay were determined and compared between superinfected and non-superinfected groups (**B**) using both a mixedlinear effects model (p=0.115) and a Mann-Whitney test to compare medians between the groups (p=0.161).



Subtype C Seroconverters (plasma mo post-seroconversion)

Figure 7. Plasma IgA levels to purified subtype C gp120 protein are highest in two of the three superinfected individuals. Purified gp120 protein from the Zambian subtype C seroconverter ZM205F [23, 44] was used with serial dilutions of IgG-depleted plasma in a gp120 binding ELISA. Autologous plasma from ZM205F was used as a positive control for presence of gp120-specific binding antibodies (dark blue). Levels of gp120-specific IgA binding antibodies in IgG-depleted plasma from time points prior to superinfection for superinfected individuals (ZM282M: red, ZM211F: orange) and similar plasma time points for non-superinfected controls (grey) was measured at a 1:125 plasma dilution. For ZM247F, in which superinfection was detected at 3-months post-seroconversion, we tested this 3-month plasma (green). Positive absorption was recognized as absorption

greater than five-times that of the normal human plasma (NHP) control and is shown as a dashed line.



Figure 8. Plasma binding antibodies to both clade B and C gp120 V1V2-loop proteins are absent in superinfected individuals prior to superinfection. Plasma reactivity (at a single 1:500 dilution) to both P623 MuLVgp70-caseA2clBV1V2 [29] **(A)** and P2442 MuLVgp70-consensus clade C V1V2 **(B)** proteins was measured in a standard ELISA

assay. Longitudinal plasma from the first year of infection in both superinfected (colored) and non-superinfected (grey) controls was tested. Asterisks denote time at which superinfection was detected. Positive absorption was recognized as absorption greater than five-times that of the normal human plasma (NHP) control and is shown as a dashed line. Figure is representative of two independent experiments.



Figure S1. Radial neighbor-joining phylogenetic tree of full-length env amplicon sequences. This phylogenetic tree shows sequences of all full-length gp160 *env* amplicons isolated from time of seroconversion evaluated in this study in order to infer the subtype C early/founder Envs tested (red). Additional amplicons tested are shown in maroon, though no functional difference in neutralization phenotype between amplicons of the same patient was seen (data not shown). Sequences of Envs from the Subtype C HIV-1 Reference Panel of Env Clones panel [27, 28] are also shown (blue).

Α



Figure S2. Preferential neutralization of superinfecting virus Env is observed in one case of early intrasubtype C superinfection. Autologous neutralizing antibody responses to both founder Env (A) and superinfecting Env (B) were measured over the first two years for ZM247F, in which superinfection was detected at 3-months post-seroconversion. Percent viral infectivity is depicted on the vertical axis and reciprocal plasma dilution is depicted along the horizontal axis, in logarithmic fashion. Each curve

represents a single plasma-virus combination, performed in duplicate wells. Error bars represent standard error of the mean between two independent experiments.



Figure S3. Superinfecting viruses are sensitive to neutralization by pooled subtype C plasma. We tested the ability of pooled subtype C plasma to neutralize superinfecting pseudoviruses from all three superinfected cases, in addition to SS1196.1 pseudovirus (carrying an envelope with Tier1b sensitivity) for comparison [27]. Percent viral infectivity is depicted on the vertical axis and reciprocal plasma dilution is depicted along the horizontal axis, in logarithmic fashion. Each curve represents a single plasma-virus combination, performed in duplicate wells. Error bars represent standard error of the mean between two independent experiments.



Figure S4. Limited heterologous neutralizing antibody breadth in superinfected individuals prior to superinfection. Plasma from pre-superinfection (A, B) or early

superinfection (SI), in the case of ZM247F **(C)**, time points was tested for heterologous neutralization to a subtype C Env reference panel. This panel included Envs of both Tier 1b and Tier 2 sensitivities [27, 28]. Starting plasma dilution was reduced to 1:20 to increase assay sensitivity. Percent viral infectivity is depicted on the vertical axis and reciprocal plasma dilution is depicted along the horizontal axis, in logarithmic fashion. Each curve represents a single plasma-virus combination, performed in duplicate wells. Error bars represent standard error of the mean between two independent experiments.

References

- Allen TM, Altfeld M: HIV-1 superinfection. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2003, 112:829-835.
- Hessell AJ, Poignard P, Hunter M, Hangartner L, Tehrani DM, Bleeker WK, Parren PW, Marx PA, Burton DR: Effective, low-titer antibody protection against low-dose repeated mucosal SHIV challenge in macaques. *Nat Med* 2009, 15:951-954.
- Hessell AJ, Rakasz EG, Poignard P, Hangartner L, Landucci G, Forthal DN, Koff WC, Watkins DI, Burton DR: Broadly neutralizing human anti-HIV antibody
 2G12 is effective in protection against mucosal SHIV challenge even at low serum neutralizing titers. *PLoS Pathog* 2009, 5:e1000433.
- 4. Mascola JR, Lewis MG, Stiegler G, Harris D, VanCott TC, Hayes D, Louder MK, Brown CR, Sapan CV, Frankel SS, *et al.*: Protection of Macaques against pathogenic simian/human immunodeficiency virus 89.6PD by passive transfer of neutralizing antibodies. *J Virol* 1999, 73:4009-4018.
- 5. Mascola JR, Stiegler G, VanCott TC, Katinger H, Carpenter CB, Hanson CE, Beary H, Hayes D, Frankel SS, Birx DL, Lewis MG: Protection of macaques against vaginal transmission of a pathogenic HIV-1/SIV chimeric virus by passive infusion of neutralizing antibodies. Nat Med 2000, 6:207-210.
- 6. McElrath MJ, Haynes BF: Induction of immunity to human immunodeficiency virus type-1 by vaccination. *Immunity* 2010, 33:542-554.
- 7. Veazey RS, Shattock RJ, Pope M, Kirijan JC, Jones J, Hu Q, Ketas T, Marx PA, Klasse PJ, Burton DR, Moore JP: Prevention of virus transmission to macaque monkeys by a vaginally applied monoclonal antibody to HIV-1 gp120. Nat Med 2003, 9:343-346.

- Haynes BF, Gilbert PB, McElrath MJ, Zolla-Pazner S, Tomaras GD, Alam SM, Evans DT, Montefiori DC, Karnasuta C, Sutthent R, *et al.*: Immune-correlates analysis of an HIV-1 vaccine efficacy trial. *N Engl J Med* 2012, 366:1275-1286.
- McMichael AJ, Haynes BF: Lessons learned from HIV-1 vaccine trials: new priorities and directions. Nat Immunol 2012, 13:423-427.
- Blish CA, Dogan OC, Derby NR, Nguyen MA, Chohan B, Richardson BA, Overbaugh
 J: Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 superinfection occurs despite relatively
 robust neutralizing antibody responses. J Virol 2008, 82:12094-12103.
- Piantadosi A, Chohan B, Chohan V, McClelland RS, Overbaugh J: Chronic HIV-1 infection frequently fails to protect against superinfection. *PLoS Pathog* 2007, 3:e177.
- 12. Altfeld M, Allen TM, Yu XG, Johnston MN, Agrawal D, Korber BT, Montefiori DC, O'Connor DH, Davis BT, Lee PK, *et al.*: HIV-1 superinfection despite broad
 CD8+ T-cell responses containing replication of the primary virus.
 Nature 2002, 420:434-439.
- 13. Smith DM, Strain MC, Frost SD, Pillai SK, Wong JK, Wrin T, Liu Y, Petropolous CJ, Daar ES, Little SJ, Richman DD: Lack of neutralizing antibody response to HIV-1 predisposes to superinfection. *Virology* 2006, 355:1-5.
- 14. Powell RL, Kinge T, Nyambi PN: Infection by discordant strains of HIV-1 markedly enhances the neutralizing antibody response against heterologous virus. J Virol 2010, 84:9415-9426.
- 15. Cortez V, Odem-Davis K, McClelland RS, Jaoko W, Overbaugh J: HIV-1 Superinfection in Women Broadens and Strengthens the Neutralizing Antibody Response. *PLoS Pathog* 2012, 8:e1002611.
- 16. Bragg L, McConnell J, Leigler T, Bacchetti P, Spotts G, Hecht F, Grant R: HIV-1 superinfection surveillance in an acute infection cohort using pol

sequences from resistance genotyping: 1996–2009. In *Abstract Conference* on *Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections*. , San Francisco, CA; 2010.

- 17. Dunkle KL, Stephenson R, Karita E, Chomba E, Kayitenkore K, Vwalika C, Greenberg L, Allen S: New heterosexually transmitted HIV infections in married or cohabiting couples in urban Zambia and Rwanda: an analysis of survey and clinical data. Lancet 2008, 371:2183-2191.
- 18. Allen S, Karita E, Chomba E, Roth DL, Telfair J, Zulu I, Clark L, Kancheya N, Conkling M, Stephenson R, et al.: Promotion of couples' voluntary counselling and testing for HIV through influential networks in two African capital cities. BMC Publ Health 2007, 7:349.
- 19. Kraft CS, Basu D, Hawkins PA, Hraber PT, Chomba E, Mulenga J, Kilembe W, Khu NH, Derdeyn CA, Allen SA, et al.: Timing and source of subtype-C HIV-1 superinfection in the newly infected partner of Zambian couples with disparate viruses. Retrovirology 2012, 9:22.
- 20. Shankarappa R, Margolick JB, Gange SJ, Rodrigo AG, Upchurch D, Farzadegan H, Gupta P, Rinaldo CR, Learn GH, He X, *et al.*: **Consistent viral evolutionary changes associated with the progression of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection.** *J Virol* 1999, **73**:10489-10502.
- 21. Derdeyn CA, Decker JM, Bibollet-Ruche F, Mokili JL, Muldoon M, Denham SA, Heil ML, Kasolo F, Musonda R, Hahn BH, et al.: Envelope-constrained neutralization-sensitive HIV-1 after heterosexual transmission. Science 2004, 303:2019-2022.
- 22. Li B, Decker JM, Johnson RW, Bibollet-Ruche F, Wei X, Mulenga J, Allen S, Hunter E, Hahn BH, Shaw GM, *et al.*: **Evidence for potent autologous neutralizing antibody titers and compact envelopes in early infection with subtype C human immunodeficiency virus type 1.** *J Virol* 2006, **80**:5211-5218.

- 23. Lynch RM, Rong R, Boliar S, Sethi A, Li B, Mulenga J, Allen S, Robinson JE, Gnanakaran S, Derdeyn CA: The B cell response is redundant and highly focused on V1V2 during early subtype C infection in a Zambian seroconverter. J Virol 2011, 85:905-915.
- 24. Lynch RM, Rong R, Li B, Shen T, Honnen W, Mulenga J, Allen S, Pinter A, Gnanakaran S, Derdeyn CA: Subtype-specific conservation of isoleucine 309 in the envelope V3 domain is linked to immune evasion in subtype C HIV-1 infection. *Virology* 2010, 404:59-70.
- 25. Wei X, Decker JM, Wang S, Hui H, Kappes JC, Wu X, Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Salazar MG, Kilby JM, Saag MS, et al.: Antibody neutralization and escape by HIV-1. Nature 2003, 422:307-312.
- 26. Gray ES, Moore PL, Choge IA, Decker JM, Bibollet-Ruche F, Li H, Leseka N, Treurnicht F, Mlisana K, Shaw GM, *et al.*: Neutralizing antibody responses in acute human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtype C infection. *J Virol* 2007, 81:6187-6196.
- 27. Li M, Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Derdeyn CA, Morris L, Williamson C, Robinson JE, Decker JM, Li Y, Salazar MG, Polonis VR, *et al.*: Genetic and neutralization properties of subtype C human immunodeficiency virus type 1 molecular env clones from acute and early heterosexually acquired infections in Southern Africa. *J Virol* 2006, 80:11776-11790.
- 28. Seaman MS, Janes H, Hawkins N, Grandpre LE, Devoy C, Giri A, Coffey RT, Harris L, Wood B, Daniels MG, et al.: Tiered categorization of a diverse panel of HIV-1 Env pseudoviruses for assessment of neutralizing antibodies. J Virol 2010, 84:1439-1452.
- 29. Rong R, Li B, Lynch RM, Haaland RE, Murphy MK, Mulenga J, Allen SA, Pinter A, Shaw GM, Hunter E, *et al.*: **Escape from autologous neutralizing antibodies**

in acute/early subtype C HIV-1 infection requires multiple pathways. *PLoS Pathog* 2009, **5**:e1000594.

- 30. Pinter A, Honnen WJ, Kayman SC, Trochev O, Wu Z: Potent neutralization of primary HIV-1 isolates by antibodies directed against epitopes present in the V1/V2 domain of HIV-1 gp120. Vaccine 1998, 16:1803-1811.
- 31. Moore PL, Gray ES, Morris L: Specificity of the autologous neutralizing antibody response. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS* 2009, 4:358-363.
- 32. Moore PL, Ranchobe N, Lambson BE, Gray ES, Cave E, Abrahams MR, Bandawe G, Mlisana K, Abdool Karim SS, Williamson C, Morris L: Limited neutralizing antibody specificities drive neutralization escape in early HIV-1 subtype C infection. *PLoS Pathog* 2009, 5:e1000598.
- 33. Gray ES, Madiga MC, Hermanus T, Moore PL, Wibmer CK, Tumba NL, Werner L, Mlisana K, Sibeko S, Williamson C, et al.: The neutralization breadth of HIV-1 develops incrementally over four years and is associated with CD4+ T cell decline and high viral load during acute infection. J Virol 2011, 85:4828-4840.
- 34. Stamatatos L, Morris L, Burton DR, Mascola JR: Neutralizing antibodies generated during natural HIV-1 infection: good news for an HIV-1 vaccine? Nat Med 2009, 15:866-870.
- 35. Frost SD, Wrin T, Smith DM, Kosakovsky Pond SL, Liu Y, Paxinos E, Chappey C, Galovich J, Beauchaine J, Petropoulos CJ, *et al.*: Neutralizing antibody responses drive the evolution of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope during recent HIV infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2005, 102:18514-18519.
- 36. Richman DD, Wrin T, Little SJ, Petropoulos CJ: Rapid evolution of the neutralizing antibody response to HIV type 1 infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci*

USA 2003, **100:**4144-4149.

- 37. Hessell AJ, Hangartner L, Hunter M, Havenith CE, Beurskens FJ, Bakker JM, Lanigan CM, Landucci G, Forthal DN, Parren PW, *et al.*: **Fc receptor but not complement binding is important in antibody protection against HIV.** *Nature* 2007, **449**:101-104.
- 38. Hope TJ: Moving ahead an HIV vaccine: to neutralize or not, a key HIV vaccine question. *Nat Med* 2011, 17:1195-1197.
- 39. McKenna SL, Muyinda GK, Roth D, Mwali M, Ng'andu N, Myrick A, Luo C, Priddy FH, Hall VM, von Lieven AA, *et al.*: **Rapid HIV testing and counseling for voluntary testing centers in Africa.** *AIDS* 1997, **11**(Suppl 1):S103-110.
- 40. Boeras DI, Luisi N, Karita E, McKinney S, Sharkey T, Keeling M, Chomba E, Kraft C, Wall K, Bizimana J, et al.: Indeterminate and discrepant rapid HIV test results in couples' HIV testing and counselling centres in Africa. J Int AIDS Soc 2011, 14:18.
- 41. Kempf MC, Allen S, Zulu I, Kancheya N, Stephenson R, Brill I, Tichacek A, Haworth A, Chomba E: Enrollment and retention of HIV discordant couples in Lusaka, Zambia. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2008, 47:116-125.
- 42. Trask SA, Derdeyn CA, Fideli U, Chen Y, Meleth S, Kasolo F, Musonda R, Hunter E, Gao F, Allen S, Hahn BH: Molecular epidemiology of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 transmission in a heterosexual cohort of discordant couples in Zambia. *J Virol* 2002, 76:397-405.
- 43. Allen S, Meinzen-Derr L, Kautzman M, Zulu I, Trask S, Fideli U, Musonda R, Kasolo F, Gao F, Haworth A: Sexual behavior of HIV discordant couples after HIV counseling and testing. *AIDS* 2003, 17:733-740.
- 44. Haaland RE, Hawkins PA, Salazar-Gonzalez J, Johnson A, Tichacek A, Karita E, Manigart O, Mulenga J, Keele BF, Shaw GM, *et al.*: **Inflammatory genital**

infections mitigate a severe genetic bottleneck in heterosexual transmission of subtype A and C HIV-1. *PLoS Pathog* 2009, **5**:e1000274.

- 45. Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Bailes E, Pham KT, Salazar MG, Guffey MB, Keele BF, Derdeyn CA, Farmer P, Hunter E, Allen S, *et al.*: **Deciphering human immunodeficiency virus type 1 transmission and early envelope diversification by singlegenome amplification and sequencing.** *J Virol* 2008, **82:**3952-3970.
- 46. Paradis E: Analysis of Phylogenetics and Evolution with R, Second Edition. Springer, New York; 2012:1-386.
- 47. Paradis E, Claude J, Strimmer K: APE: Analyses of Phylogenetics and Evolution in R language. *Bioinformatics* 2004, 20:289-290.
- 48. Lynch JB, Nduati R, Blish CA, Richardson BA, Mabuka JM, Jalalian-Lechak Z, John-Stewart G, Overbaugh J: The breadth and potency of passively acquired human immunodeficiency virus type 1-specific neutralizing antibodies do not correlate with the risk of infant infection. J Virol 2011, 85:5252-5261.
- 49. Wu X, Yang ZY, Li Y, Hogerkorp CM, Schief WR, Seaman MS, Zhou T, Schmidt SD, Wu L, Xu L, et al.: Rational design of envelope identifies broadly neutralizing human monoclonal antibodies to HIV-1. Science 2010, 329:856-861.

Chapter 4: Discussion

Hope for an HIV-1 Vaccine

To date, over 187 clinical trials have been initiated to test potential HIV-1 vaccine immunogens and identify promising candidates for relevant human vaccine efficacy trials and subsequent licensure of a global HIV-1 vaccine [200]. The ultimate goal of an HIV-1 vaccine would be one that confers sterilizing immunity (complete protection from HIV-1 infection). However, another strategy would be to elicit vaccine-induced control of viremia and subsequent immunopathology, limiting establishment of a latent reservoir and the potential for transmission to a new host [201]. These options are not mutually exclusive, though, and a truly successful HIV-1 vaccine will likely induce both protective antibodies and cellular immunity capable of controlling viremia in the event of incomplete sterilizing immunity.

For a vaccine to be licensed, however, reliable and consistent results demonstrating vaccine-elicited correlates of protection must be shown [202]. The correlates of protection from HIV-1 infection have yet to be firmly identified despite numerous approaches, including passive transfer studies in animal models, evaluation of individuals with apparent resistance to HIV-1 acquisition (highly exposed but seronegative individuals, individuals with delta32 CCR5 polymorphism, etc.), consideration of immune factors affecting HIV-1 superinfection and of course, evaluation of immune responses in individuals vaccinated with different HIV-1 vaccine immunogens under various vaccination regimens. This discussion will cover the lessons learned about the correlates of protection from major phase IIb and III vaccine trials. In addition, it will focus on superinfection studies, which have provided another natural model by which to consider primary immune responses affecting susceptibility to and potential protection from re-infection.

Although the correlates of HIV-1 protection have yet to be concretely defined, there are some things that are known: 1) all licensed vaccines for infectious diseases rely to some degree on neutralizing antibodies as a correlate of protective immunity [87], 2) passive antibody transfer studies have supported the idea that neutralizing antibodies can protect from acquisition in animal models of HIV/SHIV infection [203], 3) historically, HIV-1 vaccines that have solely sought to elicit CD8+ T cell mediated immunity have not been protective against HIV-1 acquisition [204], 4) recent evidence of vaccine-mediated humoral immunity (through Env-specific non-neutralizing antibodies) has been identified in the immune correlates analysis of the RV144 vaccine efficacy trial [93], 5) broadly neutralizing antibodies (bnAbs) have been identified which can neutralize heterologous primary isolates from multiple subtypes (though these bnAbs are rare and as of yet, have not been easily elicited) [205], and finally, 6) in some cases, individuals who become superinfected with HIV-1 lack potent titers of protective antibodies prior to superinfection, again implicating antibodies as a potential direct correlate or indirect surrogate marker of protection [177, 185]. Despite the fact that cellular immunity via CD8+ T cells will undoubtedly need to be elicited for viral control in the event of breakthrough infections, these aforementioned facts support the notion that vaccine-mediated protection from HIV-1 acquisition may be possible through Envspecific antibodies. However, pinpointing what immunogens may best elicit this protection is one of the major questions facing the field of HIV vaccinology.

Many of the early vaccine trials focused on Env immunogens (in the form of monomeric gp120 glycoprotein or the gp160 Env precursor) isolated from early labadapted HIV-1 strains (e.g. IIIB, MN, SF2) rather than primary HIV-1 isolates [201]. Env was initially pursued as a putative vaccine immunogen since it was shown in passive transfer studies that neutralizing antibodies and cross-reactive monoclonal antibodies to Env could confer protection in the setting of chimeric simian-HIV (SHIV) or HIV-1 challenge in animal models [82-91, 94-96]. However, although several of these Env immunogens (including the phase III bivalent Vaxoo3 AIDSVAX subtype B/E gp120 in alum and phase III bivalent Vaxoo4 AIDSVAX subtype B/B gp120 in alum vaccines) generated neutralizing antibodies to the vaccine strain (and in some cases other easy-toneutralize Tier 1 viruses like SF162 and BaL), these Nabs did not appear to confer protection from infection with primary HIV-1 isolates or affect plasma viral load after infection [201, 206-208]. In addition, this vaccine-mediated Nab response was often short-lived with a half-life of around 8-weeks [201]. These trials suggested that the Nab responses elicited by these constructs were not useful for eliciting enduring vaccinemediated cross-protection from primary HIV-1 isolates.

T-cell based vaccines have also resulted in major disappointment in human vaccine efficacy trials, despite showing promising efficacy in long-term non-human primate studies. A huge blow to the HIV vaccine field was the failure of the phase IIb Merck Step trial (HVTN 502) in 2008. The results showed not only a lack of protection from HIV-1 infection, but also an increased risk of HIV-1 acquisition in uncircumcised vaccinated men who had pre-existing immunity (Nab) to the vaccine vector construct of Adenovirus 5 (Ad5) [209]. This vaccine, which was composed of a recombinant Ad5 vector with Subtype B HIV-1 Gag, Pol and Nef, relied on eliciting protective CD8+ T-cell mediated immunity. Although it appears that cellular pressure was applied to the founder virus, as evident from immune escape mutations in breakthrough viruses [200, 210], the T cell response generated by this vaccine did not show any ability to reduce plasma viral load [209]. The Gag, Pol and Nef viral sequences that were chosen as the immunogens in this vaccine were based on native sequences from Subtype B primary isolates resembling subtype B consensus [204]. Vaccinees were high-risk MSM and heterosexual men and women largely in the Americas, Australia and the Caribbean. The Phambili trial (HVTN503), using the same Ad5-based vaccine as HVTN502, also failed

to show any protective efficacy or reduction in viral load in a population of heterosexual men and women from South Africa (regionally affected by Subtype C HIV-1). Similarly, follow-up analyses of this study also showed a slightly higher incidence of infection in vaccinees [211].

These studies gave little hope for the feasibility of an HIV-1 vaccine eliciting either Ab-based or CTL-based responses in isolation. Rather, an Env-based component will likely be required for the best protection from HIV-1 acquisition via protective antibodies, while a vaccine would also need a potent cellular immune response for viral control. Though this cell-mediated viral control has yet to be observed in human vaccine efficacy trials, replication-competent cytomegalovirus (CMV)-based vectors for SIV vaccination in Rhesus macaque models have shown a surprising early and durable control of SIV viremia in animals that later became infected, which was attributed to the presence of vaccine-induced effector memory T cells at sites of SIV replication [97, 204, 212].

In addition, whether cell-mediated immunity should target conserved regions of the virus that would result in a loss of fitness should it try to escape, or whether constructs should be designed to generate responses to a wider breadth of viral regions continues to be evaluated. A recent study by Barouch et al. showed that in the setting of Rhesus macaques vaccinated with a combination of adenovirus and poxvirus vectors expressing SIV antigens and multiply-challenged with heterologous SIV_{mac}251 virus, viral control was dependent on the magnitude and breadth of Gag-specific CD8+ T cell responses. However, protection from SIV acquisition was entirely dependent on Env, specifically in eliciting Env-binding and Tier 1 neutralizing antibodies [97, 204, 213].

These studies reiterate the idea that protection from HIV-1 infection will rely on the generation of Env-specific antibodies. Identifying the most relevant and effective Env immunogen to elicit protective antibody responses from a vaccine is still an area of intense research, and protective vaccine-mediated humoral immunity has only recently been shown. Prior to 2009, the question of whether protective immunity could be generated from an HIV vaccine was a very real and disheartening concern. However in 2009, surprising results of a vaccine efficacy trial called RV144, which used two constructs previously shown to lack efficacy in isolation and in a different risk group of vaccinees (Thai IDU), demonstrated a moderate 31.2% reduction in risk from HIV-1 infection in relatively low-risk heterosexual Thai vaccinees versus placebo recipients [92]. While this protection was modest and extrapolation of results has been subject to harsh scrutiny, it was still the first vaccine efficacy trial to show any protection elicited from a vaccine regimen. This proof-of-concept has encouraged the field to push forward with identification of correlates of protection from the vaccine and optimization towards higher level of protection, with renewed hope that protection via vaccination may be possible.

The RV144 vaccine was a heterologous prime-boost regimen, comprised of a CD4+ stimulating recombinant canarypox vector (ALVAC) carrying HIV-1 gp120 (from a CRF01_AE isolate, TH023), Subtype B gag and protease prime with a bivalent Subtype B/E gp120 (AIDSVAX) protein boost. Although this vaccine did not elicit broadly neutralizing antibodies or potent CD8+ T cell responses, it did show stimulation of antigen-specific CD4+ T cells, neutralizing antibodies to Tier 1 (easy-to-neutralize) viruses and non-neutralizing antibody responses [97, 214, 215]. Immune correlates analyses comparing immune responses in vaccinees (41 that were subsequently infected and 205 that remained uninfected over the 3-year follow-up period) identified two potential immunological correlates of risk or protection from primary HIV-1 infection, both of which were associated with non-neutralizing antibodies [93, 97]. The first correlate was that vaccinees that remained protected from infection had higher levels of binding IgG antibodies to the V1V2 loops of Env. Follow-up analysis evaluating

breakthrough viral sequences has suggested that vaccine efficacy was partially related to antibody recognition of amino acid signatures in V2 [200, 210]. However, it is still unclear what specific mechanistic role these V2 antibodies were able to play in protection. Whether this finding was anecdotal or may be an important direct or indirect immune correlate of protection that should be elicited in an HIV vaccine remains to be determined. The second correlate was that vaccinees that became subsequently infected had higher levels of plasma IgA (specific to the C1 region of gp120) [93]. Furthermore, in individuals with low plasma IgA, ADCC and Nab responses seemed to correlate with decreased risk of infection, suggesting that the high levels of plasma IgA may antagonize potential IgG-mediated activity [93, 200]. This hypothesis was supported by results demonstrating that these C1-specific IgA antibodies were capable of blocking NK cellmediated ADCC activity [155]. Another explanation for high plasma IgA levels seen in these higher risk individuals may simply be that they may have had greater levels of mucosal exposure and activation, resulting in a more robust systemic IgA response.

Aside from the immune correlates extracted from RV144, there are some other important features of this vaccine regimen that may have contributed towards the protection seen, and therefore should be considered. The first is that it was a heterologous prime-boost regimen, which may have reasonably contributed towards enhanced immune responses to a broader range of epitopes expressed from both the prime and the boost immunogens. In addition, the immunogens selected here were geographically relevant to the vaccinated population; CRF01_AE/Subtype B immunogens were used on a population primarily geographically affected by CRF01_AE and Subtype B HIV-1 infection [204]. For this reason, this vaccine can be considered to be a regionally-based vaccine rather than one that may have cross-protective efficacy in an area with a different predominant HIV-1 subtype. Our group has observed similar trends in the context of intrasubtype C superinfection, again strengthening the need for wider evaluation of superinfection studies as a natural model in which to study HIV vaccination.

Extracting Vaccinology Lessons from HIV-1 Superinfection Studies

The fact that HIV-1 superinfection is a common occurrence indicates that the primary anti-HIV-1 immune response elicited in these individuals was insufficient to protect against HIV-1 reinfection and raises concerns about the feasibility of an HIV-1 vaccine. Although superinfection has historically been identified in high-risk individuals (CSW, MSM, IDU), we sought to identify superinfections within the context of relatively low-risk heterosexual couples, since most new primary infections occur in this cohort type worldwide. In sampling quarterly time points longitudinally with a combination of sequence-based approaches, we were able to confidently identify both the timing and the relative abundance of primary and superinfecting events. In addition, we were able to isolate viruses representative of the founder virus (or early founder-like variants) present at the time of seroconversions, as well as the superinfecting variant from the time that superinfection was first detected by phylogenetic confirmation.

We identified three intrasubtype C superinfected Zambian seroconverters (3/22 acute partners studied) that were superinfected during the first year of infection. All superinfections were genotypically characterized to be Subtype C, derived from a non-spousal (outside) partner, and resulted in rapid viral recombination between initial and superinfecting variants post-superinfection. These observations support the notion that even in a relatively low-risk cohort, sexual risk behavior of an individual or their social network [104] could play a role in superinfection, similar to what is seen in primary transmission. These data also underscore the necessity to understand dynamics of virus-host interactions both before and after superinfecting events, as superinfection and subsequent recombination have been shown to have serious clinical implications [55]. To

investigate further the question of why superinfections occur, we asked if individuals become superinfected because of a lack of cross-protection between the genetically disparate initial and superinfecting viruses, or if there was a specific immunological deficit in superinfected individuals that predisposes them to superinfection. The latter hypothesis was supported by the fact that all cases of superinfections occurred within the first year post-infection, despite longitudinal follow-up of up to 3-5 years, as well as the surprising finding that Env sequences in these individuals showed very little diversification prior to superinfection, consistent with low antibody pressure on the virus.

We compared the early immune responses (specifically evaluating anti-HIV humoral responses) in these three characterized superinfected cases to ten non-superinfected controls from the same cohort. In doing this, we sought to identify differences in primary immune responses to the first infection that could affect susceptibility to re-infection (or potentially primary infection in the extrapolated context of vaccination). Thus, these superinfected cases were treated as a natural model to study the immune correlates of protection that may be required in an effective and potentially cross-protective HIV-1 vaccine.

This body of work evaluates several arms of the antibody response normally seen during early HIV-1 infection, including autologous neutralization of founder viruses, development of Env-specific binding antibody responses and limited heterologous breadth against multiple subtype C viruses. We found that superinfected individuals exhibited low to undetectable levels of autologous neutralizing antibodies to their founder/early virus Env prior to superinfection, in contrast to the majority of nonsuperinfected individuals which showed early and potent neutralization of founder viruses similar to what has been shown previously in early Subtype C infection [127, 128]. We subsequently investigated heterologous neutralization breadth, as low levels of cross-protecting antibodies could ostensibly affect superinfection susceptibility. Although we found no evidence of cross-neutralization of the superinfecting virus prior to superinfection, there was also no difference in the limited ability to cross-neutralize subtype C envelopes prior to superinfection between the superinfected and nonsuperinfected groups, indicating that ability to generate heterologous Nab breadth during early infection may not be a good predictor of susceptibility to superinfection during this early window.

In order to understand whether other potentially protective antibodies were compromised in superinfected individuals, we explored levels of Env-specific nonneutralizing antibodies. We found that superinfected individuals trended towards having lower gp120-specific (and a lack of V1V2-specific) binding antibody responses during early infection, suggesting a possible antibody deficit here as well. This was also the first independent study to our knowledge to corroborate a potential correlate of protection in V1V2 binding antibodies and a potential correlate of risk in high levels of anti-gp120 plasma IgA levels, first identified from the RV144 vaccine efficacy trials [93, 155]. However, without discrete mechanisms of action, further investigation is required to determine whether these correlates play a direct or indirect role in protection from superinfection.

Our data suggesting that a lack of protective antibodies during early infection can predispose individuals to superinfection is supported by another immunological study of 3 Subtype B MSM individuals, who were also superinfected during their first year of infection by heterologous Subtype B viruses [177]. Although this study is similar in that it shows low autologous neutralization of initial variants (isolated from the presuperinfection time point) against contemporaneous pre-superinfection plasma, the study has some technical flaws. For example, it is unclear on what basis initial and superinfecting variants were chosen, heterologous breadth determinations were based on neutralization of lab-adapted strains instead of clinically relevant primary isolates, and there was no evaluation of heterologous breadth to the superinfection variant prior to superinfection. Still, this study was the first to identify a potential neutralizing antibody deficit during early infection that may predispose individuals towards superinfection.

This is in contrast to the body of work evaluating superinfection in Kenyan female sex workers, which found no significant difference in heterologous neutralizing antibody breadth and potency prior to superinfection [171]. Heterologous breadth, rather than autologous neutralization of founder viruses or non-neutralizing antibodies, has been the focus of investigation in this Kenyan cohort. It is important to recognize some crucial differences that may partially account for this discrepant finding regarding levels of neutralizing antibodies prior to superinfection. These differences include the fact that multiple HIV-1 subtypes circulate in Kenya (e.g. A, C, D and various recombinants), the cohort examined is composed of sex workers (who are likely at greater risk of HIV-1 exposure in an endemic country), and superinfections in this cohort have been shown to occur both within the first year of infection and as late as 5+ years post-infection. As it is commonly recognized that the potential for neutralization breadth increases over time [132], the fact that there are no significant differences in heterologous breadth prior to superinfection (which occurs late into chronic infection) may reflect this temporal phenomena. Interestingly, lower heterologous breadth in the superinfected group as compared to case-matched controls was observed at one year post-infection, implying that there could also be an early humoral deficit in the individuals who became superinfected; however, the timing of superinfection may be affected by other factors (including stochastic factors like frequency of sex work, HIV partner status, etc.). In addition, a recent extended analysis of 146 women screened for superinfection from this same cohort concluded that the risk of superinfection is highest in early infection (within
the first two years) and may wane over time, in contrast to what the authors had previously described [216]. A mechanism for why this trend is seen has yet to be functionally investigated and defined, but this new data further supports our hypothesis that timing of superinfection may be related to early immune responses.

The role of non-neutralizing antibodies must not be overlooked either, as these binding antibodies could also mediate antiviral effector functions such as ADCC and sequestration of virus at the epithelial or mucosal barriers [151]. Although a few studies have shown that passive transfer of non-neutralizing antibodies could not protect against chimeric Simian-HIV (SHIV) virus infection in non-human primate models [201, 217], non-neutralizing antibody-mediated activity has recently been of great interest due to its implicated role in the protection seen from the RV144 vaccine previously discussed. Post-hoc analysis of the VAX004 vaccine trial, which showed no overall vaccine efficacy, also suggested that vaccinees that remained uninfected had higher levels of vaccineinduced antibody-dependent cell-mediated viral inhibition (ADCVI, a cumulative effect of ADCC, release of β -chemokines and phagocytosis) to a clinical isolate tested (HIV-192US657); however, these results were correlative rather than mechanistic [218]. By contrast, a recent publication again studying superinfected Kenyan sex workers did not find an association between ADCVI and superinfection outcome [219]. Although ADCC/ADCVI could be a mechanism of early viral control protecting against superinfecting viral outgrowth, it must be recognized that no human studies to date have directly shown ADCC to confer protection [220]. Therefore, its role in protection from superinfection is also less clear. Nevertheless, my recent studies have shown that presuperinfection plasma samples from subsequently superinfected individuals show lower levels of ADCC activity than non-superinfected controls (Basu et al, manuscript in preparation). This deficit is despite normal levels of cytomegalovirus-specific IgG antibodies in these individuals during early infection (3 months after HIV-1 seroconversion), which may point to a compromised HIV-specific humoral response to primary HIV-1 infection in individuals that become superinfected, rather than a global immune defect.

It must be recognized that we were unable to obtain samples to evaluate cellular immune responses in these superinfected individuals. Despite this fact, based on the cumulative evidence discussed above, we can reasonably argue that antibodies are more likely to play a direct role in protection from HIV-1 acquisition. However, both arms of the immune system likely shape susceptibility to superinfection, control of superinfecting viral replication, subsequent immunopathology and clinical outcome, and it is likely that a deficit in either arm could affect the other in the context of superinfection. The humoral antibody response readouts measured here may also be reflective of other immunological problems in superinfected individuals, including those related to cellular immune responses.

For example, one reasonable hypothesis states that in certain individuals, early detrimental effects of HIV-1 infection (including compromised CD4+ T cell help) could preclude the ability to generate high-affinity antibodies through affinity maturation at the germinal centers of secondary lymphoid organs, which are also damaged by HIV-1 chronic immune activation. This cascade could subsequently delay the kinetics of a productive autologous neutralizing antibody response [38]. Such individuals may be at a higher risk of HIV-1 superinfection, especially during early infection, when protective antibodies (including neutralizing antibodies and binding antibodies) could be more critical. Perhaps over time, and despite its ultimate futility, HIV-specific humoral responses are able to re-establish themselves and potentially develop heterologous neutralization breadth to multiple HIV-1 variants. In the context of superinfections occurring late into chronic infection, this early humoral deficit may be overlooked. Another hypothesis is that the trend toward early superinfection may also be linked to the availability of target CD4+ T cells, which are progressively depleted over the course of chronic HIV-1 infection [72]. Therefore, immune deficits in the cellular compartment may also play a significant role in predisposition to superinfection, but we currently lack availability of human samples to better address this contribution.

It is also possible that, like transmitted/founder viruses, evaluating genetic or biological signatures of founder and superinfecting variants may lend additional information about intrinsic characteristics of the viruses that may contribute towards their immunogenicity. Few studies to date have found that superinfecting variants can have a higher fitness than primary infecting variants [182]. However, in our studies, we have observed normal viral loads in superinfected individuals prior to superinfection, suggesting that the founder viruses evaluated do not likely have any overt defect in viral replication in vivo. Further evaluation of viral characteristics may help clarify potential viral factors affecting susceptibility to superinfection and control of superinfecting virus replication.

Aside from better understanding possible immune correlates of HIV-1 protection, here too we find some potential lessons from superinfection studies relevant to vaccination strategies. The first is that we find evidence of increased autologous neutralizing antibody titers following superinfection in the three superinfected individuals, indicating that although Nab responses were low pre-superinfection, this secondary infection may have still served as an immunological boost to the first infection, despite sequence disparities of 8-12% in Env. Smith et al. also observed a similar boost in autologous neutralization after superinfection in intrasubtype B superinfected MSM individuals [177]. Increased heterologous breadth after superinfection has also been observed in chronic Cameroonian superinfected individuals, and as well as Kenyan CSW [190, 191, 221]. These studies suggest that perhaps heterologous prime-boost regimens with immunological boosting during early infection could help support high titers of protective antibodies in uninfected vaccinees; therefore, this regimen should continue to be pursued in vaccine regimens. A variation of this basic strategy will be tested in the RV306 clinical study (currently in phase I trials) where a 1-year boost will be added to the previous RV144 regimen in order to evaluate whether vaccine-induced immune responses are better sustained using this adapted treatment [200]. However, in this case the additional boost will be homologous rather than heterologous.

Finally, both our studies and those of RV144 suggest some potential for intrasubtype protection and may argue that designing regionally-based vaccines with immunogens relevant to subtypes specifically affecting certain epidemics may be efficacious in settings of relatively limited HIV-1 subtype diversity. However, in the setting of regions affected by multiple subtypes of HIV-1, a different strategy that addresses this challenging diversity may be required.

Summary

Despite small numbers, the correlation seen in our studies between autologous Nab titers and superinfection outcome, as well as the lack of additional superinfections after 1 year, suggests that poor early immune responses may predispose individuals towards superinfection. By contrast, high levels of antibodies could result in protection from superinfection, or they could represent an indirect surrogate of another protective immune factor. We have found that evaluating autologous neutralization (an *in vitro* representation of the naturally occurring Nab response to each patient's founder viruses) and binding antibodies (reflective of general HIV-specific humoral responses), rather than heterologous breadth (a rare phenomena to occur during early infection, if at all) may better predict an infected individual's HIV-specific humoral response capacity, and thus, their susceptibility to superinfection. Our data suggests that in the context of a setting where a single subtype predominates, as is the case of Subtype C in Southern Africa, an early and potent antibody-mediated immune response to primary infection could potentially protect against intrasubtype superinfection. Importantly, these data lend hope to the feasibility of inducing an efficacious protective immune response via an HIV-1 vaccine, especially in the context of intrasubtype protection.

Literature Cited (Introduction and Discussion)

- 1. **Pneumocystis pneumonia--Los Angeles**. *MMWR Morbidity and mortality weekly report* 1981, **30**(21):250-252.
- Barre-Sinoussi F, Chermann JC, Rey F, Nugeyre MT, Chamaret S, Gruest J, Dauguet C, Axler-Blin C, Vezinet-Brun F, Rouzioux C *et al*: Isolation of a Tlymphotropic retrovirus from a patient at risk for acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS). *Science* 1983, 220(4599):868-871.
- Gallo RC, Salahuddin SZ, Popovic M, Shearer GM, Kaplan M, Haynes BF, Palker TJ, Redfield R, Oleske J, Safai B *et al*: Frequent detection and isolation of cytopathic retroviruses (HTLV-III) from patients with AIDS and at risk for AIDS. *Science* 1984, 224(4648):500-503.
- HIV/AIDS UJPo: Global Report: UNAIDS Report on the Global AIDS Epidemic: 2012. 2012.
- Shaw GM, Hunter E: HIV transmission. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine 2012, 2(11).
- 6. Dunkle KL, Stephenson R, Karita E, Chomba E, Kayitenkore K, Vwalika C, Greenberg L, Allen S: New heterosexually transmitted HIV infections in married or cohabiting couples in urban Zambia and Rwanda: an analysis of survey and clinical data. *Lancet* 2008, 371(9631):2183-2191.
- Jung A, Maier R, Vartanian JP, Bocharov G, Jung V, Fischer U, Meese E, Wain-Hobson S, Meyerhans A: Recombination: Multiply infected spleen cells in HIV patients. *Nature* 2002, 418(6894):144.
- 8. Ramirez BC, Simon-Loriere E, Galetto R, Negroni M: **Implications of** recombination for HIV diversity. *Virus research* 2008, **134**(1-2):64-73.
- 9. Onafuwa-Nuga A, Telesnitsky A: The remarkable frequency of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 genetic recombination. *Microbiology*

and molecular biology reviews : *MMBR* 2009, **73**(3):451-480, Table of Contents.

- Gao F, Bailes E, Robertson DL, Chen Y, Rodenburg CM, Michael SF, Cummins LB, Arthur LO, Peeters M, Shaw GM *et al*: Origin of HIV-1 in the chimpanzee Pan troglodytes troglodytes. *Nature* 1999, 397(6718):436-441.
- Hahn BH, Shaw GM, De Cock KM, Sharp PM: AIDS as a zoonosis: scientific and public health implications. *Science* 2000, 287(5453):607-614.
- Keele BF, Van Heuverswyn F, Li Y, Bailes E, Takehisa J, Santiago ML, Bibollet-Ruche F, Chen Y, Wain LV, Liegeois F *et al*: Chimpanzee reservoirs of pandemic and nonpandemic HIV-1. *Science* 2006, 313(5786):523-526.
- 13. Sharp PM, Hahn BH: Origins of HIV and the AIDS pandemic. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine 2011, 1(1):a006841.
- Vidal N, Peeters M, Mulanga-Kabeya C, Nzilambi N, Robertson D, Ilunga W, Sema H, Tshimanga K, Bongo B, Delaporte E: Unprecedented degree of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) group M genetic diversity in the Democratic Republic of Congo suggests that the HIV-1 pandemic originated in Central Africa. J Virol 2000, 74(22):10498-10507.
- 15. Korber B, Muldoon M, Theiler J, Gao F, Gupta R, Lapedes A, Hahn BH, Wolinsky S, Bhattacharya T: Timing the ancestor of the HIV-1 pandemic strains. *Science* 2000, 288(5472):1789-1796.
- 16. Worobey M, Gemmel M, Teuwen DE, Haselkorn T, Kunstman K, Bunce M, Muyembe JJ, Kabongo JM, Kalengayi RM, Van Marck E *et al*: Direct evidence of extensive diversity of HIV-1 in Kinshasa by 1960. Nature 2008, 455(7213):661-664.

- 17. Zhu T, Korber BT, Nahmias AJ, Hooper E, Sharp PM, Ho DD: An African HIV1 sequence from 1959 and implications for the origin of the epidemic.
 Nature 1998, 391(6667):594-597.
- Damond F, Apetrei C, Robertson DL, Souquiere S, Lepretre A, Matheron S, Plantier JC, Brun-Vezinet F, Simon F: Variability of human immunodeficiency virus type 2 (hiv-2) infecting patients living in france. Virology 2001, 280(1):19-30.
- Ishikawa K, Janssens W, Banor JS, Shinno T, Piedade J, Sata T, Ampofo WK, Brandful JA, Koyanagi Y, Yamamoto N *et al*: Genetic analysis of HIV type 2
 from Ghana and Guinea-Bissau, West Africa. *AIDS research and human retroviruses* 2001, 17(17):1661-1663.
- Mauclere P, Loussert-Ajaka I, Damond F, Fagot P, Souquieres S, Monny Lobe M,
 Mbopi Keou FX, Barre-Sinoussi F, Saragosti S, Brun-Vezinet F *et al*:
 Serological and virological characterization of HIV-1 group O
 infection in Cameroon. *AIDS* 1997, 11(4):445-453.
- Peeters M, Gueye A, Mboup S, Bibollet-Ruche F, Ekaza E, Mulanga C, Ouedrago R, Gandji R, Mpele P, Dibanga G *et al*: Geographical distribution of HIV-1 group O viruses in Africa. *AIDS* 1997, 11(4):493-498.
- Vallari A, Bodelle P, Ngansop C, Makamche F, Ndembi N, Mbanya D, Kaptue L, Gurtler LG, McArthur CP, Devare SG *et al*: Four new HIV-1 group N isolates from Cameroon: Prevalence continues to be low. *AIDS research and human retroviruses* 2010, 26(1):109-115.
- 23. Casas LM, Plantier F, Bessieres D: New methodology for simultaneous volumetric and calorimetric measurements: direct determination of alpha(p) and C(p) for liquids under pressure. The Review of scientific instruments 2009, **80**(12):124902.

- 24. Vallari A, Holzmayer V, Harris B, Yamaguchi J, Ngansop C, Makamche F, Mbanya D, Kaptue L, Ndembi N, Gurtler L *et al*: Confirmation of putative HIV-1 group P in Cameroon. *J Virol* 2011, 85(3):1403-1407.
- 25. Hemelaar J, Gouws E, Ghys PD, Osmanov S: Global trends in molecular
 epidemiology of HIV-1 during 2000-2007. *AIDS* 2011, 25(5):679-689.
- Roberts JD, Bebenek K, Kunkel TA: The accuracy of reverse transcriptase from HIV-1. Science 1988, 242(4882):1171-1173.
- 27. Ho DD, Neumann AU, Perelson AS, Chen W, Leonard JM, Markowitz M: Rapid turnover of plasma virions and CD4 lymphocytes in HIV-1 infection. *Nature* 1995, 373(6510):123-126.
- 28. Wei X, Ghosh SK, Taylor ME, Johnson VA, Emini EA, Deutsch P, Lifson JD, Bonhoeffer S, Nowak MA, Hahn BH *et al*: Viral dynamics in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *Nature* 1995, 373(6510):117-122.
- Hemelaar J, Gouws E, Ghys PD, Osmanov S: Global and regional distribution of HIV-1 genetic subtypes and recombinants in 2004. AIDS 2006, 20(16):W13-23.
- 30. Taylor BS, Sobieszczyk ME, McCutchan FE, Hammer SM: The challenge of HIV-1 subtype diversity. The New England journal of medicine 2008, 358(15):1590-1602.
- 31. Rousseau CM, Learn GH, Bhattacharya T, Nickle DC, Heckerman D, Chetty S, Brander C, Goulder PJ, Walker BD, Kiepiela P *et al*: Extensive intrasubtype recombination in South African human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtype C infections. *J Virol* 2007, 81(9):4492-4500.
- 32. Korber B, Gaschen B, Yusim K, Thakallapally R, Kesmir C, Detours V:
 Evolutionary and immunological implications of contemporary HIV-1
 variation. British medical bulletin 2001, 58:19-42.

- 33. Gilbert MT, Rambaut A, Wlasiuk G, Spira TJ, Pitchenik AE, Worobey M: The emergence of HIV/AIDS in the Americas and beyond. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2007, 104(47):18566-18570.
- 34. Keele BF: Identifying and characterizing recently transmitted viruses.
 Curr Opin HIV AIDS 2010, 5(4):327-334.
- 35. Lee HY, Giorgi EE, Keele BF, Gaschen B, Athreya GS, Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Pham KT, Goepfert PA, Kilby JM, Saag MS *et al*: **Modeling sequence evolution in acute HIV-1 infection**. *Journal of theoretical biology* 2009, **261**(2):341-360.
- 36. Fischer W, Ganusov VV, Giorgi EE, Hraber PT, Keele BF, Leitner T, Han CS, Gleasner CD, Green L, Lo CC *et al*: Transmission of single HIV-1 genomes and dynamics of early immune escape revealed by ultra-deep sequencing. *PloS one*, 5(8):e12303.
- 37. Keele BF, Giorgi EE, Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Decker JM, Pham KT, Salazar MG, Sun C, Grayson T, Wang S, Li H *et al*: **Identification and characterization of transmitted and early founder virus envelopes in primary HIV-1 infection**. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2008, **105**(21):7552-7557.
- 38. McMichael AJ, Borrow P, Tomaras GD, Goonetilleke N, Haynes BF: The immune response during acute HIV-1 infection: clues for vaccine development. Nature reviews Immunology 2010, 10(1):11-23.
- 39. Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Bailes E, Pham KT, Salazar MG, Guffey MB, Keele BF, Derdeyn CA, Farmer P, Hunter E, Allen S *et al*: Deciphering human immunodeficiency virus type 1 transmission and early envelope diversification by single-genome amplification and sequencing. J Virol 2008, 82(8):3952-3970.
- Haaland RE, Hawkins PA, Salazar-Gonzalez J, Johnson A, Tichacek A, Karita E,
 Manigart O, Mulenga J, Keele BF, Shaw GM *et al*: Inflammatory genital

infections mitigate a severe genetic bottleneck in heterosexual transmission of subtype A and C HIV-1. *PLoS Pathog* 2009, **5**(1):e1000274.

- Bar KJ, Tsao CY, Iyer SS, Decker JM, Yang Y, Bonsignori M, Chen X, Hwang KK,
 Montefiori DC, Liao HX *et al*: Early low-titer neutralizing antibodies
 impede HIV-1 replication and select for virus escape. *PLoS Pathog* 2012,
 8(5):e1002721.
- 42. Rong R, Li B, Lynch RM, Haaland RE, Murphy MK, Mulenga J, Allen SA, Pinter A, Shaw GM, Hunter E *et al*: **Escape from autologous neutralizing antibodies in acute/early subtype C HIV-1 infection requires multiple pathways**. *PLoS Pathog* 2009, **5**(9):e1000594.
- 43. Murphy MK, Yue L, Pan R, Boliar S, Sethi A, Tian J, Pfafferot K, Karita E, Allen SA, Cormier E *et al*: Viral escape from neutralizing antibodies in early subtype A HIV-1 infection drives an increase in autologous neutralization breadth. *PLoS Pathog* 2013, 9(2):e1003173.
- 44. Bernardin F, Kong D, Peddada L, Baxter-Lowe LA, Delwart E: Human immunodeficiency virus mutations during the first month of infection are preferentially found in known cytotoxic T-lymphocyte epitopes. J Virol 2005, 79(17):11523-11528.
- 45. Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Salazar MG, Keele BF, Learn GH, Giorgi EE, Li H, Decker JM, Wang S, Baalwa J, Kraus MH *et al*: **Genetic identity, biological phenotype, and evolutionary pathways of transmitted/founder viruses in acute and early HIV-1 infection**. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 2009, **206**(6):1273-1289.
- 46. Richman DD, Wrin T, Little SJ, Petropoulos CJ: Rapid evolution of the neutralizing antibody response to HIV type 1 infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2003, 100(7):4144-4149.

- 47. Fang G, Weiser B, Kuiken C, Philpott SM, Rowland-Jones S, Plummer F, Kimani
 J, Shi B, Kaul R, Bwayo J *et al*: Recombination following superinfection
 by HIV-1. *AIDS* 2004, 18(2):153-159.
- 48. Pernas M, Casado C, Fuentes R, Perez-Elias MJ, Lopez-Galindez C: A dual superinfection and recombination within HIV-1 subtype B 12 years after primoinfection. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2006, **42**(1):12-18.
- 49. Templeton AR, Kramer MG, Jarvis J, Kowalski J, Gange S, Schneider MF, Shao Q, Zhang GW, Yeh MF, Tsai HL *et al*: Multiple-infection and recombination in HIV-1 within a longitudinal cohort of women. *Retrovirology* 2009, 6:54.
- 50. Kraft CS, Basu D, Hawkins PA, Hraber PT, Chomba E, Mulenga J, Kilembe W,
 Khu NH, Derdeyn CA, Allen SA *et al*: Timing and source of subtype-C HIV1 superinfection in the newly infected partner of Zambian couples
 with disparate viruses. *Retrovirology* 2012, 9(1):22.
- 51. Blackard JT, Cohen DE, Mayer KH: **Human immunodeficiency virus** superinfection and recombination: current state of knowledge and potential clinical consequences. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America 2002, **34**(8):1108-1114.
- 52. Streeck H, Li B, Poon AF, Schneidewind A, Gladden AD, Power KA, Daskalakis D, Bazner S, Zuniga R, Brander C *et al*: Immune-driven recombination and loss of control after HIV superinfection. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 2008, 205(8):1789-1796.
- 53. Robertson DL, Anderson JP, Bradac JA, Carr JK, Foley B, Funkhouser RK, Gao F,
 Hahn BH, Kalish ML, Kuiken C *et al*: HIV-1 nomenclature proposal. *Science* 2000, 288(5463):55-56.

- 54. Hemelaar J: The origin and diversity of the HIV-1 pandemic. Trends in molecular medicine 2012, 18(3):182-192.
- 55. Redd AD, Quinn TC, Tobian AA: Frequency and implications of HIV superinfection. *The Lancet infectious diseases* 2013, **13**(7):622-628.
- 56. Maddon PJ, Dalgleish AG, McDougal JS, Clapham PR, Weiss RA, Axel R: The T4 gene encodes the AIDS virus receptor and is expressed in the immune system and the brain. *Cell* 1986, 47(3):333-348.
- 57. Deng H, Liu R, Ellmeier W, Choe S, Unutmaz D, Burkhart M, Di Marzio P, Marmon S, Sutton RE, Hill CM *et al*: Identification of a major co-receptor for primary isolates of HIV-1. *Nature* 1996, 381(6584):661-666.
- 58. Dragic T, Litwin V, Allaway GP, Martin SR, Huang Y, Nagashima KA, Cayanan C, Maddon PJ, Koup RA, Moore JP *et al*: HIV-1 entry into CD4+ cells is mediated by the chemokine receptor CC-CKR-5. Nature 1996, 381(6584):667-673.
- 59. Berger EA, Murphy PM, Farber JM: Chemokine receptors as HIV-1 coreceptors: roles in viral entry, tropism, and disease. *Annual review of immunology* 1999, 17:657-700.
- 60. Klatzmann D, Barre-Sinoussi F, Nugeyre MT, Danquet C, Vilmer E, Griscelli C, Brun-Veziret F, Rouzioux C, Gluckman JC, Chermann JC *et al*: Selective tropism of lymphadenopathy associated virus (LAV) for helperinducer T lymphocytes. *Science* 1984, 225(4657):59-63.
- 61. Klatzmann D, Champagne E, Chamaret S, Gruest J, Guetard D, Hercend T, Gluckman JC, Montagnier L: T-lymphocyte T4 molecule behaves as the receptor for human retrovirus LAV. Nature 1984, 312(5996):767-768.

- 62. Feng Y, Broder CC, Kennedy PE, Berger EA: HIV-1 entry cofactor: functional cDNA cloning of a seven-transmembrane, G proteincoupled receptor. Science 1996, 272(5263):872-877.
- 63. Donahue DA, Wainberg MA: Cellular and molecular mechanisms involved in the establishment of HIV-1 latency. *Retrovirology* 2013, 10:11.
- 64. Brenchley JM, Price DA, Douek DC: HIV disease: fallout from a mucosal catastrophe? *Nature immunology* 2006, 7(3):235-239.
- 65. Brenchley JM, Price DA, Schacker TW, Asher TE, Silvestri G, Rao S, Kazzaz Z, Bornstein E, Lambotte O, Altmann D *et al*: Microbial translocation is a cause of systemic immune activation in chronic HIV infection. *Nat Med* 2006, 12(12):1365-1371.
- 66. Veazey RS, DeMaria M, Chalifoux LV, Shvetz DE, Pauley DR, Knight HL, Rosenzweig M, Johnson RP, Desrosiers RC, Lackner AA: Gastrointestinal tract as a major site of CD4+ T cell depletion and viral replication in SIV infection. Science 1998, 280(5362):427-431.
- 67. Mattapallil JJ, Douek DC, Hill B, Nishimura Y, Martin M, Roederer M: Massive infection and loss of memory CD4+ T cells in multiple tissues during acute SIV infection. *Nature* 2005, 434(7037):1093-1097.
- Douek DC: Disrupting T-cell homeostasis: how HIV-1 infection causes
 disease. AIDS reviews 2003, 5(3):172-177.
- Mehandru S, Poles MA, Tenner-Racz K, Horowitz A, Hurley A, Hogan C, Boden D, Racz P, Markowitz M: Primary HIV-1 infection is associated with preferential depletion of CD4+ T lymphocytes from effector sites in the gastrointestinal tract. The Journal of experimental medicine 2004, 200(6):761-770.

- 70. Deeks SG, Kitchen CM, Liu L, Guo H, Gascon R, Narvaez AB, Hunt P, Martin JN, Kahn JO, Levy J et al: Immune activation set point during early HIV infection predicts subsequent CD4+ T-cell changes independent of viral load. Blood 2004, 104(4):942-947.
- 71. Sodora DL, Silvestri G: Immune activation and AIDS pathogenesis. *AIDS* 2008, 22(4):439-446.
- Marchetti G, Tincati C, Silvestri G: Microbial translocation in the pathogenesis of HIV infection and AIDS. Clinical microbiology reviews 2013, 26(1):2-18.
- 73. Lane HC, Masur H, Edgar LC, Whalen G, Rook AH, Fauci AS: Abnormalities of B-cell activation and immunoregulation in patients with the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. The New England journal of medicine 1983, **309**(8):453-458.
- Moir S, Fauci AS: Insights into B cells and HIV-specific B-cell responses
 in HIV-infected individuals. *Immunological reviews* 2013, 254(1):207-224.
- 75. Moir S, Fauci AS: **B cells in HIV infection and disease**. *Nature reviews Immunology* 2009, **9**(4):235-245.
- 76. Boliar S, Murphy MK, Tran TC, Carnathan DG, Armstrong WS, Silvestri G, Derdeyn CA: B-lymphocyte dysfunction in chronic HIV-1 infection does not prevent cross-clade neutralization breadth. J Virol 2012, 86(15):8031-8040.
- 77. Levesque MC, Moody MA, Hwang KK, Marshall DJ, Whitesides JF, Amos JD, Gurley TC, Allgood S, Haynes BB, Vandergrift NA *et al*: Polyclonal B cell differentiation and loss of gastrointestinal tract germinal centers in the earliest stages of HIV-1 infection. *PLoS medicine* 2009, 6(7):e1000107.

- 78. Borrow P, Lewicki H, Hahn BH, Shaw GM, Oldstone MB: Virus-specific CD8+ cytotoxic T-lymphocyte activity associated with control of viremia in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J Virol 1994, 68(9):6103-6110.
- 79. Koup RA, Safrit JT, Cao Y, Andrews CA, McLeod G, Borkowsky W, Farthing C, Ho DD: Temporal association of cellular immune responses with the initial control of viremia in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 syndrome. J Virol 1994, 68(7):4650-4655.
- 80. Goonetilleke N, Liu MK, Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Ferrari G, Giorgi E, Ganusov VV, Keele BF, Learn GH, Turnbull EL, Salazar MG *et al*: The first T cell response to transmitted/founder virus contributes to the control of acute viremia in HIV-1 infection. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 2009, 206(6):1253-1272.
- 81. Price DA, Goulder PJ, Klenerman P, Sewell AK, Easterbrook PJ, Troop M, Bangham CR, Phillips RE: Positive selection of HIV-1 cytotoxic T lymphocyte escape variants during primary infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1997, 94(5):1890-1895.
- 82. Mascola JR, Lewis MG, Stiegler G, Harris D, VanCott TC, Hayes D, Louder MK, Brown CR, Sapan CV, Frankel SS *et al*: **Protection of Macaques against pathogenic simian/human immunodeficiency virus 89.6PD by passive transfer of neutralizing antibodies**. *J Virol* 1999, **73**(5):4009-4018.
- 83. Mascola JR, Stiegler G, VanCott TC, Katinger H, Carpenter CB, Hanson CE, Beary H, Hayes D, Frankel SS, Birx DL *et al*: Protection of macaques against vaginal transmission of a pathogenic HIV-1/SIV chimeric virus by passive infusion of neutralizing antibodies. *Nat Med* 2000, 6(2):207-210.

- 84. Veazey RS, Shattock RJ, Pope M, Kirijan JC, Jones J, Hu Q, Ketas T, Marx PA, Klasse PJ, Burton DR *et al*: Prevention of virus transmission to macaque monkeys by a vaginally applied monoclonal antibody to HIV-1 gp120. *Nat Med* 2003, 9(3):343-346.
- 85. Hessell AJ, Poignard P, Hunter M, Hangartner L, Tehrani DM, Bleeker WK, Parren PW, Marx PA, Burton DR: Effective, low-titer antibody protection against low-dose repeated mucosal SHIV challenge in macaques. Nat Med 2009, 15(8):951-954.
- 86. Hessell AJ, Rakasz EG, Poignard P, Hangartner L, Landucci G, Forthal DN, Koff WC, Watkins DI, Burton DR: Broadly neutralizing human anti-HIV antibody 2G12 is effective in protection against mucosal SHIV challenge even at low serum neutralizing titers. *PLoS Pathog* 2009, 5(5):e1000433.
- 87. McElrath MJ, Haynes BF: Induction of immunity to human immunodeficiency virus type-1 by vaccination. *Immunity* 2010, 33(4):542-554.
- Prince AM, Reesink H, Pascual D, Horowitz B, Hewlett I, Murthy KK, Cobb KE, Eichberg JW: Prevention of HIV infection by passive immunization with HIV immunoglobulin. *AIDS research and human retroviruses* 1991, 7(12):971-973.
- 89. Parren PW, Ditzel HJ, Gulizia RJ, Binley JM, Barbas CF, 3rd, Burton DR, Mosier DE: Protection against HIV-1 infection in hu-PBL-SCID mice by passive immunization with a neutralizing human monoclonal antibody against the gp120 CD4-binding site. *AIDS* 1995, **9**(6):F1-6.
- Baba TW, Liska V, Hofmann-Lehmann R, Vlasak J, Xu W, Ayehunie S, Cavacini
 LA, Posner MR, Katinger H, Stiegler G *et al*: Human neutralizing

monoclonal antibodies of the IgG1 subtype protect against mucosal simian-human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Nat Med* 2000, 6(2):200-206.

- 91. Ferrantelli F, Rasmussen RA, Buckley KA, Li PL, Wang T, Montefiori DC, Katinger H, Stiegler G, Anderson DC, McClure HM *et al*: Complete protection of neonatal rhesus macaques against oral exposure to pathogenic simian-human immunodeficiency virus by human anti-HIV monoclonal antibodies. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 2004, 189(12):2167-2173.
- 92. Rerks-Ngarm S, Pitisuttithum P, Nitayaphan S, Kaewkungwal J, Chiu J, Paris R, Premsri N, Namwat C, de Souza M, Adams E *et al*: **Vaccination with ALVAC and AIDSVAX to prevent HIV-1 infection in Thailand**. *The New England journal of medicine* 2009, **361**(23):2209-2220.
- 93. Haynes BF, Gilbert PB, McElrath MJ, Zolla-Pazner S, Tomaras GD, Alam SM, Evans DT, Montefiori DC, Karnasuta C, Sutthent R *et al*: Immune-correlates analysis of an HIV-1 vaccine efficacy trial. The New England journal of medicine 2012, 366(14):1275-1286.
- 94. Emini EA, Schleif WA, Nunberg JH, Conley AJ, Eda Y, Tokiyoshi S, Putney SD, Matsushita S, Cobb KE, Jett CM *et al*: Prevention of HIV-1 infection in chimpanzees by gp120 V3 domain-specific monoclonal antibody. *Nature* 1992, 355(6362):728-730.
- 95. Gauduin MC, Parren PW, Weir R, Barbas CF, Burton DR, Koup RA: Passive immunization with a human monoclonal antibody protects hu-PBL-SCID mice against challenge by primary isolates of HIV-1. Nat Med 1997, 3(12):1389-1393.

- 96. Eichberg JW, Murthy KK, Ward RH, Prince AM: Prevention of HIV infection
 by passive immunization with HIVIG or CD4-IgG. AIDS research and human retroviruses 1992, 8(8):1515.
- 97. McMichael AJ, Haynes BF: Lessons learned from HIV-1 vaccine trials: new priorities and directions. *Nature immunology* 2012, **13**(5):423-427.
- 98. Hladik F, McElrath MJ: **Setting the stage: host invasion by HIV**. *Nature reviews Immunology* 2008, **8**(6):447-457.
- 99. Boily MC, Baggaley RF, Wang L, Masse B, White RG, Hayes RJ, Alary M: Heterosexual risk of HIV-1 infection per sexual act: systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. The Lancet infectious diseases 2009, 9(2):118-129.
- Galvin SR, Cohen MS: The role of sexually transmitted diseases in HIV
 transmission. Nature reviews Microbiology 2004, 2(1):33-42.
- 101. Quinn TC, Wawer MJ, Sewankambo N, Serwadda D, Li C, Wabwire-Mangen F,
 Meehan MO, Lutalo T, Gray RH: Viral load and heterosexual transmission
 of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Rakai Project Study Group.
 The New England journal of medicine 2000, 342(13):921-929.
- Fideli US, Allen SA, Musonda R, Trask S, Hahn BH, Weiss H, Mulenga J, Kasolo 102. F. Vermund SH, Aldrovandi GM: Virologic and immunologic of of determinants heterosexual transmission human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in Africa. AIDS research and human retroviruses 2001, 17(10):901-910.
- 103. Powers KA, Poole C, Pettifor AE, Cohen MS: Rethinking the heterosexual infectivity of HIV-1: a systematic review and meta-analysis. The Lancet infectious diseases 2008, 8(9):553-563.

- 104. El-Sadr WM, Mayer KH, Hodder SL: **AIDS in America--forgotten but not gone**. *The New England journal of medicine* 2010, **362**(11):967-970.
- 105. Cohen MS, Chen YQ, McCauley M, Gamble T, Hosseinipour MC, Kumarasamy N, Hakim JG, Kumwenda J, Grinsztejn B, Pilotto JH *et al*: **Prevention of HIV-1 infection with early antiretroviral therapy**. *The New England journal of medicine* 2011, **365**(6):493-505.
- 106. Auvert B, Taljaard D, Lagarde E, Sobngwi-Tambekou J, Sitta R, Puren A: Randomized, controlled intervention trial of male circumcision for reduction of HIV infection risk: the ANRS 1265 Trial. PLoS medicine 2005, 2(11):e298.
- 107. Bailey RC, Moses S, Parker CB, Agot K, Maclean I, Krieger JN, Williams CF, Campbell RT, Ndinya-Achola JO: Male circumcision for HIV prevention in young men in Kisumu, Kenya: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2007, 369(9562):643-656.
- 108. Gray RH, Kigozi G, Serwadda D, Makumbi F, Watya S, Nalugoda F, Kiwanuka N, Moulton LH, Chaudhary MA, Chen MZ *et al*: Male circumcision for HIV prevention in men in Rakai, Uganda: a randomised trial. *Lancet* 2007, 369(9562):657-666.
- 109. Haase AT: Targeting early infection to prevent HIV-1 mucosal transmission. *Nature* 2010, **464**(7286):217-223.
- 110. Quinn TC: Circumcision and HIV transmission. Current opinion in infectious diseases 2007, **20**(1):33-38.
- Derdeyn CA, Decker JM, Bibollet-Ruche F, Mokili JL, Muldoon M, Denham SA,
 Heil ML, Kasolo F, Musonda R, Hahn BH *et al*: Envelope-constrained
 neutralization-sensitive HIV-1 after heterosexual transmission.
 Science 2004, 303(5666):2019-2022.

- Derdeyn CA, Hunter E: Viral characteristics of transmitted HIV. Curr
 Opin HIV AIDS 2008, 3(1):16-21.
- 113. Keele BF, Derdeyn CA: Genetic and antigenic features of the transmitted virus. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS* 2009, 4(5):352-357.
- Parrish NF, Gao F, Li H, Giorgi EE, Barbian HJ, Parrish EH, Zajic L, Iyer SS, Decker JM, Kumar A *et al*: Phenotypic properties of transmitted founder HIV-1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2013, 110(17):6626-6633.
- Boeras DI, Hraber PT, Hurlston M, Evans-Strickfaden T, Bhattacharya T, Giorgi EE, Mulenga J, Karita E, Korber BT, Allen S *et al*: Role of donor genital tract HIV-1 diversity in the transmission bottleneck. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2011, 108(46):E1156-1163.
- 116. Russell ES, Kwiek JJ, Keys J, Barton K, Mwapasa V, Montefiori DC, Meshnick SR, Swanstrom R: The genetic bottleneck in vertical transmission of subtype C HIV-1 is not driven by selection of especially neutralization-resistant virus from the maternal viral population. J Virol 2011, 85(16):8253-8262.
- 117. Zhang H, Tully DC, Hoffmann FG, He J, Kankasa C, Wood C: Restricted genetic diversity of HIV-1 subtype C envelope glycoprotein from perinatally infected Zambian infants. *PloS one* 2010, 5(2):e9294.
- 118. Li H, Bar KJ, Wang S, Decker JM, Chen Y, Sun C, Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Salazar MG, Learn GH, Morgan CJ *et al*: High Multiplicity Infection by HIV-1 in Men Who Have Sex with Men. *PLoS Pathog* 2010, 6(5):e1000890.
- 119. Chohan B, Lang D, Sagar M, Korber B, Lavreys L, Richardson B, Overbaugh J:
 Selection for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycosylation variants with shorter V1-V2 loop sequences occurs

during transmission of certain genetic subtypes and may impact viral **RNA levels**. *J Virol* 2005, **79**(10):6528-6531.

- 120. Sagar M, Laeyendecker O, Lee S, Gamiel J, Wawer MJ, Gray RH, Serwadda D, Sewankambo NK, Shepherd JC, Toma J *et al*: Selection of HIV variants with signature genotypic characteristics during heterosexual transmission. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 2009, 199(4):580-589.
- Ping LH, Joseph SB, Anderson JA, Abrahams MR, Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Kincer LP, Treurnicht FK, Arney L, Ojeda S, Zhang M *et al*: Comparison of Viral Env Proteins from Acute and Chronic Infections with Subtype C Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Identifies Differences in Glycosylation and CCR5 Utilization and Suggests a New Strategy for Immunogen Design. *J Virol* 2013, 87(13):7218-7233.
- Li M, Gao F, Mascola JR, Stamatatos L, Polonis VR, Koutsoukos M, Voss G, Goepfert P, Gilbert P, Greene KM *et al*: Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 env clones from acute and early subtype B infections for standardized assessments of vaccine-elicited neutralizing antibodies. *J Virol* 2005, 79(16):10108-10125.
- 123. Isaacman-Beck J, Hermann EA, Yi Y, Ratcliffe SJ, Mulenga J, Allen S, Hunter E, Derdeyn CA, Collman RG: Heterosexual transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtype C: Macrophage tropism, alternative coreceptor use, and the molecular anatomy of CCR5 utilization. J Virol 2009, 83(16):8208-8220.
- Tomaras GD, Yates NL, Liu P, Qin L, Fouda GG, Chavez LL, Decamp AC, Parks RJ, Ashley VC, Lucas JT *et al*: Initial B-cell responses to transmitted human immunodeficiency virus type 1: virion-binding immunoglobulin M (IgM) and IgG antibodies followed by plasma anti-

gp41 antibodies with ineffective control of initial viremia. *J Virol* 2008, **82**(24):12449-12463.

- 125. Wei X, Decker JM, Wang S, Hui H, Kappes JC, Wu X, Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Salazar MG, Kilby JM, Saag MS *et al*: Antibody neutralization and escape by HIV-1. *Nature* 2003, 422(6929):307-312.
- 126. Frost SD, Wrin T, Smith DM, Kosakovsky Pond SL, Liu Y, Paxinos E, Chappey C, Galovich J, Beauchaine J, Petropoulos CJ *et al*: Neutralizing antibody responses drive the evolution of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope during recent HIV infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2005, 102(51):18514-18519.
- Li B, Decker JM, Johnson RW, Bibollet-Ruche F, Wei X, Mulenga J, Allen S, Hunter E, Hahn BH, Shaw GM et al: Evidence for potent autologous neutralizing antibody titers and compact envelopes in early infection with subtype C human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol 2006, 80(11):5211-5218.
- 128. Gray ES, Moore PL, Choge IA, Decker JM, Bibollet-Ruche F, Li H, Leseka N, Treurnicht F, Mlisana K, Shaw GM *et al*: Neutralizing antibody responses in acute human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtype C infection. J Virol 2007, 81(12):6187-6196.
- 129. Moore PL, Gray ES, Morris L: **Specificity of the autologous neutralizing antibody response**. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS* 2009, **4**(5):358-363.
- 130. Moore PL, Ranchobe N, Lambson BE, Gray ES, Cave E, Abrahams MR, Bandawe G, Mlisana K, Abdool Karim SS, Williamson C *et al*: Limited neutralizing antibody specificities drive neutralization escape in early HIV-1 subtype C infection. *PLoS Pathog* 2009, 5(9):e1000598.

- 131. Lynch RM, Rong R, Boliar S, Sethi A, Li B, Mulenga J, Allen S, Robinson JE, Gnanakaran S, Derdeyn CA: The B cell response is redundant and highly focused on V1V2 during early subtype C infection in a Zambian seroconverter. J Virol 2011, 85(2):905-915.
- 132. Gray ES, Madiga MC, Hermanus T, Moore PL, Wibmer CK, Tumba NL, Werner L, Mlisana K, Sibeko S, Williamson C *et al*: The neutralization breadth of HIV-1 develops incrementally over four years and is associated with CD4+ T cell decline and high viral load during acute infection. *J Virol* 2011, 85(10):4828-4840.
- 133. Doria-Rose NA, Klein RM, Manion MM, O'Dell S, Phogat A, Chakrabarti B, Hallahan CW, Migueles SA, Wrammert J, Ahmed R *et al*: Frequency and phenotype of human immunodeficiency virus envelope-specific B cells from patients with broadly cross-neutralizing antibodies. *J Virol* 2009, 83(1):188-199.
- 134. Sather DN, Armann J, Ching LK, Mavrantoni A, Sellhorn G, Caldwell Z, Yu X,
 Wood B, Self S, Kalams S *et al*: Factors associated with the development of
 cross-reactive neutralizing antibodies during human
 immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *J Virol* 2009, 83(2):757-769.
- 135. van Gils MJ, Euler Z, Schweighardt B, Wrin T, Schuitemaker H: Prevalence of cross-reactive HIV-1-neutralizing activity in HIV-1-infected patients with rapid or slow disease progression. *AIDS* 2009, 23(18):2405-2414.
- 136. Mikell I, Sather DN, Kalams SA, Altfeld M, Alter G, Stamatatos L: Characteristics of the earliest cross-neutralizing antibody response to HIV-1. PLoS Pathog 2011, 7(1):e1001251.
- 137. Simek MD, Rida W, Priddy FH, Pung P, Carrow E, Laufer DS, Lehrman JK, BoazM, Tarragona-Fiol T, Miiro G *et al*: Human immunodeficiency virus type 1

elite neutralizers: individuals with broad and potent neutralizing activity identified by using a high-throughput neutralization assay together with an analytical selection algorithm. J Virol 2009, 83(14):7337-7348.

- 138. Wyatt R, Moore J, Accola M, Desjardin E, Robinson J, Sodroski J: Involvement of the V1/V2 variable loop structure in the exposure of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 epitopes induced by receptor binding. J Virol 1995, 69(9):5723-5733.
- 139. Pinter A, Honnen WJ, He Y, Gorny MK, Zolla-Pazner S, Kayman SC: The V1/V2 domain of gp120 is a global regulator of the sensitivity of primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolates to neutralization by antibodies commonly induced upon infection. J Virol 2004, 78(10):5205-5215.
- 140. Sagar M, Wu X, Lee S, Overbaugh J: Human immunodeficiency virus type
 1 V1-V2 envelope loop sequences expand and add glycosylation sites
 over the course of infection, and these modifications affect antibody
 neutralization sensitivity. J Virol 2006, 80(19):9586-9598.
- 141. Rong R, Bibollet-Ruche F, Mulenga J, Allen S, Blackwell JL, Derdeyn CA: Role of V1V2 and other human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope domains in resistance to autologous neutralization during clade C infection. J Virol 2007, 81(3):1350-1359.
- 142. Zhou T, Xu L, Dey B, Hessell AJ, Van Ryk D, Xiang SH, Yang X, Zhang MY, Zwick MB, Arthos J et al: Structural definition of a conserved neutralization epitope on HIV-1 gp120. Nature 2007, 445(7129):732-737.
- 143. Moore PL, Gray ES, Choge IA, Ranchobe N, Mlisana K, Abdool Karim SS,Williamson C, Morris L: The c3-v4 region is a major target of autologous

neutralizing antibodies in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtype C infection. J Virol 2008, 82(4):1860-1869.

- 144. Speck RF, Wehrly K, Platt EJ, Atchison RE, Charo IF, Kabat D, Chesebro B, Goldsmith MA: Selective employment of chemokine receptors as human immunodeficiency virus type 1 coreceptors determined by individual amino acids within the envelope V3 loop. J Virol 1997, 71(9):7136-7139.
- 145. Wilen CB, Tilton JC, Doms RW: HIV: cell binding and entry. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine 2012, 2(8).
- 146. Wyatt R, Kwong PD, Desjardins E, Sweet RW, Robinson J, Hendrickson WA, Sodroski JG: The antigenic structure of the HIV gp120 envelope glycoprotein. Nature 1998, 393(6686):705-711.
- 147. Hoxie JA: Toward an antibody-based HIV-1 vaccine. Annual review of medicine 2010, 61:135-152.
- 148. Plotkin SA: **Correlates of protection induced by vaccination**. *Clinical and vaccine immunology : CVI* 2010, **17**(7):1055-1065.
- 149. Hessell AJ, Hangartner L, Hunter M, Havenith CE, Beurskens FJ, Bakker JM, Lanigan CM, Landucci G, Forthal DN, Parren PW *et al*: Fc receptor but not complement binding is important in antibody protection against HIV. *Nature* 2007, 449(7158):101-104.
- 150. Forthal DN, Moog C: Fc receptor-mediated antiviral antibodies. Curr Opin HIV AIDS 2009, 4(5):388-393.
- 151. Hope TJ: Moving ahead an HIV vaccine: to neutralize or not, a key HIV vaccine question. *Nat Med* 2011, 17(10):1195-1197.
- 152. Moore JP, Sodroski J: Antibody cross-competition analysis of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 exterior envelope glycoprotein. J Virol 1996, 70(3):1863-1872.

- Moore PL, Crooks ET, Porter L, Zhu P, Cayanan CS, Grise H, Corcoran P, Zwick MB, Franti M, Morris L *et al*: Nature of nonfunctional envelope proteins on the surface of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *J Virol* 2006, 80(5):2515-2528.
- Rolland M, Edlefsen PT, Larsen BB, Tovanabutra S, Sanders-Buell E, Hertz T, deCamp AC, Carrico C, Menis S, Magaret CA *et al*: Increased HIV-1 vaccine efficacy against viruses with genetic signatures in Env V2. *Nature* 2012, 490(7420):417-420.
- 155. Tomaras GD, Ferrari G, Shen X, Alam SM, Liao HX, Pollara J, Bonsignori M, Moody MA, Fong Y, Chen X *et al*: Vaccine-induced plasma IgA specific for the C1 region of the HIV-1 envelope blocks binding and effector function of IgG. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2013, 110(22):9019-9024.
- 156. Allen TM, Altfeld M: HIV-1 superinfection. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2003, 112(5):829-835; quiz 836.
- 157. Georgoulias V, Fountouli D, Karvela-Agelakis A, Komis G, Malliarakis-Pinetidou
 E, Antoniadis G, Samakidis K, Kondakis X, Papapetropoulou M, Zoumbos N *et al*: HIV-1 and HIV-2 double infection in Greece. *Annals of internal medicine* 1988, 108(1):155.
- 158. Rey F, Salaun D, Lesbordes JL, Gadelle S, Ollivier-Henry F, Barre-Sinoussi F, Chermann JC, Georges AJ: HIV-I and HIV-II double infection in Central African Republic. Lancet 1986, 2(8520):1391-1392.
- 159. Fultz PN, Srinivasan A, Greene CR, Butler D, Swenson RB, McClure HM: Superinfection of a chimpanzee with a second strain of human immunodeficiency virus. J Virol 1987, 61(12):4026-4029.
- Gunthard HF, Huber M, Kuster H, Shah C, Schupbach J, Trkola A, Boni J: HIV-1
 superinfection in an HIV-2-infected woman with subsequent control

of HIV-1 plasma viremia. *Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America* 2009, **48**(11):e117-120.

- Plantier JC, Lemee V, Dorval I, Gueudin M, Braun J, Hutin P, Ruffault A, Simon
 F: HIV-1 group M superinfection in an HIV-1 group O-infected patient.
 AIDS 2004, 18(18):2444-2446.
- 162. Altfeld M, Allen TM, Yu XG, Johnston MN, Agrawal D, Korber BT, Montefiori DC, O'Connor DH, Davis BT, Lee PK *et al*: HIV-1 superinfection despite broad CD8+ T-cell responses containing replication of the primary virus. *Nature* 2002, 420(6914):434-439.
- 163. Jost S, Bernard MC, Kaiser L, Yerly S, Hirschel B, Samri A, Autran B, Goh LE,
 Perrin L: A patient with HIV-1 superinfection. *The New England journal of medicine* 2002, 347(10):731-736.
- 164. Ramos A, Hu DJ, Nguyen L, Phan KO, Vanichseni S, Promadej N, Choopanya K, Callahan M, Young NL, McNicholl J *et al*: Intersubtype human immunodeficiency virus type 1 superinfection following seroconversion to primary infection in two injection drug users. J Virol 2002, 76(15):7444-7452.
- 165. Pacold M, Smith D, Little S, Cheng PM, Jordan P, Ignacio C, Richman D, Pond SK: Comparison of methods to detect HIV dual infection. *AIDS research and human retroviruses* 2010, 26(12):1291-1298.
- 166. Redd AD, Collinson-Streng A, Martens C, Ricklefs S, Mullis CE, Manucci J, Tobian AA, Selig EJ, Laeyendecker O, Sewankambo N *et al*: Identification of HIV superinfection in seroconcordant couples in Rakai, Uganda, by use of next-generation deep sequencing. *Journal of clinical microbiology* 2011, 49(8):2859-2867.

- 167. Redd AD, Mullis CE, Serwadda D, Kong X, Martens C, Ricklefs SM, Tobian AA, Xiao C, Grabowski MK, Nalugoda F *et al*: The rates of HIV superinfection and primary HIV incidence in a general population in Rakai, Uganda. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 2012, 206(2):267-274.
- van der Kuyl AC, Cornelissen M: Identifying HIV-1 dual infections.
 Retrovirology 2007, 4:67.
- 169. Chohan B, Lavreys L, Rainwater SM, Overbaugh J: Evidence for frequent reinfection with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 of a different subtype. J Virol 2005, 79(16):10701-10708.
- 170. Piantadosi A, Chohan B, Chohan V, McClelland RS, Overbaugh J: Chronic HIV1 infection frequently fails to protect against superinfection. *PLoS Pathog* 2007, 3(11):e177.
- Blish CA, Dogan OC, Derby NR, Nguyen MA, Chohan B, Richardson BA,
 Overbaugh J: Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 superinfection
 occurs despite relatively robust neutralizing antibody responses. J
 Virol 2008, 82(24):12094-12103.
- 172. Piantadosi A, Ngayo MO, Chohan B, Overbaugh J: **Examination of a second** region of the HIV type 1 genome reveals additional cases of superinfection. *AIDS research and human retroviruses* 2008, **24**(9):1221.
- 173. Manigart O, Courgnaud V, Sanou O, Valea D, Nagot N, Meda N, Delaporte E, Peeters M, Van de Perre P: HIV-1 superinfections in a cohort of commercial sex workers in Burkina Faso as assessed by an autologous heteroduplex mobility procedure. *AIDS* 2004, 18(12):1645-1651.

- 174. Gottlieb GS, Nickle DC, Jensen MA, Wong KG, Grobler J, Li F, Liu SL, Rademeyer C, Learn GH, Karim SS *et al*: **Dual HIV-1 infection associated** with rapid disease progression. *Lancet* 2004, **363**(9409):619-622.
- 175. Smith DM, Wong JK, Hightower GK, Ignacio CC, Koelsch KK, Daar ES, Richman DD, Little SJ: Incidence of HIV superinfection following primary infection. JAMA 2004, 292(10):1177-1178.
- 176. van der Kuyl AC, Kozaczynska K, van den Burg R, Zorgdrager F, Back N, Jurriaans S, Berkhout B, Reiss P, Cornelissen M: **Triple HIV-1 infection**. *The New England journal of medicine* 2005, **352**(24):2557-2559.
- 177. Smith DM, Strain MC, Frost SD, Pillai SK, Wong JK, Wrin T, Liu Y, Petropolous
 CJ, Daar ES, Little SJ *et al*: Lack of neutralizing antibody response to
 HIV-1 predisposes to superinfection. *Virology* 2006, 355(1):1-5.
- 178. Colfax GN, Guzman R, Wheeler S, Mansergh G, Marks G, Rader M, Buchbinder SP: Beliefs about HIV reinfection (superinfection) and sexual behavior among a diverse sample of HIV-positive men who have sex with men. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2004, 36(4):990-992.
- 179. Gonzales MJ, Delwart E, Rhee SY, Tsui R, Zolopa AR, Taylor J, Shafer RW: Lack of detectable human immunodeficiency virus type 1 superinfection during 1072 person-years of observation. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 2003, 188(3):397-405.
- 180. Rachinger A, Manyenga P, Burger JA, Derks van de Ven TL, Stolte IG, Prins M, van 't Wout AB, Schuitemaker H: Low incidence of HIV-1 superinfection even after episodes of unsafe sexual behavior of homosexual men in the Amsterdam Cohort Studies on HIV Infection and AIDS. The Journal of infectious diseases 2011, 203(11):1621-1628.

- 181. Gottlieb GS, Nickle DC, Jensen MA, Wong KG, Kaslow RA, Shepherd JC, Margolick JB, Mullins JI: HIV type 1 superinfection with a dual-tropic virus and rapid progression to AIDS: a case report. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America 2007, 45(4):501-509.
- 182. van der Kuyl AC, Kozaczynska K, Arien KK, Gali Y, Balazs VR, Dekker SJ, Zorgdrager F, Vanham G, Berkhout B, Cornelissen M: Analysis of infectious virus clones from two HIV-1 superinfection cases suggests that the primary strains have lower fitness. *Retrovirology* 2010, 7:60.
- 183. Bragg L, McConnell J, Leigler T, Bacchetti P, Spotts G, Hecht F, Grant R: HIV-1 superinfection surveillance in an acute infection cohort using pol sequences from resistance genotyping: 1996-2009. In: Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections: 2010; San Francisco, CA; 2010.
- 184. Grobler J, Gray CM, Rademeyer C, Seoighe C, Ramjee G, Karim SA, Morris L, Williamson C: Incidence of HIV-1 dual infection and its association with increased viral load set point in a cohort of HIV-1 subtype C-infected female sex workers. The Journal of infectious diseases 2004, 190(7):1355-1359.
- 185. Basu D, Kraft CS, Murphy MK, Campbell PJ, Yu T, Hraber PT, Irene C, Pinter A, Chomba E, Mulenga J et al: HIV-1 subtype C superinfected individuals mount low autologous neutralizing antibody responses prior to intrasubtype superinfection. *Retrovirology* 2012, 9:76.
- 186. Promadej-Lanier N, Thielen C, Hu DJ, Chaowanachan T, Gvetadze R, Choopanya K, Vanichseni S, McNicholl JM: Cross-reactive T cell responses in HIV CRF01_AE and B'-infected intravenous drug users: implications for

superinfection and vaccines. *AIDS research and human retroviruses* 2009, **25**(1):73-81.

- 187. Powell RL, Urbanski MM, Burda S, Kinge T, Nyambi PN: High frequency of HIV-1 dual infections among HIV-positive individuals in Cameroon, West Central Africa. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2009, 50(1):84-92.
- 188. Blish CA, Dogan OC, Jaoko W, McClelland RS, Mandaliya K, Odem-Davis KS, Richardsonb BA, Overbaugh J: Cellular immune responses and susceptibility to HIV-1 superinfection: a case-control study. *AIDS* 2012, 26(5):643-646.
- 189. Pacold ME, Pond SL, Wagner GA, Delport W, Bourque DL, Richman DD, Little SJ, Smith DM: Clinical, virologic, and immunologic correlates of HIV-1 intraclade B dual infection among men who have sex with men. AIDS 2012, 26(2):157-165.
- 190. Powell RL, Kinge T, Nyambi PN: Infection by discordant strains of HIV-1 markedly enhances the neutralizing antibody response against heterologous virus. J Virol 2010, 84(18):9415-9426.
- 191. Cortez V, Odem-Davis K, McClelland RS, Jaoko W, Overbaugh J: HIV-1
 Superinfection in Women Broadens and Strengthens the Neutralizing
 Antibody Response. *PLoS Pathog* 2012, 8(3):e1002611.
- 192. Casado C, Pernas M, Alvaro T, Sandonis V, Garcia S, Rodriguez C, del Romero J, Grau E, Ruiz L, Lopez-Galindez C: Coinfection and superinfection in patients with long-term, nonprogressive HIV-1 disease. The Journal of infectious diseases 2007, 196(6):895-899.
- 193. Rachinger A, Navis M, van Assen S, Groeneveld PH, Schuitemaker H: **Recovery** of viremic control after superinfection with pathogenic HIV type 1 in a long-term elite controller of HIV type 1 infection. *Clinical infectious*

diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America 2008, **47**(11):e86-89.

- 194. Koelsch KK, Smith DM, Little SJ, Ignacio CC, Macaranas TR, Brown AJ, Petropoulos CJ, Richman DD, Wong JK: Clade B HIV-1 superinfection with wild-type virus after primary infection with drug-resistant clade B virus. AIDS 2003, 17(7):F11-16.
- 195. McCutchan FE, Hoelscher M, Tovanabutra S, Piyasirisilp S, Sanders-Buell E, Ramos G, Jagodzinski L, Polonis V, Maboko L, Mmbando D *et al*: **In-depth analysis of a heterosexually acquired human immunodeficiency virus type 1 superinfection: evolution, temporal fluctuation, and intercompartment dynamics from the seronegative window period through 30 months postinfection**. *J Virol* 2005, **79**(18):11693-11704.
- Brenner B, Routy JP, Quan Y, Moisi D, Oliveira M, Turner D, Wainberg MA:
 Persistence of multidrug-resistant HIV-1 in primary infection leading to superinfection. *AIDS* 2004, 18(12):1653-1660.
- 197. Smith DM, Wong JK, Hightower GK, Ignacio CC, Koelsch KK, Petropoulos CJ, Richman DD, Little SJ: HIV drug resistance acquired through superinfection. AIDS 2005, 19(12):1251-1256.
- 198. Li M, Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Derdeyn CA, Morris L, Williamson C, Robinson JE, Decker JM, Li Y, Salazar MG, Polonis VR *et al*: Genetic and neutralization properties of subtype C human immunodeficiency virus type 1 molecular env clones from acute and early heterosexually acquired infections in Southern Africa. *J Virol* 2006, 80(23):11776-11790.
- 199. Seaman MS, Janes H, Hawkins N, Grandpre LE, Devoy C, Giri A, Coffey RT, Harris L, Wood B, Daniels MG *et al*: **Tiered categorization of a diverse**

panel of HIV-1 Env pseudoviruses for assessment of neutralizing antibodies. *J Virol* 2010, **84**(3):1439-1452.

- 200. Excler JL, Tomaras GD, Russell ND: Novel directions in HIV-1 vaccines revealed from clinical trials. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS* 2013, **8**(5):420-430.
- 201. Mascola JR, Montefiori DC: **The role of antibodies in HIV vaccines**. *Annual review of immunology* 2010, **28**:413-444.
- 202. Plotkin SA: **Immunologic correlates of protection induced by vaccination**. *The Pediatric infectious disease journal* 2001, **20**(1):63-75.
- 203. Mascola JR: Passive transfer studies to elucidate the role of antibodymediated protection against HIV-1. Vaccine 2002, 20(15):1922-1925.
- 204. Stephenson KE, Barouch DH: A global approach to HIV-1 vaccine development. *Immunological reviews* 2013, 254(1):295-304.
- 205. Verkoczy L, Kelsoe G, Moody MA, Haynes BF: Role of immune mechanisms in induction of HIV-1 broadly neutralizing antibodies. Current opinion in immunology 2011, 23(3):383-390.
- 206. Flynn NM, Forthal DN, Harro CD, Judson FN, Mayer KH, Para MF: Placebocontrolled phase 3 trial of a recombinant glycoprotein 120 vaccine to prevent HIV-1 infection. The Journal of infectious diseases 2005, 191(5):654-665.
- 207. Gilbert PB, Peterson ML, Follmann D, Hudgens MG, Francis DP, Gurwith M, Heyward WL, Jobes DV, Popovic V, Self SG *et al*: **Correlation between immunologic responses to a recombinant glycoprotein 120 vaccine and incidence of HIV-1 infection in a phase 3 HIV-1 preventive vaccine trial**. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 2005, **191**(5):666-677.
- 208. Pitisuttithum P, Gilbert P, Gurwith M, Heyward W, Martin M, van Griensven F,Hu D, Tappero JW, Choopanya K: Randomized, double-blind, placebo-

controlled efficacy trial of a bivalent recombinant glycoprotein 120 HIV-1 vaccine among injection drug users in Bangkok, Thailand. The Journal of infectious diseases 2006, **194**(12):1661-1671.

- 209. Buchbinder SP, Mehrotra DV, Duerr A, Fitzgerald DW, Mogg R, Li D, Gilbert PB, Lama JR, Marmor M, Del Rio C *et al*: Efficacy assessment of a cellmediated immunity HIV-1 vaccine (the Step Study): a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled, test-of-concept trial. Lancet 2008, 372(9653):1881-1893.
- 210. Rolland M, Tovanabutra S, deCamp AC, Frahm N, Gilbert PB, Sanders-Buell E, Heath L, Magaret CA, Bose M, Bradfield A *et al*: Genetic impact of vaccination on breakthrough HIV-1 sequences from the STEP trial. Nat Med 2011, 17(3):366-371.
- 211. Gray GE, Allen M, Moodie Z, Churchyard G, Bekker LG, Nchabeleng M, Mlisana K, Metch B, de Bruyn G, Latka MH *et al*: Safety and efficacy of the HVTN 503/Phambili study of a clade-B-based HIV-1 vaccine in South Africa: a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled test-of-concept phase 2b study. *The Lancet infectious diseases* 2011, 11(7):507-515.
- 212. Hansen SG, Ford JC, Lewis MS, Ventura AB, Hughes CM, Coyne-Johnson L, Whizin N, Oswald K, Shoemaker R, Swanson T *et al*: Profound early control of highly pathogenic SIV by an effector memory T-cell vaccine. *Nature* 2011, 473(7348):523-527.
- 213. Barouch DH, Liu J, Li H, Maxfield LF, Abbink P, Lynch DM, Iampietro MJ, SanMiguel A, Seaman MS, Ferrari G *et al*: Vaccine protection against acquisition of neutralization-resistant SIV challenges in rhesus monkeys. *Nature* 2012, 482(7383):89-93.

- de Souza MS, Ratto-Kim S, Chuenarom W, Schuetz A, Chantakulkij S, Nuntapinit B, Valencia-Micolta A, Thelian D, Nitayaphan S, Pitisuttithum P *et al*: The Thai phase III trial (RV144) vaccine regimen induces T cell responses that preferentially target epitopes within the V2 region of HIV-1 envelope. *J Immunol* 2012, 188(10):5166-5176.
- 215. Montefiori DC, Karnasuta C, Huang Y, Ahmed H, Gilbert P, de Souza MS, McLinden R, Tovanabutra S, Laurence-Chenine A, Sanders-Buell E *et al*: Magnitude and breadth of the neutralizing antibody response in the RV144 and Vaxoo3 HIV-1 vaccine efficacy trials. The Journal of infectious diseases 2012, 206(3):431-441.
- 216. Ronen K, McCoy CO, Matsen FA, Boyd DF, Emery S, Odem-Davis K, Jaoko W, Mandaliya K, McClelland RS, Richardson BA *et al*: HIV-1 Superinfection Occurs Less Frequently Than Initial Infection in a Cohort of High-Risk Kenyan Women. *PLoS Pathog* 2013, 9(8):e1003593.
- 217. Shibata R, Igarashi T, Haigwood N, Buckler-White A, Ogert R, Ross W, Willey R, Cho MW, Martin MA: Neutralizing antibody directed against the HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein can completely block HIV-1/SIV chimeric virus infections of macaque monkeys. Nat Med 1999, 5(2):204-210.
- 218. Forthal DN, Gilbert PB, Landucci G, Phan T: Recombinant gp120 vaccineinduced antibodies inhibit clinical strains of HIV-1 in the presence of Fc receptor-bearing effector cells and correlate inversely with HIV infection rate. *J Immunol* 2007, **178**(10):6596-6603.
- Forthal DN, Landucci G, Chohan B, Richardson BA, McClelland RS, Jaoko W,
 Blish C, Overbaugh J: Antibody-dependent cell-mediated virus inhibition
 antibody activity does not correlate with risk of HIV-1 superinfection.
 J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2013, 63(1):31-33.
- 220. Forthal D, Hope TJ, Alter G: **New paradigms for functional HIV-specific nonneutralizing antibodies**. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS* 2013, **8**(5):392-400.
- Moore PL, Sheward D, Nonyane M, Ranchobe N, Hermanus T, Gray ES, Abdool Karim SS, Williamson C, Morris L: Multiple pathways of escape from HIV broadly cross-neutralizing V2-dependent antibodies. J Virol 2013, 87(9):4882-4894.